
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

 
ECONOMY AND GROWTH SELECT COMMITTEE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 

a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 2 December 2021 

Time: 
 

6.30 pm 

Venue: 

 

Virtual 

24 November 2021 

 
PART 1 

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. To receive Disclosures of Interest on any matters before the Committee  

3. Any matters referred to the Committee under the call-in procedure  

4. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 6) 

5. The Crescent Hotel - Update (Jonathan Dawson, General Manager)  

6. Buxton Opera House - Update (Paul Kerryson, Buxton Opera House)  

7. Covid Economic Recovery (inc update on shop unit vacancies) (Pages 7 - 52) 

8. Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (Pages 53 - 154) 

9. Repairs to Toddbrook Reservoir Spillway (Pages 155 - 178) 

10. Select Committee Work Programme (Pages 179 - 180) 

11. Any questions referred to the Executive Member (Member Services to be advised of 

any questions at least 4 days prior to the meeting)  

12. Exclusion of Press and Public  

 To resolve that the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 

consideration of the following items of business as there may be disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 

Act 1972 
 

PART II 

13. Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 181 - 182) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

 

Public Document Pack



particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 

 

Membership of Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Councillor E Siddall (Chair) Councillor L Grooby (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor T Ashton Councillor R Atkins 
Councillor R Baker Councillor M Hall 

Councillor I Huddlestone Councillor T Kemp 
Councillor E Lawson Councillor R Quinn 
Councillor P Roberts Councillor K Savage 

 



1 
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 

ECONOMY AND GROWTH SELECT COMMITTEE 
 
 

Meeting: Thursday, 16 September 2021 at 6.30 pm in Virtual Meeting 

 
Present: Councillor E Siddall (Chair) 

 
 Councillors T Ashton, R Atkins, R Baker, M Hall, T Kemp, E Lawson, 

R Quinn, P Roberts, K Savage and E Thrane (substitute for L Grooby) 

 
Councillor A Barrow, A McKeown and J Todd were also in attendance 

 
 An apology for absence was received from Councillor L Grooby 

 
22/15 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 

(Agenda Item 4) 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2021 be approved as a 
correct record. 

 
22/16 TOWN TEAM TRAVEL PLAN CONSULTATION - PRESENTATION BY 

BUXTON TOWN TEAM 

(Agenda Item 5) 
 

Tina Heathcote and Derek Bodey made a presentation to members about 
the consultation process undertaken around the Whole Town Sustainable 
Travel Plan which is being developed by Buxton Town Team (a copy of the 

presentation is attached). 
 

A range of aspects were covered in the consultation including accessibility 
and inclusion, walking & cycling, public transport, movement through town, 
goods deliveries and electric vehicles and the main action points arising 

from the consultation were set out.  It was noted that some of the proposals 
were less relevant to residents but would be important to visitors. 

 
Research which informed the consultation included a range of surveys and 
information and data contributed by members of the working group.  The 

effect of the covid pandemic was also considered and as there was more 
active travel and less car use, and in was recognised that the provision of 

clearly designated walking and riding routes would advance behavioural 
change.   
 

The following matters were discussed: 
 Congestion and commuting through town 

 Limited train access 

 Encourage children to be dropped off some distance from school but need 
for walking buses, flexibility from employers 

 Possibility for employers to use small buses to pick employees up 
 Some concern around how and with whom the consultation was done 

Page 3

Agenda Item 4




Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Thursday, 16 September 2021 

 

2 
 

 Reassurance sought that consultation has been undertaken with local 
residents  who use suggested routes on a regular basis to identify pinch 
points etc 

 Possibility of having different lanes for walkers and cyclists 

 The age of respondents was queried – it was noted that it was anticipated 
that visits would be made to local schools to engage young people 

 Those surveyed include train users, shops, small businesses, large 
businesses, visitors and residents.  Detailed analysis of the respondents to 
be done. 

 Possibility for hire car scheme 

 Work with Buxton Opera House and Northern Rail to try and time 
performances to promote greater use of public transport, in conjunction with 
the promotion of Buxton as a destination 

 Safety for walkers and cyclists 

 
 
Tina and Derek were thanked for their presentation. 

 
22/17 BUXTON SAFER WALK & RIDE ROUTES 

(Agenda Item 6) 
 

The Committee considered the work of the Town Team to develop the Walk 

& Ride Network to date, together with the potential implications for the 
Council if the project were to be fully endorsed.  It was noted at paragraph 

3.2 of the repot that the WALK & Ride Network is a Buxton Town Team 
proposal, and that HPBC are not leading or responsible for the project. 
 

Concerns were expressed regarding the level of consultation with local ward 
members, and members sought the support of other councillors to ensure 

that there would be proper consultation with ward members and the that the 
Council would contribute to the decision making on this project.  Members 
were advised that the project was being developed via a multi team 

approach and was not within the direct control of HPBC, but there would be 
engagement with ward members and those comments would be recorded in 

further reports.  Concerns already expressed around some of the proposed 
routes were acknowledged.  
 

Safety concerns around the shared areas for pedestrians and cyclists were 
discussed, and particular reference was made to the need for appropriate 

signage in those areas.  Members were advised that DCC had indicated that 
the principle of shared spaces was long established, but that the concerns 
could be fed formally into the process.  Further analysis of the proposed 

routes would be presented in a further report to committee.   
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That the work of the Town Team to date to develop the Walk and Ride 
Network be noted; 

 
2. That the potential implications for the Council if the project were to be fully 

endorsed, be noted; and 
 

3. That Ward Councillors affected by the route will be engaged in the process 
before any decision is made.  Page 4




Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Thursday, 16 September 2021 

 

3 
 

 
 
 

22/18 REVIEW AND RENEWAL OF TORR VALE MILL MEMORANDUM OF 
UNDERSTANDING 

(Agenda Item 7) 
 

The Committee considered an update on progress with the regeneration of 

Torr Vale Mill, New Mills and reviewed the Memorandum of Understanding 
first entered into in 2018 with Derbyshire County Council (DCC). Historic 

England (HE), Torr Vale Mill Preservation Trust (TVMPT) and Torr Vale 
Mills Limited (TVML) as the owner of Torr Vale Mill. 
 

RESOLVED: 
 

That the Executive be recommended to approve that High Peak Borough 
Council re-enters an updated Memorandum of Understanding with 
Derbyshire County Council, Historic England, Torr Vale Mill Preservation 

Trust and Torr Vale Mills Limited to help facilitate collaborative work towards 
a share development plan for specified areas of the Mill. 

 
22/19 BUXTON PROJECTS UPDATE 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 

The Committee considered an update on a number of initiatives of 
relevance to Buxton, namely, Visitor Economy Strategy & Buxton Branding, 

Future High Street Fund (FHSF) and Heritage Action Zone (HAZ) 
Governance, FHSF and HAZ Projects, Buxton Health Hub and Buxton Civic 

Groups. 
 
IN response to a query regarding the HAZ projects, members were advised 

that the IBI Group had been appointed to do the public realm design 
consultancy ON Spring Gardens as set out in paragraph 7.16 of the report. 

It was suggested that it may be appropriate to include the Chair of 
Corporate Select Committee on the stakeholder group. 
 

An amendment was necessary to paragraph 7.5 of the report to refer to 
Refreshingly Buxton.  It was added that the study omits heritage, and should 

include the roman heritage of Buxton. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the works undertaken to deliver Visitor Economy Strategy (VES) 

actions to date, including development of new branding and proposed for 
annual monitoring be noted; 

 
2. That the updated governance structure, with identified named participants 

and current project working arrangements, be endorsed; 
 

3. That works currently being undertaken to support project delivery be noted. 

 
22/20 SELECT COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME 

(Agenda Item 9) 
 Page 5




Economy and Growth Select Committee 
Thursday, 16 September 2021 

 

4 
 

Updates around the Crescent and the Opera House were requested for the 
December meeting. 
 

The project milestone for the FHSF would be reported to Corporate Select 
Committee. 

 
RESOLVED: 
 

That subject to the above, the Select Committee Work Programme be 
noted. 

 
22/21 EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

(Agenda Item 11) 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
That the press and public be excluded from the meeting during 
consideration of the following item of business as there may be disclosure of 

exempt information as set out in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972. 

 
22/22 HIF FAIRFIELD ROUNDABOUT – UPDATE REPORT 

(Agenda Item 12) 
 

Members considered an update on the HIF Fairfield Roundabout project, 
which was noted. 

 
 

The meeting concluded at 8.14 pm 
 
 

 
 

 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 6



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Economy and Growth Select Committee 
 

2 December 2021 
 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
COVID-19 Pandemic – Economic Recovery 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy 
Leader & Executive Councillor for 

Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

Sarah Porru -  Head of Regeneration 
 
WARDS INVOLVED: 

 

 
(All Wards) 

 
 

 
Appendices Attached: 
 

Appendix 1 – Business & Economic Profile of High Peak (2022)  
Appendix 2 – Derbyshire Hospitality Charter 

Appendix 3 – Marketing High Peak – Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire   
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to highlight the impact of the COVID – 19 

pandemic at a local economic level, and to note action undertaken to date to 
mitigate negative impacts alongside plans that are being put in place to 
support ongoing recovery. 

 
2. Recommendations 

 
2.1 It is recommended that the Economy & Growth Committee: 

 

• Note the activity undertaken to address the impact of the pandemic on 
the district,  

• Support the actions undertaken to assist recovery  
• Identify any areas of activity which require further consideration  

 

 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 The global pandemic has presented unparalleled challenges to residents, 

businesses, town centres as well as existing and emerging regeneration 

priorities.  
 

Page 7

Agenda Item 7



  

3.2 This report sets out activities undertaken to address the covid pandemic over 
the last 12 months (including known national and local impacts and activity) to 
address challenges across a number of areas, namely: 

 

 Housing 

 Business growth and productivity 

 Covid-19 Grant delivery 

 Employment 

 Tourism sector 

 Town Centres 

 Re-opening town centres/retail 

 Markets 

 Other initiatives 
  

3.3 The report sets out local responses to national initiatives and new funding 
streams. It also sets out proposals for next steps to provide ongoing support to  

business and local area regeneration. 
 
 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 The recovery proposals help deliver the following aim within the Corporate 
Plan:  

 

 Aim 3 – Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development 
and regeneration. – specially linking to the delivery of thriving and flourishing 

town centres and high streets 
 
5.       Alternative Options  

 
5.1 There are no options to consider at this stage. 

 
6. Implications 

 

6.1 Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
All works were undertaken in line with Covid-19 restrictions at time of 

implementation and due consideration of public safety.  
 
6.2 Workforce 

The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted significantly on the working 
arrangements for the Council’s employees. 

 
Staff have been redeployed from time to time from other services in order to 
support the additional workload to deliver grant administration, develop grant 

policy and the processing of grants and consider any subsequent appeals. 
The Regeneration service has also managed the delivery of short term covid 

recovery schemes (Re-opening High Streets, Welcome Back initiatives) as 
well as responding to a significant increase in business support requests and 
necessary communications.  

 
 

Page 8



  

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
This report has been prepared in accordance with the Council's Equality and 
Diversity policies. 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

Additional funding has been made available to support businesses as well as 
re-open High Streets. This is outlined at 7.2 

 

6.5 Legal 
The need to obtain any consents or permissions required to deliver economic 

recovery projects or temporary mitigation measures will be considered on a 
case by case basis. 

 

6.6 Climate Change 
Sustainability impacts and carbon reduction opportunities have been 

considered in the design and delivery of activities contained in this report. 
 
6.7 External Consultation 

The implementation of the Council’s economic recovery plans include 
extensive engagement with residents, businesses and delivery partners . 

 
 
6.8   Risk Assessment 

The pandemic has resulted in an number of risks that need to be assessed 
and managed these include: 
 

 
 
 

Neil Rodgers 
Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

 

Location Contact details 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/gr

ossdomesticproductgdp/articles/cor
onavirusandtheimpactonoutputinthe

ukeconomy/april2020 
 
https://www.progressive-

policy.net/publications/which-local-
authorities-face-biggest-immediate-

economic-hit 
 
 

 Sarah Porru 

sarah.porru@highpeak.
gov.uk 

 

7. Background & Detail – Economic Impacts 
 

7.1 Business Growth & Productivity 
 

National Impact & Response 

Page 9

https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/grossdomesticproductgdp/articles/coronavirusandtheimpactonoutputintheukeconomy/april2020
https://www.progressive-policy.net/publications/which-local-authorities-face-biggest-immediate-economic-hit
https://www.progressive-policy.net/publications/which-local-authorities-face-biggest-immediate-economic-hit
https://www.progressive-policy.net/publications/which-local-authorities-face-biggest-immediate-economic-hit
https://www.progressive-policy.net/publications/which-local-authorities-face-biggest-immediate-economic-hit


  

 
7.1.1  In the summer of 2020, UK monthly gross domestic product (GDP) was 

predicted to fall by 20.4% with the financial loss to Derbyshire estimated to 

be at least £0.9 billion during the course of the year. Percentage-wise food, 
drink and accommodation was predicted to see the greatest decline in 

economic output at more than 18%, whilst the greatest monetary decline was 
predicted to be in manufacturing (at least £280 million) and construction and 
retail/wholesale (both at least £125 million).  

 
7.1.2 In fact, since the low point of the decline, the economy has been recovering 

faster than anticipated. According to a forecast from the Independent Office 
for Budget Responsibility, the UK economy is expected to grow by 6.5% in 
2021. Monthly gross domestic product (GDP) grew by 0.8% between April 

and May 2021. As of May 2021, which is latest reliable published data point, 
GDP still remained 3.1% below its level in February 2020. 

 
 

 
 

7.1.3  Nationally, the accommodation industry grew by 49.3% between April and 
May 2021 after lockdown restrictions were eased, although output was still 

38.9% below its February 2020 level. Food and beverage service activities 
also saw strong growth, with a rise of 34.0% between April and May 2021, 
although output was still 9.4% below its February 2020 level. 

 
7.1.4  The arts, entertainment and recreation sector grew by 7.3% in May 2021 and 

is now 26.0% below its February 2020 level. The growth has primarily been 

driven by an increase in sports, and amusement/ recreation activities, which 

Page 10



  

grew by 11.0% and by cultural tourism which has shown strong growth at 
28.3%. Compared with February 2020, the largest fall in output in this sector 
is in creative, arts, and entertainment activities (44.4%) which is primarily 

associated with a reduction in planned larger scale and local events and the 
reduction in scale of events that have been organised to reduce potential 

transmission.  
 
  Local Impact & Response 

 

7.1.5  In 2020 and Quarter 1, 2021/2, the East Midlands economy recorded a 

bounce back from the most severe close-down period and this has continuing 
to grow in response to lockdown restrictions being eased. However, East 
Midlands Chamber have cautioned that there are some warning signs which 

could impact on the speed of the recovery over the medium term.  
 

7.1.6  The Quarter 3 2021 Business survey of 400 businesses showed 
improvements across most indicators, including sales (37% net growth), 
cashflow, employment and investment intentions, but firms have reported 

issues with price pressures and access to required skills to fill job vacancies.  
 

7.1.7  Performance in overseas markets remains volatile and, while turnover 
confidence continues to grow with each quarter, there has been a squeeze 
on margins caused by price and logistic rises, meaning that there is concern 

about increased profitability. As a significant proportion of High Peak’s 
economic base is linked to manufacturing, the volatility of the market and 
oversees trade will be a key concern. The demand for new employees 

remains positive and investment, such as Avanti in Buxton, indicates an on-
going confidence in the market. 

 
7.2 Covid-19 Grant Administration 

 

7.2.1  A significant proportion of the Covid response has been to develop 
appropriate systems and deliver the roll out of Covid-19 grants to business. 

To date Officers have designed and managed 14 separate grant schemes 
and distributed approximately £50m in over 11,000 transactions. This has 
included development of application processes and ensuring appropriate 

audit trails and systems for required evidence were put in place.  
 

7.2.2 Officers made over 1500 telephone calls in High Peak to businesses to 
ensure that they were aware of the grant processes and carried out detailed 
assessment of all grant applications. Approximately 40% of all submitted 

grant applications were initially submitted without appropriate documentation 
as stipulated, and staff followed up all of these on an individual basis.  

 
7.2.3  The discretionary grants were administered by the Regeneration team and 

included funding for non-rates paying businesses and those in supply chains 

who were not eligible for under the mandatory criteria from November 2020 
onwards. The discretionary fund received 322 applications and officers were 

able to support 114 of these to receive full financial support. The remaining 
applicants were referred ineligible under government guidelines primarily due 

Page 11



  

to being home-based businesses or having no fixed commercial overheads 
(rent/rates).   

 

7.2.4  In an attempt to support those 114 deemed ineligible for the discretionary 
grant, the Council opened a hardship grant to support a wider catchment of 

businesses. This received 320 applications, of which 294 were approved 
following processing. Over 240 of these applications required follow up to 
confirm eligibility, support the business with the process and ensure sufficient 

evidence was provided to meet national audit requirements. The principle 
reason for non-approval were duplicate applications.  

 
7.2.5  Due to the successful delivery of these grants prior to June 2021, the Council 

was awarded further ‘Additional Restrictions Grant’ funding. This includes the 

Autumn/Winter 2021/22 payment for active businesses who still face a 
downturn in trade until the end of the financial year due to Covid and incur 

some form of on-going business related expenses or fixed overheads. In the 
last month, an additional £200,000 of direct grants have been awarded to 63 
High Peak businesses.  

 
7.2.6  A proportion of the Additional Restrictions Grant funding was initially withheld 

in order to issues as grants in the case of a further lockdown being imposed 
between October  - Dec 2021.  Subject to formal approval from government 
(BEIS) and in line with guidelines on use of spend, Officers have now 

identified a range of activities to be delivered using the remaining ARG 
funding for delivery in Jan – Mar 2022. These include: 

 

 Grant for Market traders/market operators to support post covid growth 

 Grant to retail businesses taking on new lease (empty shop grant) 

 Local Food Guide 

 Development of tourism promotional materials to help sustain tourism in 

2022 

 Hardship grant  

  
7.3 Employment 
 

7.3.1 At a National Level, in 2020, there was significant concern that business 
closures would result in high levels of redundancies, with workers in 

hospitality, retail most effected, thus making lower paid, younger and female 
employees disproportionally impacted.  

 

7.3.2 The Claimant count in High Peak is currently 1,845 people or 3.2%. This 
compares to a Derbyshire average of 3.4%, and East Midlands rate of 4.3% 

and a Great Britain rate of 5%.  Despite this positive comparison, the level 
has risen since before the pandemic, when the rate was 2.0% or 1,190 
residents (February 2020). 

 
7.3.3 At a ward level, the claimant rate ranges from 0.9% (Temple) to 7.8% 

(Gamesley) but it is worth noting that the wards with traditionally higher levels 
of deprivation have not necessarily seen huge rises in claimant numbers. 

 

Ward Pre Pandemic (Feb 2020) Current (Sept 2021) 

Page 12



  

 Number 

working age 
residents 
claiming UC 

Percentage Number 

working age 
residents 
claiming UC 

Percentage 

Gamesley 95 6.1% 125 people 7.8% 

Barms 50 3.8% 75 5.5% 

Buxton 
Central 

105 3.8% 140 4.8% 

Stone Bench 105 3.7% 130 4.6% 

Howard Town 90 3.2% 125 4.3% 

New Mills 

East 

60 2.4% 105 4.3% 

Whaley 
Bridge 

40 1.0% 115 2.8% 

 

 
7.3.4 There are currently 315 people aged 18-24 claiming Universal Credit which 

gives a claimant rate of 5.2%. This compares to rates of 3.6% for those aged 

24-49 (985 people) and a rate of 2.5% (545 people) for the other 50s. Male 
unemployment stands at 3.8% compared to 2.7% for women, but the latter 

has increased risen from 1.7% pre-pandemic when 480 women were 
claiming compared to 775 today.   

 

7.3.5 Under Universal Credit, a broader span of claimants are required to look for 
work than under Jobseeker's Allowance. There are no statistics available 
which disaggregates those that are therefore fully unemployed, and those 

that are working but receive top-up funding under Universal Credit due to low 
hours/low pay. 

 
7.3.6 The rate of self-employment in High Peak prior to the pandemic had been 

increasing, and stood at 18% of the working age (12,900 people), but during 

the pandemic this has fallen to its current level of 9.4% (6,900 people). It is 
not surprising that people have looked for more secure employment during 

this period, but it does reflect the on-going challenge to support 
entrepreneurs as part of the recovery. 

 

 

Page 13



  

Percentage of working age residents - self employment High Peak 2005-2021  

 
 
 

7.3.7 Throughout the pandemic, the Council worked with colleagues at Derbyshire 
County Council and Jobcentre Plus to understand and respond to 

redundancy risks and has used monthly newsletter and direct 
communications to highlight support on offer to those businesses making 
redundancies.  We have also used business communications to highlight 

new additional grant support for apprenticeships and the kickstart 
programme.  

 
7.3.8 The Council worked with Jobcentre Plus to put on a successful Job fair in 

Buxton in September and are part of a Hospitality taskforce to address labour 

shortages in this sector (see section 7.5.8).  Thirteen employers attended the 
jobfair in Buxton as well as five support organisations (colleges, careers 

service, job club). Forty four active  jobseekers attended and 3 immediate job 
offers were made on the day and 21 further 2nd interviews/trial shifts were 
booked. To date there has been 5 confirmed job starts and 14 jobseekers 

signed up to training/re training. The National Careers Service supported all 
of the jobseekers helping people with CV’s applications and careers and 

training advice. The feedback on day was generally very positive. 
 
7.3.9 The Council have also formed a partnership with other local authorities 

across Derbyshire to launch the Vision Derbyshire Business Start-Up and 
Business Support Grant Scheme. The scheme is open to those aged 
between 17 and 30, or who are aged over 50 and who lost their jobs or 

livelihoods during COVID. Business advisors are available to offer free 
advice and support, while funding of up to £10,000 per applicant is also 

available. 
 
7.4 Tourism Sector 

 
 National Impact & Response 

 

Page 14



  

7.4.1 The Government’s Tourism Recovery Plan published in June 2021 
recognises that that the tourism sector was one of the most adversely 
affected by the Covid-19 pandemic with national and regional tiered 

lockdowns happening at the peak of the key visitor season. Oxford 
Economics does not predict tourism in the UK to return in full to 2019 levels 

of volume and expenditure until 2025. 
 

7.4.2 In response, the Government proposes a series of actions to accelerate this 
recovery including growing the domestic travel market, encouraging visitors 

to stay longer (and spend more), promotion of cultural, natural and historical 
heritage as well as promising investment in tourism products and transport 
infrastructure.     

 

7.4.3 In addition to the above, the findings of an independent review of Destination 

Management Organisations (DMO’s), led by Nick De Bois, looked at how 
best to structure and support tourism at a regional level in order to support 
recovery and growth. The De Bois report recognises the existing fragmented 

structure of DMO’s across England and recommends a new tiered framework 
of organisations to provide consistency in delivery and distribution of funding. 

The report can be viewed at: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-review-of-
destination-management-organisations-dmos  

 
 Local Impact & Response 

 
7.4.4 In the High Peak, despite large parts of the season being completely closed 

off to visitors, the number of overnight visitor days  fell from 1.54 million to 

0.66 million (57% decrease) and the number of day visitors fell from 4.6 
million to 2.5 million (45% decrease). 

 
7.4.5 The spend generated by staying visitors equated to £67,71 per person per 

day, a fall from 2019 level of £69.63 per person per day. This reflects that 

many attractions and shops who were able to operate had to restrict their 
numbers and therefore there was less economic impact from staying visitors 

than in previous years. In contrast the average spend of a day visitor in 2020, 
rose slightly from £38.90 to £39.95. 

 

7.4.6 The combined impact of less visitors and less overnight spend per visitor, 
meant that overall the direct expenditure of visitors in the district declined by 

49.3% from £213.8m to £108.5m – which including the supply chain meant 
that the economic impact of tourism declined from £286 million to £145 
million.  

 
7.4.7 Despite this dramatic fall in trade, at minus -49%, it is perhaps lower than the 

perceived decline and the Borough outperformed national decline which 
averaged minus 63%, with some areas, particularly those that rely on 
international tourism, seeing visitor numbers fall by over 80%. 

 
7.4.8 The full analysis of the outcome in economic terms will only be available in 

mid-2022, but early indicators from car park ticket sales and footfall counters 
across the High Peak indicate that the 2021 saw a strong economic bounce.  

Page 15

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-review-of-destination-management-organisations-dmos
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/independent-review-of-destination-management-organisations-dmos


  

 
7.4.9 Officer have worked closely with Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire to 

promote High Peak as a ‘staycation’ destination. High Peak Towns have 

featured in promotional videos, digital messaging and newsletters. During the 
summer months, MPD&D ran a series of campaigns to disperse visitors from 

the usual ‘honeypot’ areas and encouraged them to discover ‘hidden gems’ 
including a number in High Peak. Full details of the campaigns are attached 
at Appendix 3.   

 
7.4.10 Marketing Peak District & Derbyshire also delivered a series of online training 

sessions and webinars to support tourism businesses. These included online 
marketing training, grant funding and bid writing and digital skills. MPD&D 
also hosted a virtual Christmas Market bringing local producers together on a 

digital platform.  
 

7.4.11 A public/private sector Derbyshire Hospitality taskforce has been established 
to identify and implement actions in response to recruitment and skills 
shortages within the hospitality sector. This is looking at a range of issues 

including recruitment & employment practices, access to training and skills 
support, and careers guidance both for young people and adults. From this, a 

Derbyshire Hospitality Charter has been developed to raise the profile of 
working within the Hospitality sector in Derbyshire and the Peak District. The 
charter has 40 initial signatures’ (prior to full launch) and will be promoted to 

the sector in 2022 alongside other activities to showcase the range of careers 
and opportunities that the sector can offer. See appendix 2 

 

7.4.12 Funding from the Additional Restriction Grant and Welcome Back funding 
has been used to commission Marketing Peak District and Derbyshire 

(MPDD - East Midlands Chamber of Commerce) to deliver a Winter 
‘Welcome Back’ campaign. This will comprise of development of visual 
materials to encourage overnight stays and increased visitor spend during 

the ‘low’ tourist season which can be used both in the short and medium 
term.   

 
7.4.13 The Council is also commissioning a Tourism Recovery Strategy as a means 

of identifying those initiatives and actions which will deliver the biggest 

economic impact and the needs of the sector. This will enable the council to 
have a clear evidence based approach to supporting initiatives, understand 

where interventions might be required and to support the sector to upskill, 
provide opportunities for young people and understand emerging trends 
which they can take advantage of to support growth. The strategy is 

expected to be completed in Spring 2022.  
 

7.5 Town Centres  
 
7.5.1 National Impact & Response 

 The high street had already seen a significant drop in investment prior to the 
outbreak of the COVID19 crisis with 52% (71,163) of retail and hospitality 

businesses at serious risk of failure according to the Grimsey Report Review 
2020. The pandemic was expected to accelerate this decline particularly as 
retailer of multiple-sites withdrew from smaller cities and towns to only trade 

Page 16



  

online or from key city hubs. Whilst this has materialised in some areas, 
nationally we have not seen this reflected across all High Peak towns.    

 

7.5.2 Buxton, which had the highest percentage of floorspace occupied by 
multiples was worst affected by their withdrawal, with notable withdrawal 

since 2019 from Marks & Spencer’s, Edinburgh Woollen Mill, Santander 
Bank and Dorothy Perkins/Evans. Many of the decisions for branch closure 
were based on overall trading performance and distance/accessibility for 

customers to access alternatives. 
 

 
 
7.5.3 During the height of the pandemic, a number of additional store closures 

were announced due to low footfall and trade. This included Tui Travel 

agents, Pandora and KFC. However, on the back of the announcement of 
FHSF investment Waitrose signed a new 5-year deal and the planning 

department is in pre-app discussions with a further 3 site owners regarding 
new occupation. Despite these positives, Buxton’s vacancy rate is still at the 
national level and diversification of use and public realm improvements to 

increase footfall are required to increase investment and reduce the risk of 
further decline. 

 
7.5.4 Only Glossop and Hadfield have seen rising levels of retail vacancy in line 

with national trends throughout the pandemic, although both still falls 

substantially below the national levels. In Glossop, this is primarily due to 
loss of multiples including Edinburgh Woollen Mill, Peacocks and D&C Sound 
& Vision, as well as temporary closures on the arcade during redevelopment. 

However, the food and drink market continues to grow with two new 
restaurants and a new bar opening over the pandemic with a third restaurant 

(La Correente) at Howard Town Mill opening soon.  
 
7.5.5 The smaller central towns have all experienced increased levels of 

occupation and new shop openings, which reflects residents’ locally shopping 
patterns as they commute less as well as their potential desire to actively 

support their local high street. In Chapel-en-le-Frith, new shores include a 
new artisan bakery; a balloon/party supplies business, a dog grooming salon 

Page 17



  

and a new Italian café is opening shortly. In New Mills, Headmasters 
(childrens uniforms) has moved from the indoor market into a retail unit and 
two new cafes have opened. In Whaley Bridge, a specialist pet food store 

has relocated (grown from home based) and new owners have recently 
purchased the Jodrell Arms in the town centre. 

 
7.5.6 Shop vacancy surveys are conducted annually across town centres as 

defined by Local Plan town centre boundaries. The tables below show the 

latest figures for October 2021.    
 
Number of Vacant Retail Units in town centre 
(includes eat in/out) 

  

  

Town Total number of retail units 

Number of Vacant 

retail  Units Vacancy Rate (%) 

Buxton 238 28 11.8 

Glossop 164 15 9.1 

New  Mills 68 6 8.8 

Chapel-en-le-Frith 73 3 4.1 

Whaley Bridge 44 1 2.3 

Hadfield 35 3 8.6 

TOTAL / AVERAGE 622 56 9.0 

 

7.5.7 This compares to a UK average of 11.8% and an East Midlands average of 

11.6%. On this measure, despite rising rates of vacant units in 4 of our 6 
town centres, the overall number of vacant units remained at the same level 
and no town had a higher rate than the national average – with only Buxton 

continuing to have a very slightly higher rate at a regional level.  
 

7.5.8 Overall town centre business occupancy – which  includes all town centre 
commercial properties including those used as offices and pubs/nightclubs 
fell slightly from 92.1% in 2020 to 91.7% in 2021, although this actually only 

represents an increase of 3 units across the entire Borough. 
 

  
Full Number of 
Units  

total 
vacant 

vacancy 

rate %-
all 

Occupancy 
Level 

Buxton 291 29 10.0% 90.0% 

Glossop 210 19 9.0% 91.0% 

New  Mills 85 6 7.1% 92.1% 

Chapel-en-le-Frith 94 5 5.3% 94.7% 

Whaley Bridge 55 2 3.6% 96.4% 

Hadfield 39 3 7.7% 92.3% 

TOTAL 774 64 8.3% 91.7% 

 

7.5.9 While Charity retailers serve an important function, having a high number 

(above 5% of retail occupation) does indicate that the town centre is failing to 
attract a diversity of uses or quality retailers. As a Borough, we are still hitting 

this target, but two locations (Buxton and New Mills) have higher rates than 
ideal. 

 

Town %town 

Page 18



  

centre 
premises 

Buxton 5.8 

Glossop 4.3 

New  Mills 8.2 

Chapel-en-le-Frith 3.2 

Whaley Bridge 5.5 

Hadfield 0.0 
TOTAL / 
AVERAGE 5.0 

 
7.6 Welcome Back/Additional Restrictions Grant Funding Initiatives  

 

7.6.1 The Council has utilised funding awarded to encourage customers back into 

the high street for a number of projects as well as funding temporary street 
changes. A significant proportion of this funding has been passported to town 
councils and civic groups to deliver initiatives, with Service Level Agreements 

agreed with parish councils in Castleton, Hope with Aston, Chinley, Buxworth 
and Brownside and community based organisations, Vision Buxton, Glossop 

Creative Trust CIC and Visit New Mills to delegate funding to support local 
activity.  

 

7.6.2 Activity supported includes local events to encourage customers into retail 
areas such as Castleton Family fun day; Glossop Creative Trust winter light 

laser show, a series of pop-up ‘parks’ in New Mills town centre to coincide 
with New Mills Festival and Glossop market traders Christmas lights switch-
on market.  

 
7.6.3 Funding has also be awarded to improve the local environment including the 

refresh of the war memorial and Squirrel Green in Chinley, refreshed 
gateway signs in Glossop and covid messaging on entrances to Buxton as 
well as financial contributions to a big clean up in Chapel-en-le-firth and 

picnic benches in Hope. Vision Buxton has also received funding to update 
promotional materials to support future inward investment and coach/rail 

promotional materials. The Council is also co-financing the Visit Peak District 
Autumn ‘making memories’ campaign along with other councils across 
Derbyshire.  

 
7.6.4 To support independent traders in the important pre-Christmas period, the 

Council commissioned the development of a Local Gift Guide, featuring a 
selection of shops across the district and associated social media. This 
includes a Facebook Advent Calendar of offers and promotions with 24 

promotions during December. The booklet will be delivered to every 
residential address in the Borough in November and is also accompanied by 

adverts on local buses.  
 
 The Christmas Gift Guide is available to view: 

https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/65968148/local-gift-guide-high-
peak-2021 

 
 Local Gift Guide Facebook Link: https://www.facebook.com/LocalGiftGuide 
 

Page 19

https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/65968148/local-gift-guide-high-peak-2021
https://www.yumpu.com/en/document/read/65968148/local-gift-guide-high-peak-2021
https://www.facebook.com/LocalGiftGuide


  

7.6.5 The campaign to encourage residents to ‘Support their local High Street’ and 
‘Shop Covid Safe’ has been warmly welcomed from traders. Based on this 
positive reception, Officers are exploring production of a ‘Local Food Guide’ 

featuring highly rated restaurants and other food focused retailers for early 
2022. 

 

 
7.7 Markets - Indoor and Outdoor Markets in High Peak  

 
7.7.1 Markets were forced to close on March 23rd 2020 and during this time the 

Council suspended the collection of rent. With the easing of some restrictions 

Buxton Market was able to resume trading on 1st June 2020 with Glossop 
Market re-opening on 13th June 2020.  

 
7.7.2 Subject to approval, the proposal is to use some of the remaining additional 

restrictions grant funding to offer additional financial support to individual 

traders and market operators (in Buxton and central towns) to fund additional 
activities or promotions to encourage trade in the traditionally slower period 

between January and March 2022. 
 
7.7.3 The re-opening of Glossop market coincided with the relocation of the indoor 

market and new cabins were sourced and installed outdoors and in the 
market arcade. Officers maintained trader contact and updates with onsite 

visit to the market sites every Friday from October. Officers worked to ensure 
the cabins were added to the NNDR list which allowed traders to receive 
mandatory covid-19 grants and traders were supported with gaining 

backdated Closed Business Lockdown Payment (CBLP)  
 

7.7.4 Welcome Back funding has also been allocated to promote new late night 
Friday opening in the arcade during December and to the and Christmas 
lights switch on event with new Christmas decorations, printed flyers, 

banners, press advertisements being prepared. Going forward, the options 
for additional ARG funding are being explored to support traders relocating 

from the arcade to the outdoor market to assist traders with costs incurred to 
customise cabins for their business requirements 

 

7.7.5 The table below summarises the amounts invested in the relocation of 

Glossop indoor market and the financial support awarded to market traders   
via grants or subsidy so far.  

 

Glossop Market Costs 
 Item Amount 

Assets cabin costs electrics, bases, 
fireproofing 64,781.61 

Rent subsidy arcade shops  15,470.19 

Purchase of cabins 12,842.00 

Covid grants indoor and outdoor* 125,360.00 

Christmas Welcome Back 4,000.00 

    

Total 222,453.80 

Page 20



  

 
* Covid grants split £88,352 arcade traders and £37,008 outdoor 

  
7.8 Housing  
 
 National Impact & Response 

 

7.8.1 Riba data suggests that the pandemic and ‘work from home’ has had a 

profound immediate impact on the housing market and the types of homes to 
which people now aspire. The increase in people being able to work from 
home has also lead to rural areas becoming more desirable places to live. 

Furthermore, decision-making by house builders and developers has been 
made more complex by other impacts of the pandemic – notably the 

disruption of supply chains, rising input costs and labour shortages as well as 
potential regulatory change in the pipeline 

 

 
 Local impact & response 

 

7.8.2 Ongoing demand for homes in areas that promote health and wellbeing could 
continue to increase the popularity High Peak towns even further by offering 

green, sustainable, walkable places with local shops and amenities. A 
continued focus meeting local plan targets and responding to emerging 

government strategies to deliver housing will allow the Council to maximise 
investment in the districts on both Council owned and private development 
sites. 

 
7.8.3 A ‘business as usual’ approach with Homes England funded schemes  

(including Housing Infrastructure  Fund and Local Authority Accelerated 
Construction projects) has meant these have continued to progress towards 
project milestones as far as possible and Officers have continued to work on 

programmes in line with revised and agreed delivery timeframes. 
 

7.8.4 The NHBC returns which report housing starts and completions on large sites 
show Covid had a clear impact on starts and completions during 
April/May/June 2020. However things started to pick up again by July 2020 

and since then numbers have remained fairly steady as the sites are being 
built out. In High Peak the 2020/21 housing completion figures were 249 (net) 

which was lower than 2019/20 figure of 305 (net) whilst the number of 
planning applications initially fell in 2020 but then spiked to higher than 
average levels as lockdown restrictions were eased. In recent months, the 

number of applications appears to be slowing and returning to pre-pandemic 
levels.  

 
7.9 Govt response 
 

7.9.1 In addition to the post -pandemic private sector recovery, the government 
has recently introduced some additional new funding opportunities to help 

stimulate growth. This has included: 
  

Page 21



  

 Levelling up funding –A £4.8 billion Levelling Up Fund to contribute to 
the levelling up agenda by investing in infrastructure that improves 
everyday life across the UK, including regenerating town centre and 

high streets, upgrading local transport, and investing in cultural and 
heritage assets. 

 

 Community Renewal Funding – £220 million additional revenue 
funding to help places across the UK prepare for the introduction of 

the UK Shared Prosperity Fund which can award up to £3 million per 
priority area to support skills, enterprise growth, supporting people into 

employment and investment in place. 
 
7.9.2 The Autumn Statement 2021 included measures to further support 

businesses including:- 
 

 new relief for eligible retail, hospitality and leisure properties in 
2022/23 with 50% relief on rates bills up to £110,000 per business  

 A freezing of the multipliers at 49.9p (small business multiplier) and 
51.2p (standard multiplier)  

 The extension of the current Transitional Relief and Supporting Small 

Business schemes 
 

 
7.9.3 In response to these new initiatives, the Council is progressing a submission 

to the Levelling Up Fund – Round 2 (The Council could not submit a round 1 

levelling up bid, due to the requirement for support and investigation required 
to meet the bid criteria). The Council has now (after the closing date for 

round 1 bids) received capacity funding of £125,000 to support the 
development of a Levelling up application. This has been used initially to 
appoint a leading consultancy, Mutual Ventures, to help develop which 

projects should be prioritised in line with the criteria and discussions with the 
MP to explore pathways for both this and other priorities to secure funding for 

delivery. 
 

 

7.9.4 Officers also worked to support partners with Community Renewal fund 
applications. This included: 

 

 An application, led by Derbyshire County Council, in partnership with 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council and Derbyshire Dales District 
Council which would have delivered business investment grants to 
small businesses at 80% for projects up to £20,000 to deliver growth 

carbon reduction equipment/systems. It also included a pilot farm 
business support & carbon grant and feasibility studies to assess 

opportunities for the conversion of redundant sites for re-use for 
enterprise growth. The project, was shortlisted but not approved by 
DLUHC.  

 

 A Market towns project led by Derbyshire County Council (focused on 

6 towns across Derbyshire including Chapel-en-le-Frith, Whaley 
Bridge and New Mills). This project aimed to working with grass-roots 

Page 22



  

organisations and town councils to support ‘place’ initiatives including 
looking at options for addressing local challenges and improving 
carbon footprints. The project, was shortlisted but not approved by 

DLUHC.  
 

7.9.5 Feedback is yet to be received from DLUHC on why both the bids submitted 
by this Council and other community bids supported by the County Council’s 
for submission to Government have not been approved. 

 
7.10 Other activity   

 
7.10.1 Despite Officer time being necessarily focused on the delivery of immediate 

Covid-19 grants and high street recovery, a number of existing corporate 

plan projects to help transform the high street and drive investment have 
been progressed.  This includes: 

 

 Future High Street Fund for Buxton. The Business case for the 
diversification and capital investment in lower Buxton was submitted in 

June 2020, and following announcement of approval albeit at 69% of 
request on December 26th 2020, a revised business case was 

submitted in February 2021. Notification that this was successful was 
received in April 2021 and since that time, the Regeneration team has 
been working closely with Assets and finance teams as well as 

externally appointed consultants to undertake due diligence works and 
prepare initial actions to support delivery. A report on next steps for 

the FHSF is been considered during this cycle 
 

 Heritage Action Zone Officers have launched the scheme and are 

engaged in discussions with seven business and/or property owners 
within the eligible area for re-furnishment. This includes four priority 

buildings identified for grant aid and the owners of the White Lion in 
order to secure the historic fabric of the building. Additional funding 
has been secured from Historic England to  reinstate the damaged 

Grade I listed urn on The Slopes following vandalism as well as 
undertake public realm design works along the full Spring Gardens 

roadway. Officers have also worked with the Cultural Consortium, 
whom have also successfully secured a grant of £100,000 from 
Historic England to support the delivery of a three year programme of 

events that are designed to celebrate the cultural heritage of the high 
street. 

 

 Buxton Branding - The new draft branding scheme was commissioned 

and has been very positively received by a wide range of Stakeholders 
and is being utilised for future marketing campaigns in 2022. 

 

 Getting Building fund - The Regeneration team successfully applied for 
£2 million of Getting Building fund to compliment the Council’s own 

resources to support delivery of the Glossop Halls Project. Work on 
this project is currently underway and Officers form part of the project 
delivery team to support business growth objectives and economic 

impact for the wider town centre will be fully maximised.  Planned 

Page 23



  

investment in Glossop Market Hall will help reassure traders and 
customers that markets remain a priority for delivery and investment. 

 

 Officers continue to support central towns with delivery of smaller 
scale regeneration projects utilising annual core funding grant of 

£4,000 to town/parish Councils. We have also been supporting tourism 
recovery following the Toddbrook reservoir incident with the 
development of a new area tourism leaflet and video which will be 

launched to promote 2022 tourism. 
 

 Video is available to view: https://vimeo.com/636311874/c827869e0e 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

Page 24

https://vimeo.com/636311874/c827869e0e


High Peak 2022

Business Base

There were 3940 enterprises based in the 
High Peak in 2021. 
Source: Inter Departmental Business Register (ONS)

The number of enterprises has fallen slightly since 
2020 after showing a steady increase in recent 
years.

There are 105 workplaces that employ more than 
50 people in their sites – with just 5 private sector 
businesses employing more than 250 people. 
Close to the UK average, 89.6% of businesses 
employ less than 10 people. 78% employ less than 
4.

The self-employment rate has risen from 8.6% 
to 9.4 % (the GB average) after reaching a high 
point of 18.9% in March 2020. It remains above 
the Derbyshire rate of 8.1% and East Midlands 
8.3%. Derbyshire Dales has the highest rate in 
Derbyshire of 19.8%.

The business formation rate for 2020 was 7.7%, a 
fall from 2019 when it reached 11.29% and is now 
below the Derbyshire rate of 9.7% and England 
rate of 12.1% .This shows the impact of the 
pandemic year. (Source Grant Thornton).

In the same period, the number of UK business 
births increased with a birth rate of 11.9% in 2020 
compared with 13% in 2019. 

The business closure rate for High Peak was 7.8%, 
just below the Derbyshire average of 8.4% and 
below the UK rate of 10.5%, meaning that the 
net enterprise loss rate was minus 0.1% in the 
pandemic year slightly lower than the Derbyshire 
net growth rate of 1.3%. 315 businesses were 
created and 320 ceased to trade.

Business Survival

Business survival rates continue to be 
above Derbyshire and English averages. 
Source: ONS

Of the new businesses established in 2017, 
nearly 66.7% were still trading in 2020, above the 
Derbyshire (60.3%) and English rate (53%) and the 
highest survival rate of all Derbyshire districts and 
boroughs.

Of businesses set up in 2017, 94.4% survived more 
than 1 year, which is the second highest survival 
rate in Derbyshire after South Derbyshire.

Number of enterprises

3445

2800

2930

3060

3190

3320

3450

3580

3710

3840

3970

4100

202120202019201820172016201520142013

3520 3730

3820

3920

3900

3965

4040

3940

Business survival rates for businesses established in 2017

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

3 years2 years1 year

H
ig

h
 P

e
ak

E
n

g
la

n
d

94.4
%

89.1
%

H
ig

h
 P

e
ak

E
n

g
la

n
d

79.2
%

68.9
%

H
ig

h
 P

e
ak

E
n

g
la

n
d

66.7
%

53
%

High Peak’s

Economy & Business Base

Page 25



High Peak 2022

Knowledge Economy

The proportion of enterprises in knowledge 
driven sectors continued to grow from a base 
of around 22% of all businesses in 2010 to 27.5% 
of businesses in 2020. This rate is above the 
Derbyshire average of 24% but is below Stockport 
and Cheshire East who have over a third of their 
businesses in the knowledge sector both being at 
35%.

There were 15 enterprises in High Peak which 
were regarded as high growth of 120 in 
Derbyshire. This is 13% of the total number of high 
growth enterprises in Derbyshire and on a par 
with the majority of Derbyshire districts.

High Peak has seen an increase in the estimated 
number of employees employed in the 
knowledge sector, from 11.03% in 2016 to 13.81% 
in 2019. (Source Grant Thornton).

Productivity

GVA per hour worked in High Peak was 
£24.7 below the Derbyshire/
Nottinghamshire figure of £30.5 and below 
England at £35.7 and is represented as 70.3 
on the below index where UK is 100.

Gross value added (GVA) per job is the measure 
of the value of goods and services produced in an 
area divided by the number of employees. It is a 
useful means of measuring the productivity of an 
area relative to its workforce.

According to the ONS nominal (smoothed) GVA 
(B) per filled job was £38,490 for High Peak, this
has slightly declined since 2016 when it was
£40,420.

High Peak’s total GVA is £1,55 billion and has fallen 
from £1,60 in 2017. (Source: Grant Thornton, Place 
Analytics).

The Gross Domestic Product per head in High 
Peak rose from £16,621 in December 2013 to 
£19,347 in December 2019. (Source Grant Thornton)

Page 26



High Peak 2022

Shop occupancy

High Peak towns had an overall shop occupancy 
rate above the national average for the high street 
at 91% compared to a UK average 88.2% and an 
East Midlands average of 88.4% (October 2021).

On this measure, despite rising rates of vacant 
units in four of our six town centres, the overall 
number of vacant units remained at the same 
level and no town had a higher rate than the 
national average – with only Buxton continuing to 
have a very slightly higher rate at a regional level. 

Overall town centre business occupancy - this 
includes all town centre commercial properties 
including those used as offices and pubs/
nightclubs has fallen slightly to 91.7% from 92.1%. 
Retail vacancy rates have thus risen slightly from 
7.9% to 8.3%.

While charity retailers serve an important function 
and reflect community engagement, having a 
high number (above 5% of retail occupation) does 
indicate that a town centre is failing to attract a 
diversity of uses or quality retailers. As a Borough, 
we are still hitting this target, but two locations 
(Buxton and New Mills) have higher rates than 
ideal.

Shop Occupancy

0

70

140

210

280

350

Buxton Glossop New
Mills

Chapel-en
le-Frith

Whaley
Bridge

Hadfield

Occupied

Occupied – 
Charity premises

Vacant

To
ta

l n
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

sh
o

p
s

Page 27



High Peak 2022

Employment by Sector

30,000 people are employed in workplaces in the High Peak (excluding in agriculture) – 
of which 63.3% are full time. There are 250 people employed in agricultural activities.

Note: BRES Data 2020 Notes: % is a proportion of total employee jobs excluding farm-based agriculture

High Peak Employment by Sector

Construction, Mining, quarrying and utilities
2200 people

7%
5
%

30%

9%
15%

11%

23%

Manufacturing and 
associated logistics
Professional, scientific 
and technical
9000 people

Finance, service, 
IT and real estate
2750 peopleRetail & motor trades

4500 people

Accommodation 
and food, Arts, 
entertainment 
and recreation
3200 people

Education, Health, 
Public admin
6900 people

Other
1450 people

Key changes:
The make-up of jobs by sector has not changed 
significantly in the past five years. 

There had been a decline in the relative 
proportion of public sector jobs which fell from 
25% to 20% in 2019 however in 2020 there was 
an increase of 500 jobs in health and social 
work activities which could be a response to the 
pandemic. The proportion of all jobs in the public 
sector has risen to 23%.

Between 2017 and 2020 there were falls in the 
percentage of education jobs from 9.4% to 8.3%, 
and health and social work from 12.5% to 11.7% 
of all jobs whilst public administration has public 
administration has remained stable from 3.1% to 
3.0%.

The number of professional scientific and 
technical jobs rose from 6.2% of all jobs in 2017 to 
7.5%. Whilst the number of jobs in manufacturing 
has fallen to 16.7% with a fall of 1000 jobs in 

Page 28



High Peak 2022

2020 (was 18.8%), there has been an increase 
in the number of jobs in associated transport 
and storage to 5.8% of all jobs so that taken 
together these three sectors remain the largest 
employment sector in the Borough with 30% of 
jobs.

Between 2019 and 2020 there was a fall of 750 
employee jobs in private sector administrative and 
Support Service Activities however there was a rise 
of 300 jobs in information and communication 
and 100 in real estate so the combined 
percentage for this group remains at 9% of all 
jobs.

Retail and motor trades employment jobs rose 
slightly from 14% to 15% of total High Peak jobs.

Employment in accommodation, food, arts, 
entertainment and recreation has risen gradually 
from 11% to 13% in 2019 reflecting a steady 
growth in tourism and hospitality with the growth 
coming largely from the arts and recreation sector 
however 2020 saw this fall back to 11% with a 
reduction in the numbers employed in the arts 
and recreation sector whilst accommodation and 
food remained stable despite the pandemic.

Skills

In December 2020, 41.8% of working age 
residents held an NVQ4 qualification degree or 
equivalent, compared with 38.6% in Derbyshire 
but now below Great Britain at 43.1%. 2020 was 
the first year, High Peak residents NVQ4 level 
qualifications have fallen below the GB figure. 

Despite this highly skilled workforce, the 
percentage of working age people with level 3 
and 4 qualifications has fallen between 2019 and 
2020 in High Peak possibly a pandemic effect.

In 2020/21, the average ‘Attainment 8’ score of 
all pupils was 49.5% against a Derbyshire figure of 
49.9% and 50.9% for England. 

Apprentices

In 2019/2020, 540 apprenticeship starts 
were made in High Peak. 

In May 2017 the apprenticeship funding system 
was revised, the apprenticeship levy was 
introduced and apprenticeship starts (based on 
the home postcode of the learner) fell in High 
Peak in line with national trends from 910 in 
2016/17.

Apprenticeship starts in High Peak

0

200

400

600

800

1000

970
910

690
650

540

390

2020/21
Q3

2019/202018/192017/182016/172015/16

Page 29



High Peak 2022

Nationally, from August 2020 to April 2021 starts 
were down 6.9.% from the period August 2019 
to April 2020. In High Peak, from August 2020 to 
April 2021, 390 apprenticeship starts were made.

Of all apprenticeship starts in 2019/20, 29% were 
at Level 2 (Intermediate); 48% were at Level 3 
(Advanced) higher than the England percentage of 
44%; and 23% were at Level 4 (Higher). 160 young 
people aged under 19 started apprenticeships in 
2019/20.

The type of apprenticeships started in 2019/20 
were business administration and law 24%, below 
the England average of 29%. Health, public 
services and care were at 26%, the same as for 
England and engineering and manufacturing 
technologies 19%, which was above the England 
average of 16%. Information and communications 
technology an important sector was 4% of all 
apprenticeship starts against an England figure of 
6%. 

There were 10 apprenticeship starts in leisure, 
travel and tourism but none in arts media and 
publishing or science and mathematics in 
2019/20.

Significant changes over the last few years are a 
rise of business administration apprenticeships 
from 14% to 24% of starts and a decline in retail 
starts from 20% to 10% of starts. Manufacturing 
starts have fallen slightly from 20% to 19% but are 
still above the England figure. Construction 
apprenticeship starts were 9% of total starts lower 
than in previous years (14%). These figures may 
have been affected by the onset of covid in March 
2020 as above as less on site opportunities were 
available. 

Apprenticeship starts by type

Business
admin
24%

Health &
care 26%

 in High Peak (2019/20)

Business 
admin
29%

Engineering & manufacturing 16%

Health & 
care 26%

Construction
7%

Education 2%

Information and 
Communication 
Technology 6%

Agriculture, Horticulture 
and Animal Care 2%

Information and 
Communication 
Technology 4%

Agriculture, Horticulture 
and Animal Care 4%

Education 2%

Retail and Commercial 
Enterprise 10%

Retail and Commercial 
Enterprise 10%

Leisure, travel 
and tourism 2%

Leisure, travel 
and tourism 2%

Apprenticeships by type in England

Construction
9%

Engineering & manufacturing 19%

Page 30



High Peak 2022

Salary Levels 

Full time local employees earn £26,954 a 
year in High Peak.

Earnings in High Peak Workplaces

The 2021 annual pay (gross median £) for full 
time employee jobs in High Peak workplaces is 
£26,954 according to provisional ONS figures 
an estimated increase of 0.8% since 2020 This 
is the third lowest of all Derbyshire Districts. The 
Derbyshire wide figure is £28,158. The UK figure is 
£31,285 for Cheshire East £30,269 and Tameside 
£25,852.

Average earnings of High Peak residents

Provisional figures for 2021, show full time 
employees residents in High Peak had a median 
gross annual pay of £28,665 an estimated 
reduction of 2.4% since 2020. This is below the 
figure for Derbyshire of £29,596, the highest is 
South Derbyshire at £32,744. For Cheshire East 
residents the figure was £32,103 and for Tameside 
residents £27,706.

Median gross weekly pay of High Peak residents.

The median gross weekly pay of residents in 2021 
was £573.70, this has risen since 2015 but is below 
the Great Britain average of £613.10. For full-
time female workers in High Peak this figure was 
£474.50 in 2019. ONS annual survey of hours and 
earnings - resident analysis

Nationally, while pay held up for most employees 
during the 2020 pandemic, there are groups of 
employees who fared less well, most notably 
younger employees, the lowest-paid part-time 

employees, and those working in accommodation 
and food services.

The gap between those that work locally and 
those that commute is £1711 (in median full time 
gross annual earnings). 

Part-time resident employees salary level is 
£10,326. This is £1013 below the GB average. 

Housing

The average house price in High Peak was 
£232,586 in September 2021 a 12.2% increase 
since September 2020.

The average price of a property in England was 
£287,895 an 11.5% increase on the previous year. 
For the UK, the average price is £269,945.

Average house prices in the UK increased by 11.8% 
in the year to September 2021.

The average new build property in High Peak is 
£306,375 (July 2021) which represents a 15.9% 
price growth over 12 months.

Page 31



High Peak 2022

Commuting 

The 2011 census showed there was a net 
outflow of nearly 9802 workers. 

In 2011, 17,471 people commuted outside the 
borough for work and 7669 people in-commute 
to the High Peak.

The key destinations residents worked were: 
Stockport (3,324); Manchester (3,314); Tameside 
(2,735); Cheshire East (1,709) and the Derbyshire 
Dales (1,105).

The people who in-commute principally came 
from: Derbyshire Dales (1,291), Tameside (1,287), 
Stockport (1,060) and Cheshire East (858).

Unemployment

Under Universal Credit, a broader span of 
claimants are required to look for work than under 
Jobseekers Allowance. The claimant count for 
High Peak in October 2021 was 1785 people (in 
July 2019 it was 1050) or 3.1% of the working 
age population. This the third lowest rate of all 
Derbyshire districts and marginally below the rate 
for Cheshire East 3.2%. The claimant count rate 
for Great Britain is 4.8% and for Derbyshire 3%.

Of claimants in the High Peak, the youth claimant 
count (age 18-24) was 5.3% in October 2021 
below the Great Britain rate of 6%. This comprises 
320 individuals, a rise since October 2019 of 110 
people. This is the fourth lowest rate of the eight 
Derbyshire districts. For those aged 18-21 in High 
Peak it rises to 6.2%. 

The largest number of individual claimants is in 
the 25-49 age group (940) which has grown by 
360 people since October 2019. There are 525 
claimants over 50 years old.

High
Peak

7669 in

17,471 out

Other areas

0 2000 4000 6000 8000 10000

No fixed place of work

Work mainly at or from home*

60 km and over

40 km to less than 60 km

30 km to less than 40 km

20 km to less than 30 km

10 km to less than 20 km

5 km to less than 10 km

2 km to less than 5 km

Less than 2 km 9805

4930

4525

3955

5593

1775
911

616
434

3510

Distance travelled to work High Peak (Census 2011)

Page 32



High Peak 2022

Gamesley ward has a higher rate than the rest of 
the district at 8% with 125 claimants, followed by 
Barms at 4.9%. The highest number of claimants 
(people) were in Buxton Central (130 people), 
Gamesley (125), Howard Town (125) and Stone 
Bench (120).

In 2021, 80.3% of the resident working age 
population were economically active. This level 
has increased by 6% since 2020, and is above the 
GB average of 78.4%. 

However while this could be seen as an indication 
of residents’ work ethic, it does also reflect the 
fact that lower wage levels require households to 
have two wage earners.

COVID

In 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic had a huge 
impact on all businesses, with national and 
regional tiered lockdowns effecting the majority of 
the key visitor season. It was nationally recognised 
that the tourism sector was one of the most 
adversely effected. 

In the High Peak, despite large parts of the 
season being completely closed off to visitors, 
the number of overnight visitor days fell from 1.54 
million to 0.66 million (57% decrease) and the 
number of day visitors fell from 4.6 million to 2.5 
million (45% decrease).

The spend generated by staying visitors equated 
to £67,71 per person per day, a fall from 2019 
level of £69.63 per person per day. This reflects 
that many attractions and shops who were able 
to operate had to restrict their numbers and 
therefore there was less economic impact from 
staying visitors than in previous years. In contrast 
the average spend of a day visitor in 2020, rose 
slightly from £38.90 to £39.95.

The combined impact of less visitors and less 
overnight spend per visitor, meant that overall 
the direct expenditure of visitors in the district 
declined by 49.3% from £213.8m to £108.5m – 
which including the supply chain meant that the 
economic impact of tourism declined from £286 
million to £145 million. 

Despite this dramatic fall in trade, at -49%, it is 
perhaps lower than the perceived decline and the 
Borough outperformed national decline which 
averaged 63%, with some areas, particularly those 
that rely on international tourism, seeing visitor 
numbers fall by over 80%.

In High Peak, the Borough Council administered 
grant payments of £49 million to local businesses.

Data on 2021 recovery will only be available in 
mid 2022.

Page 33



High Peak 2022

Our Corporate Priorities to 2023

Our aim is to protect and create jobs by 
supporting economic growth, development 
and regeneration. Our planned objectives were 
delayed by the need to respond to Covid-19 but 
remain:-

Our key objectives for 2019-2023 are:

• Working to support existing local businesses,
both large and small as they recover from
covid

• Encouraging business start-ups and enterprises

• Work to create flourishing town centres and
thriving high streets that support the local
economy

• Promote tourism to maximise local benefit

• High quality development and building control
with an “open for business” approach

• Supporting the development of innovative
green jobs and business

Our key priorities will be…

• Increased economic growth and higher paid
employment

• New tourism opportunities

• Thriving and flourishing town centres and high

streets

Page 34



High Peak 2022

Key Employers in the Borough

(excluding retail, health & social care and schools)

Buxton: 

• Health and Safety Executive (UK Government
agency) HSE Science and Research Centre,

• Buxton & Leek College/University of Derby (FE
& HE);

• Otter Controls Ltd (thermostatic controls)

• Nestle Waters- Buxton Water (mineral water);

• Buxton Press Ltd (specialist printers)

• Breedon Group plc Dowlow Quarry
(aggregates)

• Tarmac Buxton Lime – (CRH Plc) (supply of
lime and limestone solutions)

• Cemex UK (aggregates);

• Lomas Distribution Ltd (logistics)

• Seldon Research Ltd (develops &
manufacturers cleaning chemicals)

• Palace Hotel & Spa (Britannia Hotels Ltd)
(accommodation);

• Flowflex Components Ltd (plumbing/heating
components)

Central Area & Hope Valley:

• Swizzels Matlow (sweets);

• Tenneco;

• Breedon Group PLC (cement works)

• Street Crane (cranes and hoists);

• Concept Life Sciences a Malvern Panalytical
brand (biotech);

• Retrogenix Ltd (Charles River Group) (biotech)

• Natural Stone Surfaces Ltd (supplier of bespoke
granite, marble, quartz and semi-precious
stone work surfaces)

• H. Crabtree Ltd (logistics)

• Alphagary (formerly Mexichem) (PVC)

• Flowguard

• Cambion Electronics Ltd (electronic
components)

Page 35



High Peak 2022

Glossop:

• Kingspan Technical Insulation GB (insulation)

• GDL Air Systems Limited (air distribution
specialists)

• Groundwork Engineered Systems Ltd (pre-
fabrication services for the construction
industry)

• Springvale EPS Ltd (manufacturer of Expanded
Polystyrene)

• Arconic Forgings & Extrusions (highly
engineered Forged and Metals products)

• AF Fasteners Ltd (aero-engineering products)

• Walker Safety Cabinets Ltd (microbiological &
laboratory equipment)

• Plater Production (Plater Group) (specialist
drying services to the chemical industry)

• Glossop Caravans Ltd (caravan sales & service)

Mineral & Aggregates

In 2017, the council, in partnership with Derbyshire 
County Council & Derbyshire Dales District 
council commissioned an economic impact 
assessment of quarry industry in the area. This 
found:

• Mineral reserves in area are considered to be of
national importance

• 11.7m tonnes of aggregates were extracted
from High Peak – and without this viability of
major city redevelopments and housing could
not go ahead

• Contributes £1.63 billion to national GVA
across the wider area – and expected to rise to
£2.3bn by 2040.

• Employment increasing but challenge to find
skilled workers & attract young people

• 2/3 supply chain is local – and supports
additional 1740 jobs

• Investment in rail key to overcoming
congestion and supporting future growth

Page 36



High Peak 2022

Larger Businesses in High Peak

“Tenneco” 

The Ferodo brand and original site was founded in 
Chapel-en-le-Frith in 1987 by the inventor of the 
world’s first brake products, Herbert Frood. The 
site is now part of Tenneco, one of the world’s 
leading designers, manufacturers, and marketers 
of automotive products for original equipment 
and aftermarket customers, with 2020 revenues 
of $15.4 billion and approximately 73,000 team 
members worldwide. The Chapel-en-le-frith site 
has, 290 team members and 80% of the plant’s 
output is exported overseas.

The company’s high-performance brakes are used 
extensively on the world’s racing and rally car 
circuits, as well as on millions of passenger cars, 
commercial vehicles and Railways worldwide.

Tenneco is driving advancements in global 
mobility by delivering technology solutions for 
diversified markets, including light vehicle, 
commercial truck, off-highway, industrial, 
motorsport and the aftermarket.

Swizzels Matlow Ltd

Swizzels is one of the longest running sweet 
factories in the world and has been based in 
New Mills since 1940 where is employs over 550 
people.

The company manufactures over 250 product 
lines all free from artificial colour including 
the iconic brands include Parma Violets, Love 
Hearts, Sherbet ‘Double Lollies’, Refreshers, and 
Drumsticks.

In 2018, Swizzels revealed that turnover rose by 
almost £10m in the last twelve months to £73m.

Examples of local businesses

Page 37



High Peak 2022

Breedon Group PLC

Breedon is a leading construction materials group 
in Great Britain and Ireland. Breedon is a public 
company with ordinary shares traded on the 
Alternative Investment Market (AIM).

In the High Peak, the group operates Hope 
Cement works and Buxton Dowlow Quarry which 
supplies aggregates including white limestone and 
asphalt. 

Nestle Waters

Nestlé Waters state-of-the-art factory at 
Waterswallows in Buxton employees 216 
people. Constructed in 2012, the factory is 
one of Europe’s most innovative and efficient 
bottling facilities and was designed and built with 
sustainability at the core.

Buxton® Natural Mineral Water source is in 
Buxton town, Derbyshire at St Ann’s Spring, in the 
heart of the Peak District. Buxton® is the number 
one British natural mineral water brand.

Detailed isotope studies in conjunction with the 
British Geological Survey showed that the water 
originated from meteoric waters (like rainfall) at 
the end of the last ice-age in the Palaeozoic era, 
about 5,000 years ago.

Page 38



High Peak 2022

Small & medium sized businesses in 
High Peak

Avanti Conveyors Ltd

Avanti Conveyors Ltd provide high quality 
products and services specifically for the 
corrugated packaging industry. Established in 
1988, Avanti has been providing materials handling 
solutions for over 30 years. Avanti design and 
manufacture all our own equipment at our UK 
manufacturing base and also work with many 
other international machinery suppliers.

Now supplying to over 30 countries, the company 
has consistently grown and expanded its skill base.

In 2021, the company announced that they 
have secured a new site in Harpur Hill, Buxton, 
Derbyshire to support their ambitious growth 
plans.

Exponential growth in the corrugated industry 
(over 6% year on year) has driven up demand for 
more automated materials handling systems.

Pressure Tech Ltd 

Established in 2000 and located in Glossop and 
employing over 30 people, Pressure Tech is 
recognised globally for manufacturing high-quality 
ISO-9001 accredited pressure regulators for oil 
and gas applications. Pressure Tech regulators are 
used worldwide with 70% being exported for use 
on critical high-pressure control systems such as 
wellhead control panels, gas analyser systems, 
hyperbaric diving systems and hydrogen fuel cell 
technology - including EC79-approved AUTO438 
regulator for hydrogen-powered buses and trucks.

Page 39



High Peak 2022

AF Fasteners

AF Fasteners began life in the Derbyshire Peak 
District over 90 years ago. The privately owned 
company originally operated as specialists in 
cold forging, manufacturing specialist bolts for 
the mining and quarry industries. Just over 40 
years ago the company harnessed 50 years of 
experience and knowledge, and entered the 
aerospace industry as manufacturers of precision 
fasteners.

In October 2000 AF Fasteners re-located to 
Glossop, just a mile away from where the 
company was founded, where larger premises 
could facilitate the steadily increasing demand.

AF Fasteners has remained a privately owned 
company, with a team of 30 dedicated staff. Now 
a global supplier, AF Fasteners will continue to 
develop and offer the aerospace industry a high 
quality, reliable and evolving service.

Fig

FIG is a Creative Marketing & B2B PR agency 
based in Glossop. With a team of 16 dedicated 
marketers, PR experts, graphic designers and web 
developers, they build long-term relationships 
with their clients to generate real results led by 
insight, creativity and expertise. Specialising in 
manufacturing, industry and technology sectors 
they work with many local, regional and UK-wide 
companies and organisations.

Page 40



High Peak 2022

BSA Marketing

Established in 1985, BSA Marketing made its home 
in Glossop in 2007 when it moved into Glossop 
Gasworks on Arundel Street.

A real family business, headed up by brothers 
David & Duncan Wright, both fellows of the 
Chartered Institute of Marketing, BSA work with 
SME businesses both locally in the High Peak, and 
across the UK developing creative way to make 
technology deliver real marketing value to their 
clients.

Retrogenix Ltd

Retrogenix Limited is an early-stage contract 
research organisation providing specialised 
bioanalytical services utilising its proprietary 
cell microarray technology. In March 2021 
the company was acquired by Charles River 
Laboratories International, Inc.

Retrogenix now has research agreements with 
all top twenty global pharmaceutical companies, 
numerous drug discovery companies and many 
leading academic and non-for-profit institutions 
around the world.

J.P. Morgan have named Retrogenix one of the 
Top 200 Female-Powered Businesses in the 
United Kingdom. Retrogenix were placed 45th 
nationally and were the highest placed for the East 
Midlands.

In 2018, Retrogenix moved to larger purpose-built 
facilities in Chinley in order serve increasing 
demand for its services worldwide, and continue 
its rapid growth. By 2020, the company had 
expanded again, within its current location, more 
than doubling its premises space and headcount.

Page 41



High Peak 2022

Further Information

High Peak has an adopted Growth Strategy 
which provides a plan for sustainable growth and 
identifies development opportunities for the next 
11 years. It demonstrates our commitment to 
regeneration throughout the area as well as the 
delivery of the Local Plan .

The Council’s website provides up to date 
business information, guidance and support.

For any further advice or assistance with 
investment contact:

Regeneration@highpeak.gov.uk

www.highpeak.gov.uk

Page 42



Derbyshire
Hospitality 
 Charter
2021 Page 43



This Charter exists to raise the profile of
working within the Hospitality sector in
Derbyshire and the Peak District. 

It has been designed to act as a collective
voice on behalf of our sector, that commits
us to be better employers by offering
employees, opportunity, fairness, respect,
quality training, a good work life balance
and opportunity to grow and develop their
career.Career development and job
satisfaction has to be at the core of our
operations, and our primary offer and
commitment to people thinking of working
within the sector. 

About us

Business Led
The idea of Richard Palmer, Managing
Director of Devonshire Hotels and
Restaurants and Neil Fischer, Owner of
the Fischer’s Group. 

It follows best practice drawing on
other examples such as, People 1st
Hospitality Commitment and the 2020
Hoteliers Charter Founded by Sally
Beck, general manager of the Royal
Lancaster Hotel London, designed to
dispel the myth that working in hotels
meant ‘long hours for little pay’. 

Support

The development of a Peak District &
Derbyshire Hospitality Charter has
attracted strong support from Local
Authorities, Colleges, Universities and
training providers and other private
sector businesses including The Casa
Hotel and Peak Edge Hotel, The
Bakewell Pudding Bakery and Bluebell
Dairy.  

This Charter will provide a platform to
have regular conversations about
working within the sector having wider
commitments and aims to develop an
Influencer Group.

Page 44



Educate 
Dispel the current reputation of ‘long hours for little pay’ employment

Educate the future people who will work in the sector through promoting the sector in schools,
reaching children when they are making their career choices as well as parents and careers
advisers 
Educate the employment agencies in charge of advertising future job vacancies (currently having
a poor understanding of the careers available) 
Work in partnership with Colleges & Universities to design the right courses, meeting current
demands and needs of businesses. 
Elevate the sector as the place to be – a sector that celebrates skills including creative, artistic,
scientific, communication, and a natural ability for customer care and incredible team working
opportunities. 

Be Better Employers 
Create a good working environment for people working in the sector 

Sign up a group of employers from a range of the hospitality offer to commit to the Charter – from
high end restaurants to good quality pub food 
Encouraging employment from their locality 

Lobby 
Create a collective voice for change in Government policy

Make changes to the current sponsorship rules for non UK citizens 
Reform VAT across the sector
Reform business rates – currently inconsistent and constraining future investment. 

Page 45



Why you should sign up to the Derbyshire and 

Peak District Hospitality Charter
 

As a business you will be

Demonstrating commitment to your people 
Offering high quality training, and promoting your business as a great place to work

Committing to developing opportunities locally
Working with like minded businesses 

Developing and promoting best practice 
Helping to change current perceptions of the sector

 
 

Page 46



Our Promise

This charter hopes to formalise the following commitments, having a
long-term objective to create a set of attractive career choices,
providing people with a positive working experience, and a solution to
the current sector recruitment crisis. 

Commit to developing team members through training, apprenticeships, coaching and mentoring,
positioning hospitality roles as careers, not just jobs.
Support best practice models demonstrated by the ‘People 1ST’s Hospitality Commitment’ to
respect work/life balance, working hours, striking the right working hours for those businesses
that are open 7 days per week. 
Commit to paying a competitive salary, ending perceptions of the sector as low paid and provide
the right training environment for people to develop their careers into leadership and
management roles
Work with training providers to design the right training programmes that are ambitious and are
attractive to people thinking about working in the sector. 
Recruit where you can from your locality, advocate diversity, inclusion and equality. 
Take full care of your employee’s mental health and well-being, both in and out of the workplace. 
Create a positive working environment and culture for people to learn, making employees part of
the decision-making process.
Develop clear pathways for progression for both existing staff as well as new recruits. 
Provide benefits to your employees, for example ‘eat on us’, offer bonuses at peak times of the
year, introduce social gatherings that will nurture positive team working. 
Provide a platform and a voice for the sector, and continually work together to improve the
working environment offering a long-term solution for both recruitment and staff retention. 
Get involved with job fairs and opportunities to promote the sector and create an army of industry
champions for the Peak District and Derbyshire. 
Support schools/ college Career Practitioners with the offer of industry group talks on a regular
basis.

Page 47



Contact us
Phone: 01246 212924
Web: visitpeakdistrict.com/industry

Created in collboration with 

Page 48



MARKETING HIGH PEAK – MARKETING PEAK DISTRICT & DERBYSHIRE  

 

Time to …. recovery July 2020 

 

Several High Peak businesses featured in our Good to Go welcome back video. We also had a support local page which 

highlighted all businesses that were offering delivery and take away services during lockdown promoted via social channels and e-

newsletters. The landing page received over 5k page views. 

 

 

Escape the Everyday – May – July 2021 

 

In May 2021 we delivered a 3 month digital campaign in conjunction with Visit Britain ’s  

national ‘Escape the Everyday’ campaign – it featured a number of bookable experiences 

across The Peak District & Derbyshire. We featured the spa experience at Buxton Crescent 

Hotel, jewellery making at Treak Cliff Cavern, spa breaks at Losehill House Hotel and Live 

for the Hills Walking Tours.  
 

Overall the campaign delivered 42,441 unique page views to the campaign landing page and 

over 5k page views of the High Peak experiences. Overall 500 experiences were booked and 

182 over night stays (up 80% yoy). Treak Cliff was the best sold High Peak experiences 

with 74 bookings.      

 

English Tourism Week 22-31 May 

 

We focussed on all things cycling and featured cycle special offers across the High Peak 

with a dedicated landing page and social throughout the week, as well as a dedicated e-newsletter sent to our 30k consumer 

database. 

 

The social campaign reached over 130k people with over 15k engagements. The newsletter had a great open rate of 29% with 

5,800 clicks through to the web page.     

 

 

Time to Discover somewhere new – recovery & dispersal plans summer 2021 

 

 Hidden Gems Blog included Chee Dale, Millennium Walkway & Discover Buxton Tram 

 Rural Retreats blog included Peak View Shepherd Huts, Glossop 

 10 Peaceful Walks blog included Peak Forest Canal to Whaley Bridge & Eccles Pike to Chapel en 

le Frith  

 Car Free  

 

 

These blogs have received 21,281 unique pages views to date. 

 

 

 

 

 

Whats on blogs 2021 

 

 Summer blog included Treak Cliff Cavern, Pooles  Cavern & Buxton Country park 

 Christmas blog included Santa at Pooles Cavern, Buxton Christmas Bazaar 

 

These blogs have received 5,880 unique page views to date   

 

 

 

 

 

Goyt Valley/Whaley Bridge campaign 

 

 Dedicated web pages here which highlights the towns and villages as well as the History 

& Heritage of the area with walks and cycle routes drawn from existing High Peak BC collateral. 

 The leaflet hasn’t gone to print yet and will be distributed across Derbyshire and Greater 

Manchester with the visitor map in Spring 2022. Final copy is  here 

 We created a visitor video here  

Page 49

https://youtu.be/4a_56U6Nobk
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/escape-the-everyday
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/escape-the-everyday
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/escape-the-everyday
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/escape-the-everyday
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/things-to-do/activities/cycling-and-mountain-biking/special-offers-for-english-tourism-week
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/explore/goyt-valley
https://eastmidlandschamber.sharepoint.com/:f:/s/MarketingPeakDistrictDerbyshire/EjtliihDTDRGiEQyWjaNPioBEReJ32ujcLOxndJ7GzCezg?e=2WecSM
https://youtu.be/EH9CzlpSz84


 We have been running a social campaign since the summer – schedule is  here and we also hosted a Halal food 

blogger in New Mills and the surrounding area – she accessed it by train – her Instagram reel is here    

 

The web page to date has had 2,238 unique page views and all the social posts have been well received – the latest post about 

Chapel en-le-Frith reached over 25k people. 

 

 

Make Memories Autumn campaign 

 

This campaign runs until 5
th

 December 2021 and features a High Peak landing page here. As well as featuring on our shop local 

pages here 

 

Results to date: over 13k page views of the landing page, High Peak page over 2k views. Shop Local pages had had almost 4k 

views with 518 entries into our prize draw.   

 

VisitBritain India: Unbox Britain trip 

 

In October 2021 we worked with VisitBritain India on their ‘Unbox Britain’ travelogue series to promote the Peak District & 

Derbyshire ahead of the 2022 Commonwealth Games in Birmingham. The travelogue showcased the area (including the High 

Peak) as an easy-to-reach destination. Filming included an overnight stay and spa treatments at Buxton Crescent Hotel, general 

shots of Buxton town and a guided walk along Stanage Edge. 

The video will be promoted ahead of the Commonwealth Games via the Reliance Jio on-demand service which has 410M+ users. 

 

Ongoing social support 

We regularly feature the High Peak across our social channels this recent post reached over 32k people 

 

                
 

 

  

Page 50

https://eastmidlandschamber.sharepoint.com/:w:/s/MarketingPeakDistrictDerbyshire/EXBw0ns7qyBBuOTy5hfQnBUBFnK_1oiZWV0A1-Va--cvJA?e=BmsFEf
https://www.instagram.com/reel/CVQPQuMo8Bv/
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/make-memories/high-peak
https://www.visitpeakdistrict.com/inspiration/shop-local/love-your-local-high-street


PRESS COVERAGE 

 

 

July ‘20 Mai l  Online 4.5 mi l lion daily visitors 

(24.9 mi llion monthly 
vis i tors) 

Jake Wallis-

Simons 

Family s taycation piece in partnership with YHA, 

featuring Treak Cliff Cavern. Coverage here 

August ‘20 Cycl ing UK 70,000 per month (UK's 
biggest selling cycling 
publication) 

Trevor 
Ward 

Big Ride feature (6 pages) including Grindleford Buxton 
and the Yorkshire Bridge Inn, Bamford. 

September 
‘20 

Best of British 
Magazine 

30000 print ci rculation 
(UK's  biggest selling 
nostalgia magazine - 
46% of readers spend 

their main holiday in 
UK) 

Simon 
Stabler 

Showcasing cultural, heritage and family friendly 
attractions in the Peak District & Derbyshire to inspire 
autumn/winter staycations. Including Poole's Cavern, 
Buxton 

October ‘20 Wanderlust 30000 print ci rculation  Graeme 
Green 

Pocket Guide ‘British Break’ article on how to spend a  
3-day s taycation in the Peak District National Park. 
Featuring Buxton Crescent and Treak Cl iff Cavern. 

October ‘20 Vis itEngland Escape 

the Everyday social 
media 
influencer/ambassador 
trip 

 Sophie 

Morgan 

Curated and hosted an Accessible trip to promote 

Vis itEngland’s Escape the Everyday campaign, featured 
on VisitEngland’s digital and social channels. Featuring 
Ladybower Fisheries, Buxton Crescent and Parsley Hay 
Cycle Hire. Coverage here 

Apri l  ‘21 The Telegraph 317,817 print 
ci rculation; 
100 mi l lion monthly 
web visitors 

Emma 
Cooke 

Fi rs t-time camper trip, appealing to Mi llennials and 
new campers. Featuring Upper Hurst Farm, Buxton. 
Coverage here 

Apri l  ‘21 The Telegraph 317,817 print 
ci rculation; 
100 mi l lion monthly 
web visitors 

Sophie 
Campbell 

Buxton town feature for round-up of best British spa 
towns. Featured: Buxton Opera House, Buxton 
Festival, Discover Buxton Tram Tours & Buxton 
Crescent. Coverage here 

June ‘21 The Telegraph 317,817 print 
ci rculation; 

100 mi l lion monthly 
web visitors 

Cla i re Irvin Family s taycation piece on things to do in and around 
Buxton including walking, cycling and Buxton Crescent. 

June ‘21 The Family Holiday 
Guide 

10,000 monthly unique 
users  

Victoria Family s taycation piece featuring Poole's Cavern and 
Buxton Crescent. 

June ‘21 US Travel  + Leisure 

Magazine (trip on 
behalf of VisitBritain) 

2.8 mi l lion views per 

month and print 
magazine circulation of 
over 1 mi l lion  

Nina  Caplan Luxury and cultural travel piece targeted at US 

audience featuring Live for the Hills guided tour of 
area, Poole's Cavern, Buxton Crescent and Treak Cliff 
Cavern. 

July ‘21 Bradt Guide to Slow 
Family Travel UK 

 Hol ly 
Tuppen 

Sustainable, slow-travel tourism for Peak District 
chapter. Featuring Beechenhill Farm Campsite near 

Buxton & Poole's Cavern 

August ‘21 Fabulous magazine 
(The Sun's Sunday 
supplement) 

 El l ie 
O'Mahoney 

Family trip to the Peak District featuring Yorkshire 
Bridge Inn and Treak Cliff Cavern. 

Page 51

https://www.dailymail.co.uk/travel/escape/article-8589005/Want-minute-staycation-Try-youth-hostel-Peak-District-known-English-Alps.html
https://www.visitengland.com/sophie-morgans-guide-accessible-breaks-in-peak-district
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/activity-and-adventure/happened-first-time-campervan-trip-peak-district/
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/authors/s/sk-so/sophie-campbell/


This page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Economy and Growth Select Committee 
 

2 December 2021 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning 
Document 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Anthony McKeown- Council 
Leader HPBC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Mark James - Principal Planning Officer 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Corbar, Barms, Stone Bench, Cote Heath, 
Buxton Central, Burbage 

 
 

Appendices Attached –  
 
Appendix 1 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD 

Appendix 2 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD (Appendix A) 
Appendix 3 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD (Appendix B) 
Appendix 4 - Updated Water in Buxton SPD (Appendix D) 

Appendix 5 – Draft Consultation Statement 
Appendix 6 – Draft schedule of modifications to the Water in Buxton SPD 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 

 

1.1 To notify Councillors of the responses received to the public consultation on 

the Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) and related 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) Screening Report. The report and 
appendices also provide details of suggested responses from the Council to 

consultation feedback as well as suggested modifications to be made to the 
SPD. Feedback from Councillors is sought ahead of the consideration of the 

updated SPD for adoption by the Executive.  
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That Councillors note the feedback to the public consultation, suggested 
Council responses and modifications to the SPD. 

 
2.2 That Councillors provide feedback on the recommended approach as 

appropriate.  

 
2.3 Councillors  are requested to recommend that the Executive adopts the Water 

in Buxton SPD 
 

Page 53

Agenda Item 8



  

 
 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 

3.1 A draft Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was 
subject to public consultation during the Summer of 2021. A total of thirteen 
comments were received. Issues raised included suggestions that the SPD 

should have a broader scope to address wider ecological and climate change 
related issues and to address other more specific technical matters such as 

ground source heat pumps, the historic environment and the storage of 
potentially harmful liquids and fuels. Officers have recommended responses to 
consultation feedback and modifications to the document where appropriate. 

Feedback was also sought on a Strategic Environmental Assessment 
Screening Report (SEA) which concluded that a detailed SEA would not be 

required. Two comments were received which did not contest this conclusion.  
 

3.2 The SPD seeks to provide additional guidance in support of policies in the 

adopted High Peak Local Plan 2016 which aim to protect the quality and 
quantity of water sources in the Buxton area and to minimise phosphate levels 

in the River Wye and the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation 
(SAC) in particular. 
 

3.3 The document will be considered by the Executive for adoption on 9 th 
December. If adopted, the document will become a material consideration to 
the determination of planning applications in the Buxton area.  

 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 

4.1 The protection of water quality and supply links to Corporate Plan Aim 4: 

Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 
emergency. 

 
 

5. Alternative Options 

 
5.1 Councillors are requested to recommend approval of the Water in Buxton 

SPD. The Supplementary Planning Document will provide information and 
guidance to developers, members of the public and officers that supplement 
local plan policy and reduces the risk that development in the Buxton area 

may compromise the quality and quantity of mineral waters in the Buxton area 
and adversely effect water quality in the River Wye SSSI which is a 

component of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 
(Recommended) 

 

5.2 Members decide not to recommend approval of the Water in Buxton SPD. The 

information and guidance within the document will not be available (Not 
Recommended). 

 
 

Page 54



  

6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
No direct implications 

 
 

6.2 Workforce 

 
Officer time allocated towards the preparation and publication of 

the SPD. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 

 
No direct implications 

 
6.4 Financial Considerations 

 

Consultants were appointed to prepare the document working with 
the Council. The cost has been met from the Crescent Risk 

Management budget assisted by a grant from the Council’s Risk 
Management Group. 
 

 
6.5 Legal 

 

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 makes provision 
for the preparation of Supplementary Planning Documents. 

 
Regulations 11 to 16 of the Town and Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 set out the procedural 

requirements for their preparation and adoption. As updated by the 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020. 
 
The Water Framework Directive, the Groundwater Directive, 

Habitats Directive, Flood and Water Management Act 2010 and the 
Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 are also of relevance 
and are considered in the draft Supplementary Planning 
Document. 

 
6.6 Climate Change 

 
Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) of the High Peak Local Plan provides 
for increased water efficiency in new housing reflecting the need to 

support measures that help to reduce phosphate loading in the 
River Wye and more broadly, support sustainable use of water 

resources. 
 
This policy is one of two in the Local Plan which underpin the 

Page 55



  

Supplementary Planning Document. 
 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

The SPD and SEA Screening report have been subject to public 
consultation. Details are provided in Appendix 5. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 

The need for guidance to ensure that policies in the Local Plan to 
protect the quality and quantity of mineral waters in Buxton are 
effectively applied was identified by the Buxton Water risk group– 

an officer led risk management group. 
 

The Supplementary Planning Document will provide information 
and guidance to developers, members of the public and officers 
that supplement local plan policy and reduces the risk that 

development in the Buxton area may compromise the quality and 
quantity of mineral waters in the Buxton area and adversely effect 

water quality in the River Wye SSSI which is a component of 
the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC). 
 

 
Neil W. Rodgers 

Executive Director (Place) 

 
Web Links and 

Background Papers 

Contact details 

High Peak Local Plan: 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-

Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-
2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2
016.pdf?m=1514473710280 

 
Consultation website: 
https://highpeak-

consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36235 
 
 

 

Mark James 
Principal Planning Officer 

mark.james@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Detail 

 

Background 

 
7.1  Supplementary Planning Documents (SPD) can be prepared by local planning 

authorities to provide guidance to developers, land owners, planning agents 

and the Council on specific planning policies. SPDs are capable of being 
material considerations in the determination of planning applications but they 

do not form part of the statutory development plan. As such, they cannot be 
used to introduce new policies. Outside of the Peak District National Park, the 

Page 56

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://highpeak-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36235
https://highpeak-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/event/36235


  

statutory development plan in High Peak consists of the adopted High Peak 
Local Plan (2016), the Chapel-en-le-Frith Neighbourhood Plan and the 
minerals and waste plans prepared by Derbyshire County Council. 

 
7.2  The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

set out the requirements for the preparation of SPDs. The National Planning 
Policy Framework and associated guidance acknowledge the role of SPDs in 
providing further guidance for local policies. Regulation 8 (3) states that; “Any 

policies contained in a supplementary planning document must not conflict 
with the adopted development plan”. It is also made clear in the national 

planning practice guidance that SPDs should not add unnecessarily to the 
financial burdens on development. 

 

 
 

Purpose and scope of the Supplementary Planning Document 
 
7.3  The SPD provides further guidance on two water related constraints 

identified in the Local Plan which are specific to the Buxton area: 
 

a. The protection of the quality and quantity of mineral water sources in Buxton 
b. The need to minimise phosphate levels in River Wye which forms part of the 
Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC) 

 
7.4  Local Plan Policy S7 (Buxton Sub-Area Strategy) and Policy EQ1 (Climate 

Change) establish the broad policy requirements for these two constraints that 

SPD is seeking to elaborate on. Relevant extracts from these two policies are 
provided below. If a Neighbourhood Plan for Buxton is taken forward, it must 

be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the Local Plan, including 
the following which underpin the SPD. 

 

Policy S7 (Buxton Sub-Area Strategy) 

Policy S7 seeks to “establish Buxton as England’s leading spa town and 

consolidate its role as the principal service centre for the Peak District by” 
(amongst other proposals): 
“Protecting the quality and supply of natural mineral water. Development, 

including proposals for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should have 
regard to the Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area, and Nitrate Vulnerable 

and Groundwater Source Protection Zones in terms of their impact on water 
quality and quantity; Requiring new development to demonstrate compliance 
with Policy EQ1 in relation to the adoption of high water efficiency standards 

and measures to recycle and minimise water consumption; 
Working with partner organisations through the River Wye Water Pollution 

Plan to protect water quality on the River Wye SSSI which is a component of 
the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC).” 

 

Policy EQ1 (Climate Change) 

Policy EQ 1 sets out the Council’s overarching approach for mitigating and 

adapting to climate change. This includes the following requirement: 
“Applications for new build residential development in the Buxton Sub-Area 
should meet the optional national technical requirement for water efficiency of 

Page 57



  

110 litres per person per day to minimise the phosphate load to the River Wye 
via discharges from the Buxton Sewage Treatment Works, unless it can be 
demonstrated that doing so would adversely impact on a scheme’s viability; 

and “Supporting high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and 
minimise water consumption.” 

 
7.5 The SPD (Appendix 1-3) includes the following to inform the consideration 

of potential impacts on water sources and minimise associated risks: 

 
 Identification of relevant legislation and policies, including, the Water 

Framework Directive, the Habitats Directive, water and Flood management 
Act 2010, Natural Mineral Water, Spring Water and Bottled Drinking Water 

(England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018, local and national planning 
policy 

 Highlighting the Environment Agency’s Source Protection Zones (SPZs) 

which are used to identify and protection sources of drinking water and the 
Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Zone (as identified on the Local Plan 

Policies Map) 

 Identification of a Core Protection Area and an Extended Protection Area to 
help determine whether the application needs greater consideration1 

 Requiring risk assessments and method statements for bore holes, shallow 
excavations, excavation of basement extensions or developments 

including subterranean basements by way of conditions on planning 
consents where necessary 

 Requirements for Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems and septic tanks 

 Encouragement for developers to engage at the pre-application stage. In 
particular, within the Core and Extended Protection Areas advice from a 

hydrogeologist may be helpful as a preliminary step. For significant 
proposals, consultation with Natural England and the Environment Agency 

(EA) prior to the submission of a planning application is also advised 

 Highlighting instances where planning consent may not be required but 

where works could still pose a risk to water quality and supply. This 
includes ground source heating and cooling systems for which developers 
are advised to refer to relevant guidance issued by the Environment 

Agency. 
 

7.6  The issue of phosphate levels in the River Wye is a more recent consideration 
which was identified during the preparation of the 2016 High Peak Local Plan 
in consultation with Natural England, the Environment Agency and Severn 

Trent Water. The Habitats Regulations Assessment report which informed the 
Local Plan identified the potential for adverse effects from development on the 

Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC) as a result of 
increasing the total phosphate load to the River Wye via discharges from the 
Buxton Sewage Treatment Works. However further investigation of the issue 

has enabled Natural England to be confident that the Sewage Treatment 

                                                 
1 These protection areas, when considered in combination with the SPZs, are considered to form a 
more accurate and current understanding of the geological position than the Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Zone which is based on historical data 

 

Page 58



  

facility at Buxton has the ability to deliver the current water quality target for 
phosphate within the headroom in the existing Severn Trent Water licence. 

 

7.7  Nevertheless, in order to preserve that headroom, the Local Plan seeks to 
apply the optional national technical requirement for water efficiency of 110 

litres per person per day from new residential developments to reduce the load 
into the River Wye. It is expected that this would achieve around a 20% 
reduction in the amount of water discharged to wastewater treatment works 

compared to the average water efficiency of around 143 litres per person per 
day. This requirement is subject to the viability of development. The SPD 

provides specific guidance on how the standards could be met, including: 
 

 Integration of water efficient appliances in residential developments (e.g. water 

efficient shower heads, reduced capacity baths, lower flow taps, low flush 
toilets, water efficiency dishwashers and washing machines) 

 Water sensitive gardens which reduce the need for hosepipe use and 
maximise water retention 

 Rainwater harvesting and “greywater” use measures. Rainwater and 
wastewater from washing machines, baths and sinks can be put to appropriate 
re-use 

 
7.8 The above measures will be secured through planning conditions, including 

reference to the need to meet regulation 36(2)(b) of Part G2 of the Building 
Regulations 2015 (as amended). 
 

Public consultation and updated SPD 
 

 
7.9 Following consideration by the Economy and Growth Select Committee and 

the Executive in February 2021, A public consultation was held on the draft 

SPD between 13th May and 18th June 2021. The consultation documents 
were published on the Council's website for review.  

 
7.10 Comments were also sought on a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) 

screening statement. The screening determines if such effects are likely and 

therefore if a SEA is necessary in consultation with the statutory bodies, 
namely; Natural England, the Environment Agency and Historic England. The 

SEA screening report concluded that an SEA will not be necessary to 
support the SPD “because no significant environmental, social or economic 
effects arising from its implementation have been identified, as it seeks only to 

expand upon and provide guidance for the effective and consistent 
implementation of Local Plan policies”  

 
7.11 Notifications of the consultation were sent by email or letter to relevant 

contacts on the Council's planning policy consultee database. This included all 

relevant statutory consultees, local stakeholder organisations and residents 
and businesses in the Buxton area. Further publicity in the form of a press 

release and news on the Council's website was also published to raise 
awareness of the consultation.  

 

Page 59



  

7.12 A total of 13 comments were submitted in relation to the SPD (3 from 
members of the public, 10 from organisations). The main issues raised 
included:  

 

 The SPD should have a broader scope to consider water quality more 

generally as well as measures to support biodiversity and address climate 
change  

 Additional references need to consider the implications of ground source heat 

pumps  

 Consideration should be given to minerals operations (current and former) in 

the vicinity  

 Reference should be made to the historic environment, including waterlogged 

archaeology  

 There should be greater emphasis on the storage of liquids and fuels that 

could potentially impact groundwater  

 The phosphate load produced by household activities will not be reduced 
through water efficiency measures. What water efficiency does do is reduce 

the volume of water reaching the wastewater treatment works, thus relieving 
stress on the sewerage system.  

 Several minor miscellaneous amendments requested for clarification purposes  
 
7.13 A further 2 comments were submitted regarding to SEA Screening report. 

Natural England concurred with the conclusion in the Screening Report that a 
full SEA is not required. Historic England confirm that they had no further 

comments to make. As such, it is considered than a SEA is not required for 
the SPD.  

 

7.14 A draft Consultation Statement accompanies this report (Appendix 5). It details 
each consultation comment and provides an officer response. In light of the 

feedback, a number of modifications to the SPD are recommended. A 
schedule of the proposed modifications to the consultation version of the SPD 
is provided at Appendix 6. Appendix 1-3 provides a copy of the SPD as 

proposed for adoption which incorporates the identified modifications.  
 

7.15 In terms of the wider environmental and climate change related responses 
raised during the consultation responses, members may wish to consider them 
further as part of the Local Plan review. 

 

Adoption 

 
 

7.16 The Executive will consider the adoption of the SPD on 9 December. If 
adopted, the SPD, the final Consultation Statement and an “adoption 
statement” will be published. Interested parties will be notified. Any person 

with sufficient interest in the decision to adopt the SPD may apply to the High 
Court for permission to apply for judicial review of that decision within 3 

months of the date of adoption.  
 
7.17 The SPD will become a material consideration in the determination of relevant 

planning applications in the Buxton area. 
 

Page 60



  

 
 
 

 

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



water in buxton
Supplementary planning document

Adopted December 2021

A WELL OF
LIVING WATERS

A TRIBUTE

TO THE MEMORY OF

EMILIE DOROTHEA  BOUNDS

COUNCILLOR OF THIS

BOROUGH

by her husband and daughter

Page 63



 2  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

 

High Peak Borough Council 

 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 

 

Adopted December 2021 

 

Page 64



 3  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Contents 

 

1. Introduction 5 

1.1 Overview 5 
1.2 Background 5 

The need to protect mineral water sources in Buxton 5 
The type of sources, location of sources and how the water arrives at those locations 6 
The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and the impact of new homes in Buxton 6 

1.3 Why this guidance is needed 7 
1.4 How to use this Supplementary Planning Document 8 
1.5 How this Supplementary Planning Document is structured 8 

2. Legislation, planning policy and guidance 9 

2.1 Introduction 9 
2.2 European and National Legislative Context 9 

The Water Framework Directive 9 
Groundwater Protection in Europe 9 
The Habitats Directive 9 
Flood and Water Management Act 2010 10 
Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 10 

2.3 National Planning Policy Context 10 
National Planning Policy Framework 10 
National Planning Practice Guidance 10 

2.4 Local Planning Policy Context 11 
Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy 11 
Policy EQ1: Climate Change 11 

3. Water Protection Areas 12 

3.1 Types of water 12 
Natural Mineral Water 12 
Water Framework Directive (WFD) water bodies 12 

3.2 Source Protection Zones (SPZ) 13 
3.3 Areas of Sensitivity 14 
3.4 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area 17 

3.5 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones 17 

4. Pre-Application Advice 19 

4.1 Roles and responsibilities 19 
Additional advice 19 

5. Protection of mineral water sources in Buxton 20 

5.1 Types of development: 20 

Page 65



 4  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Drilling boreholes and digging shallow excavations 20 
Excavation of basement extensions or developments including subterranean basements 22 

5.2 When additional conditions to prevent pollution of water sources may be required over and above 
permitting requirements 23 

5.3 Other regulatory consents that may be required when planning consent may not be needed 23 
5.4 Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) 25 
5.5 Septic tanks 25 
5.6 Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels 26 

6. Water efficiency in Buxton 27 

6.1 Introduction 27 
6.2 Water efficiency in residential development 27 
6.3 How new homes in Buxton can achieve a water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day 27 
6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption 28 

Water-sensitive design in new homes 28 
Rainwater Harvesting 28 
Water Recycling 29 

6.5 How the water efficiency standard for residential development will be applied by the Council in 
Buxton 29 
Viability 29 
Application of the water efficiency standards 30 

6.6 How high standards of water efficiency and measures to recycle and minimise water consumption 
in non-residential development will be sought by the Council 30 
BREEAM standards and water efficiency for non-residential developments 30 

 
 
 

Figure 3.1 Buxton’ s Source Protection Zone 14 
Figure 3.2 Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area 16 
Figure 3.3 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area 17 
 

 
 
 

Appendix A Code of Practice - Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 
Appendix B Code of Practice – Excavations in the in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 
Appendix C Template planning conditions related to water issues 
Appendix D Location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation 

Page 66



 5  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

1. Introduction 

1.1 Overview 

1.1.1 Water is a vital resource that the planning system plays a key role in managing. The need to protect 
Buxton’s water resources and water quality is embedded within the adopted High Peak Local Plan 
(the Local Plan) policies EQ1: Climate Change and S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy.1 The policies 
recognise the need to protect the supply and quality of mineral waters in Buxton – as a significant 
contributor to the economy of the area – and to ensure water efficiency measures are implemented 
to avoid negative ecological effects on the River Wye.  

1.1.2 This Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) expands on the Local Plan policies and provides 
further guidance to ensure that development preserves the quality of water resources within the 
Buxton Sub-area and supports water efficiency. The SPD forms part of High Peak Borough Council’s 
suite of planning documents and provides guidance to developers, landowners and members of 
the public to raise awareness of the vital importance of water sources and to enable them to meet 
the requirements of the Local Plan when preparing development proposals and submitting 
planning applications. 

1.1.3 This guidance therefore addresses two separate purposes within the common theme of water 
quality in Buxton.  It: 

 Supports the protection of mineral water sources within the Buxton Sub-area; and 

 Supports effective management of water to improve overall water quality and prevent 
additional phosphates reaching the River Wye, supporting a reduction in phosphate load where 
possible. 

1.1.4 This document was adopted by the Council on 9 December 2021. It is a material consideration 
when considering planning applications or planning appeals. This SPD does not introduce new 
policy but adds further detail to the policies within the Local Plan, specifically policies EQ1 and S7. 

1.2 Background 

The need to protect mineral water sources in Buxton 

1.2.1 Buxton is an area with a number of mineral water springs, one of which is a nationally unique 
potable thermal mineral water of national importance, Buxton thermal waters.  These waters have 
been used since Roman times and Buxton developed as a spa town during the 18th and 19th century 
as many visitors were drawn to the town’s thermal spring. Buxton’s Georgian prosperity is 
evidenced by many of the buildings and pleasure gardens that still define the character of the town 
today.  One of the most important buildings is The Crescent, constructed in 1780 as part of the 
Duke of Devonshire’s plans to establish a fashionable spa town.  The building is Grade 1 listed. 

1.2.2 Today, the thermal water is bottled by Nestlé UK as Buxton Water, which is one of the best known 
natural mineral water brands in the UK.  Their bottling plant, located in Waterswallows near Buxton, 
brings employment and prosperity to the town as well as income to the Council as owner of the 
spring.  The Crescent buildings have been recently renovated and restored for use as a Spa Hotel, 

 
1 The High Peak Local Plan was adopted in April 2016. Available via: https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-
Adopted-Local-Plan-2016. Policy S7 applies to the Buxton-Sub Area as defined on the Policies Map  - 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map 

Page 67

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016


 6  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

which also uses the thermal water, in this case for bathing and spa treatments. The Crescent 
redevelopment is expected to play an important role in the regeneration of the town.   

1.2.3 Another mineral water source relatively recently discovered is Rockhead spring located just outside 
Buxton near Cowdale. This is licenced and used for bottled water production.   

1.2.4 Therefore, water quality or flow impacts to the Buxton mineral waters could be irreparable and 
cause significant economic damage to the town of Buxton and nationally. 

1.2.5 EU legislation and its transposition into regulations for England and Wales2 require that natural 
mineral waters to be used as bottled water are subject to specific requirements, for example, that 
they must be drawn from a specified source which is protected from pollution and that the water 
can only be treated to remove certain naturally-occurring elements before bottling.  

1.2.6 It is therefore vital that the water quality is protected and that the objectives of the policies in the 
Local Plan are met.   

The type of sources, location of sources and how the water arrives at those locations  

1.2.7 Thermal springs are rare in Britain. The Buxton Thermal Springs have been used since Roman times 
and have a long history of use as a mineral water and spa.  They consist of a series of springs that 
discharge at temperatures up to 27.50C through Carboniferous Limestone in the vicinity of The 
Crescent in Buxton.  The location of the springs suggests that the thermal water is capped beneath 
younger strata (shales and sandstones) that exist to the north of The Crescent.  The thermal water 
emerges at the ground surface where the younger rocks are thin or absent.   

1.2.8 The thermal water is unpolluted and has unique chemical characteristics that distinguish it from the 
non-thermal groundwater. The thermal springs are understood to originate from the percolation of 
rainfall into a network of micro-fractures in the Carboniferous Limestone to reach a depth greater 
than 900m. The heated water then returns to the surface, probably following geological faults in the 
limestone strata, a process that takes some 5,000 years.   

1.2.9 Although the thermal water has a greater hydraulic head than the cold groundwater system, there 
is a delicate balance between the cold and thermal groundwater systems and the precise route of 
the waters though the limestone is not entirely known. There is therefore a need to avoid 
disturbing established flow pathways within the limestone in and around the Crescent.  Excavations, 
borehole drilling and piling have the potential to disturb groundwater flow pathways.  The 
construction works associated with creating an excavation or borehole also have the potential to 
cause contamination of the groundwaters, reducing groundwater quality and affecting their unique 
chemical characteristics.   

1.2.10 Rockhead Spring was recognised as a Natural Mineral Water in 2000.  The water is percolated 
through the Carboniferous Limestone similar to the thermal waters but it is not a thermal water and 
is different in composition to the thermal waters at Buxton. Like the thermal waters, the 
groundwater flow pathways through the Carboniferous Limestone are not precisely known.  Any 
excavations or building in the area around Rockhead Spring needs to consider the risk of 
disturbance or contamination to pathways through the limestone that the water moves through. 

The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and the impact of new homes in 
Buxton 

1.2.11 Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for plant and animal growth but it can 
have harmful effects on the ecology of rivers through a process called ‘eutrophication’ where there 

 
2 The Natural Mineral Water, Spring Water and Bottle Drinking Water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018. 

Page 68



 7  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

is an increase in mineral and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead 
to a reduction in dissolved oxygen and deterioration in conditions that affect the suitability of the 
habitat for certain species. For the River Wye the species affected are White-clawed crayfish, Brook 
lamprey and Bullhead. 

1.2.12 There are two principal anthropogenic sources of phosphorus in the River Wye: effluent discharges 
from sewage treatment works, and diffuse phosphorus pollution, mainly in runoff from agricultural 
land. The Wye Valley featuring the River Wye is a designated Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) 
which forms part of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC)3. SACs are amongst 
the most important and sensitive nature conservation sites and are afforded the highest levels of 
protection under the Habitat Regulations4. Whilst the Habitats Regulations derive from European 
legislation, like many European regulations and directives they continue to take effect having been 
adopted into UK law. Elevated levels of phosphorus can have a detrimental impact on the ecology 
and biodiversity of rivers, and therefore concentration limits have been set.5  

1.2.13 The water produced by housing is acknowledged as a having a direct effect on the amount of 
phosphate in the River Wye once it is discharged from wastewater treatment works (WwTW). The 
need for water efficiency measures to help reduce water produced by housing is therefore 
important to reduce stress on the sewerage system and enable efficient treatment to reduce 
phosphate discharged to the River Wye. 

1.3 Why this guidance is needed 

1.3.1 The High Peak Local Plan adopted in 2016 includes two specific policies that relate to water 
resource and quality in the Buxton area: 
 S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy 

 EQ1: Climate Change 

1.3.2 Although these policies set out the Council’s requirements in relation to mineral water resources, 
water quality, and water efficiency the guidance in this SPD sets out in greater detail: 
 The importance of the policies and why their objectives need to be met; 

 The different types of protection afforded to groundwaters; 

 The potential risk factors; 

 Types of development that may be particularly sensitive;  

 guidance that could be helpful to applicants when considering development proposals; and 

 practical measures that can be undertaken to meet water efficiency measures. 

1.3.3 Any development, whether it is subject to a planning application or not, must not negatively impact 
on the water quality of any receiving watercourse or groundwater. During the development 
process, developers should ensure that any proposal does not negatively deteriorate the ‘status’ of 
any nearby watercourse as defined under the Water Framework Directive (WFD).  An objective for 
the WFD is to prevent deterioration in ‘status’ for all waterbodies.  

 
3 See Appendix D for the location of the SAC and component Wye Valley SSSI. 
4 Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended)  
5 The Water Framework Directive target for phosphate load in the Wye is 0.015 mg/l. See: 
http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4589265656741888  

Page 69

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/file/4589265656741888


 8  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

1.3.4 The guidance contained in the SPD highlights the importance of water quality and resources in 
Buxton and guides developers and applicants to key resources that can inform development 
proposals at the outset of the design process. 

1.4 How to use this Supplementary Planning Document 

1.4.1 The approach set out within this SPD will ensure that water quality and resources within Buxton are 
considered through all stages of the development process in line with the policies of the Local Plan. 
This SPD should therefore be used by: 

 Developers and individuals considering new development, including changes of use for land, or 
engineering proposals; 

 Developers and individuals considering alterations or changes of use to existing sites/buildings; 
and 

 Design and engineering teams when preparing surface water drainage schemes. 

In turn, the Council will use the SPD to help consideration of planning applications and when 
selecting relevant planning conditions. 

1.4.2 The SPD should be read in conjunction with the Local Plan as a whole.  

1.5 How this Supplementary Planning Document is structured 

1.5.1 The SPD is structured as follows: 

 Section 2 – sets out the legislative and policy context 

 Section 3 – outlines the water protection zones and why they are important 

 Section 4 – provides guidance on pre-application advice 

 Section 5 – sets out guidance to help protect Buxton’s mineral waters 

 Section 6 – sets out how water efficiency measures can be achieved 

 

Page 70



 9  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

2. Legislation, planning policy and guidance  

2.1 Introduction 

2.1.1 Local planning policy is guided and influenced by European and national legislation as well as 
national planning policy. Sections 2.2 and Section 2.3 consider the European and national context 
respectively and Section 2.4 considers the local policy context.  

2.2 European and National Legislative Context 

The Water Framework Directive 

2.2.1 The Water Framework Directive establishes a framework for the protection of inland surface water, 
estuaries, coastal waters and groundwater. The Water Framework Directive – 2000/60/EC (WFD) 
came into force in England in 2003 via The Water Environment (Water Framework Directive) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2017. There are four main aims of the WFD: 

 To improve and protect inland and coastal waters; 

 To promote sustainable use of water as a natural resource; 

 To create better habitats for wildlife that lives in and around water; and 

 To create a better quality of life for everyone. 

2.2.2 The WFD sets out status objectives for each river in England. Buxton falls under the Humber River 
Basin Management Plan6. 

Groundwater Protection in Europe 

2.2.3 The Groundwater Directive 2006/118/EC was developed in response to the requirements of Article 
17 of the WFD and set out the technical specifications required for the protection of groundwater 
against pollution and deterioration.  

The Habitats Directive 

2.2.4 The Habitats Directive 92/43/EEC of 21 May 1992 has been transposed in UK law within the 
Conservation and Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as amended). The 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations seeks to protect biodiversity through the 
conservation of natural habitats and species of wild fauna and flora. 

2.2.5 Sections of the River Wye form part of the Wye Valley Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) - a 
component site of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC). Conservation 
Objectives have set for phosphate levels in the Wye to achieve good ecological status.  

2.2.6 The relevant caselaw must be considered where applicants are required to undertake a project-
based Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and impacts are identified. Of particular relevance 
are the ‘Dutch cases’7.  

 
6 Available via: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan 
7 Coöperatie Mobilisation for the Environment UA and Others v College van gedeputeerde staten van Limburg 
and Others (C-293/17 & C-294/17) 

Page 71

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan


 10  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Flood and Water Management Act 2010 

2.2.7 The Flood and Water Management Act 2010 (FWMA) places the responsibility for co-ordinating 
‘local flood risk’ management on the relevant county or unitary authority, making them a Lead 
Local Flood Authority (LLFA). In this context, the Act uses the term ‘local flood risk’ to mean flood 
risk from: 

 Surface runoff; 

 Groundwater; and 

 Ordinary watercourses 

The LLFA for High Peak is Derbyshire County Council. 

Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2018 

2.2.8 The purpose of these regulations is to protect human health and ensure a good quality of water for 
consumers. The Regulations transpose EU Directive 2015/1787 into law in England and are 
concerned with monitoring of mineral, spring and bottled drinking water. 

2.3 National Planning Policy Context 

National Planning Policy Framework 

2.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)8 sets out the Government’s aim for the planning 
system to enhance the natural and local environment by (NPPF, 2021: para. 174(d)):  

“preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable risk from, 
or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land 
instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions 
such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such as river basin 
management plans.” 

National Planning Practice Guidance 

2.3.2 National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)9 supports the implementation of the NPPF. The PPG 
provides a range of guidance on water supply, wastewater and water quality. Guidance is provided 
on considerations for planning applications, including: 

 Water supply; 

 Water quality; 

 Assessing impacts on water quality; 

 Particular considerations that apply in areas with inadequate wastewater infrastructure; and  

 Where information can be found on the water environment. 

 
8 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) National Planning Policy Framework. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-framework--2 
9 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2019) Planning Practice Guidance is available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality  

Page 72

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality


 11  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

2.3.3 Applicants should have regard to the NPPF and PPG when preparing development proposals. The 
Council will have regard to the NPPF and PPG when determining applications. 

2.4 Local Planning Policy Context 

2.4.1 The Local Plan sets out policies related to the protection of water quality and supply specifically in 
relation to the Buxton Sub-area. The policies that this SPD supports are: 

Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy  

2.4.2 Policy S7 seeks to establish Buxton as England’s leading spa town and consolidate its role as the 
principal service centre for the Peak District. It seeks to protect and enhance “the unique character 
of Buxton’s spa heritage, townscape and natural environment to maintain the quality of life and act 
as a catalyst for tourism by” (amongst other things): 

 Protecting the quality and supply of natural mineral water. Development, including proposals for 
Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) should have regard to the Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Area, and Nitrate Vulnerable and Groundwater Source Protection Zones in terms of 
their impact on water quality and quantity 

 Requiring new development to demonstrate compliance with Policy EQ1 in relation to the 
adoption of high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and minimise water 
consumption 

 Working with partner organisations through the River Wye Water Pollution Plan to protect water 
quality on the River Wye SSSI which is a component of the Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC) 

Policy EQ1: Climate Change 

2.4.3 Policy EQ 1 provides for increased water efficiency in new housing10 reflecting the need to support 
measures that help to reduce phosphate loading in the River Wye; and more broadly, support 
sustainable use of water resources. With regards to water quality and efficiency within Buxton the 
policy states that: 

 Applications for new build residential development in the Buxton Sub-Area should meet the 
optional national technical requirement for water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day to 
minimise the phosphate load to the River Wye via discharges from the Buxton Sewage Treatment 
Works, unless it can be demonstrated that doing so would adversely impact on a scheme’s 
viability;  

And additionally, it outlines that a low carbon future will be achieved by (amongst other things): 

 Supporting high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and minimise water 
consumption. 

2.4.4 In addition to these policies, Policy EQ 10: Pollution Control and Unstable Land sets out the Council 
approach to protect people and environment from unsafe, unhealthy and polluted environments, 
including in relation to watercourses and groundwater. 

 
10 Guidance on the higher housing optional technical standards that are adopted in the Local Plan is available here: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards  

Page 73

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/housing-optional-technical-standards


 12  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

3. Water Protection Areas  

3.1 Types of water 

Natural Mineral Water  

3.1.1 As described in Section 1.2, there are two recognised natural mineral waters arising in and close to 
Buxton: The thermal waters at St Ann’s Spring and associated springs arising close to or under the 
Crescent in Buxton; and Rockhead Spring.   

3.1.2 Natural mineral water is the statutory name for a specific type of water that comes from a named 
underground source that has a constant flow, is pure and has a consistent mineral composition. 
Natural mineral water must be officially recognised through a local authority after a qualifying 
period of two years. Natural mineral water must also be registered with the Food Standards 
Agency.  Once registered the water becomes subject to control under the Natural mineral water, 
spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018 which includes 
restrictions such as a prohibition on chemical additives and certain labelling requirements. 

3.1.3 The natural mineral waters of Buxton should not be confused with ‘spring water’, ‘table water’ or 
‘prepared water’. Spring Water is similar to natural mineral water and comes from a single non-
polluted ground water source, however, unlike natural mineral water there is no formal recognition 
process required although it must still be registered with the local authority. 

3.1.4 Many natural mineral waters begin their lives as spring waters trading as such during the two year 
testing period. Unlike natural mineral waters, spring waters may undergo limited, permitted 
treatments but like natural mineral waters must comply with the bottled drinking water regulations.  
Table or prepared waters can originate from any type of supply, including public water supply, be 
from more than one source, and can also be treated to comply with chemical or microbiological 
safety requirements or to add minerals. They require no official approval or authentication but are 
also subject to the bottled drinking water regulations. 

Water Framework Directive (WFD) water bodies  

3.1.5 The overall objective of the WFD is to establish a framework for protecting water bodies (rivers, 
lakes, estuaries and groundwater) based on a quantitative assessment of their ecological and 
chemical condition. The WFD seeks to achieve Good status in all water bodies. 

3.1.6 The River Wye and its catchment in the Buxton sub-area is a water body recognised by the WFD 
(ref. GB104028058460, name Wye from Source to Monk's Dale11). The current status of the Wye 
from Source to Monk's Dale water body is Moderate based on the assessment of both its ecological 
and chemical condition. Phosphate from sewage treatment works is identified as the most probable 
reason for the water body not achieving Good status but it is recognised that septic tanks and 
surface run off from farming also contribute.   

3.1.7 Two WFD groundwater bodies are also defined for the Buxton sub-area:  

 Derwent - Carboniferous Limestone (ref. GB40401G103100) to the south and east. Buxton 
thermal springs emerge from this groundwater body;  

 
11 Environment Agency Catchment Data Explorer. Available via: https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-
planning/WaterBody/GB104028058460 

Page 74

https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028058460
https://environment.data.gov.uk/catchment-planning/WaterBody/GB104028058460


 13  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

 Derwent - Secondary Combined (ref. GB40402G990400) which is a large waterbody that loops 
around the north, west and east extending well beyond the Buxton Sub-area. 

3.1.8 Both water bodies have overall Poor status due to having Poor chemical status as a result of 
pollution from abandoned mine workings.  However, this occurs outside the Buxton Sub area.  Both 
water bodies have Good quantitative status.   

3.2 Source Protection Zones (SPZ) 

3.2.1 Source Protection Zones (SPZ) are identified by the Environment Agency to protect sources of 
drinking water such as wells, boreholes and springs. The Environment Agency uses SPZ as an initial 
screening tool to identify areas in which some activities or developments may potentially adversely 
affect groundwater intended for human consumption.   

3.2.2 SPZ around location sites are defined by groundwater travel time to an abstraction site using 
information on geology type, rainfall and hydrological boundaries. SPZ are divided into the 
following based on how long it takes for pollutants to travel from the water below ground to the 
point where water is taken12: 

 SPZ1 (Inner Protection Zone) - This zone provides the highest level of protection for 
groundwater sources.  Buxton falls within SPZ1 because groundwater is able to flow very 
rapidly through fissures in some parts of the Carboniferous Limestone aquifer.  Rapid flow 
means that the time of travel for water in the ground is shorter so there is less opportunity for 
contamination to be filtered out or to break down.   

 SPZ2 (Outer Protection Zone) - This zone is larger than SPZ1 and provides protection from 
contaminants that take longer to break down in groundwater.   

 SPZ3 (Total Catchment) - This zone is defined as the total area needed to support the 
abstraction or discharge from the protected groundwater source.  

 SPZ4 (Zone of Special Interest) - These zones highlight areas (mainly on non-aquifers) where 
known local conditions mean that potentially polluting activities could impact on a 
groundwater source. 

3.2.3 The Buxton Sub-area falls with SPZ:1. The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection 
(2018)13 sets out position statements relevant to potentially polluting activities and development 
within SPZ1 and provides an indication of the risk to groundwaters and means of mitigating those 
risks.  Within this SPZ is an area along the northern boundary defined by the Environment Agency 
as an SPZ1c area. This means that within this area the Environment Agency will filter surface 
activities but continue to assess on an individual basis whether controls need to be applied to sub-
surface excavations, based on the nature of and depth of excavation. 

3.2.4 The Council recognises the importance of the SPZ within Policy S7 and requires all development to 
have regard to its importance. Figure 3.1 shows the extent of the Buxton SPZ.  

3.2.5 Applicants should refer to the Council’s interactive mapping service via: 
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map.  

 

 
12 Guidance on SPZs and how they are defined can be found via: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/groundwater-source-
protection-zones-spzs#find-groundwater-spzs  
13 Environment Agency (2018) Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

Page 75

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/groundwater-source-protection-zones-spzs#find-groundwater-spzs
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/groundwater-source-protection-zones-spzs#find-groundwater-spzs
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


 14  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Figure 3.1 Buxton’ s Source Protection Zone 

 

3.3 Areas of Sensitivity 

3.3.1 The Council has undertaken further hydrogeological work to understand the vulnerability of 
thermal springs within the Environment Agency’s SPZ to help inform the implementation of Policy 
S7. This work has involved detailed consideration of past and present studies into the geology 
underlying Buxton to give an estimation of likely sensitivity in relation to the depth of shale 
overlying the limestone through which the waters flow.  This is of import because any potential 
incursion or intrusion into the limestone could contaminate or disrupt flow to the thermal waters.  
The outcome of this work is the identification of two additional protection areas (see Figure 3.2): 

 Core Protection Area – within 250m of known thermal groundwater associated with Buxton 
thermal springs, older rock is estimated to be less than 25m thick, and the ground area below 
300m AOD (‘above ordinance datum’); and 

 Extended Protection Area – within 500m of known thermal groundwater associated with 
Buxton thermal springs and where the older rock is estimated to be less than 100 m thick. 

Page 76



 15  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

The Core and Extended Protection Areas lie wholly within the Inner Groundwater Source Protection 
Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton thermal springs.   

3.3.2 When considering planning applications, the Council will use these areas to help determine 
whether the application needs greater consideration for the potential impacts on the thermal 
springs (in accordance with Policy S7 objectives). Further specific practical guidance for the 
application of the areas when considering development that comprise drilling or excavations is set 
out in Section 5 and Appendix A and B.

Page 77



 16  

   
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Figure 3.2 Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 78



 17  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

3.4 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area 

3.4.1 The Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area is shown in Figure 3.3. The Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Area is an indicator of where the thermal spring waters are thought to originate.  The 
catchment was drawn up based on best knowledge over 20 years ago and while it retains value 
because precise boundaries and routes of waters are not completely known, it is considered that 
the Core and Extended Protection Areas in combination with the Environment Agency’s SPZ form a 
more accurate current understanding of the geological position where these overlap.  Given the 
importance of safeguarding the mineral water sources a precautionary approach to water 
protection is considered appropriate. 

3.4.2 In addition, for areas that lie only within the Buxton Mineral Water Mineral Catchment area 
consideration must still be given to protecting mineral water sources in accordance with Local Plan 
Policy S7. Furthermore, less is known about the dynamics of the water system and geology serving 
Rockhead Spring which must also be safeguarded and where the Codes of Practice are not 
applicable, although the SPZ may be. 

3.4.3 Applicants should refer to the Buxton Mineral Catchment Area on the Council’s interactive mapping 
service via : https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map.  

Figure 3.3 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones  

3.5.1 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones (NVZ) are areas designated as being at risk from agricultural nitrate 
pollution. Within NVZs farmers and land managers are required to take steps to prevent manure, 

Page 79

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-map


 18  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

fertiliser and soil getting into watercourses to prevent diffuse water pollution.14 The Buxton Sub-
area does not currently include part of an NVZ but NVZ designations are reviewed every four years. 

3.5.2 Land owners can find out if their land is included in a NVZ via the Environment Agency’s online 
mapping services: https://environment.data.gov.uk/farmers/.  

 

 
14 Government guidance for land owners and farmers is available via: www.gov.uk/guidance/rules-for-farmers-and-land-
managers-to-prevent-water-pollution    

Page 80

https://environment.data.gov.uk/farmers/
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/rules-for-farmers-and-land-managers-to-prevent-water-pollution
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/rules-for-farmers-and-land-managers-to-prevent-water-pollution


 19  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

4. Pre-Application Advice  

4.1 Roles and responsibilities 

4.1.1 Pre-application advice helps developers and applicants understand the water management issues 
relating to their proposal in advance of a planning application being submitted. Additionally, 
engagement with the Council can establish what type of planning approval is required and the 
relevant supporting studies or documentation that should be submitted with the application to 
demonstrate the suitability of a proposal. 

4.1.2 To ensure that applications are validated and determined in a timely manner it is important to 
include the relevant information required by the Council.  Applicants are therefore advised to 
consult with the Council utilising the pre-application service for any form of development, and 
particularly, where development may have the potential to impact on water resources.   

4.1.3 In particular, within the Core and Extended Protection Areas advice from a hydrogeologist may be 
helpful as a preliminary step.  Developers may find it helpful to consider the Codes of Practice as 
set out in Section 5 at an early stage of development planning. 

4.1.4 The Council’s pre-application advice service can be found via:  
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings  

4.1.5 There is no charge for pre-application advice for householders. 

Additional advice 

4.1.6 For significant proposals, applicants should engage the relevant national organisations of Natural 
England and the Environment Agency (EA) prior to the submission of a planning application. 
Additionally, in some cases applicants will need to secure environmental permitting approvals from 
the Environment Agency. This should be sought at the earliest opportunity.  

Page 81

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings


 20  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5. Protection of mineral water sources in Buxton 

5.1 Types of development: 

Drilling boreholes and digging shallow excavations 

5.1.1 There is a need to avoid changes to hydraulic pressure that could affect the balance between the 
cold and thermal groundwater systems. Excavations into the underlying Carboniferous Limestone 
could potentially present a risk to mineral waters and result in changes to groundwater flow. There 
may also be risks of contamination of the underlying aquifer. 

Legal Requirements to protect groundwater quality  

5.1.2 Under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended) 
(Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016) from here on)  it is a criminal offence to “cause or 
knowingly permit” groundwater to become polluted. Penalties include fines, imprisonment or both.  

5.1.3 As well as legal requirements not to pollute groundwaters, civil liability may also follow where 
mineral waters are adversely affected by the activities of a third party which could be substantial.  
Developers should take their own advice in this regard and take out appropriate insurance for 
works they may wish to carry out in advance. 

Boreholes 

5.1.4 Policy S7 protects the quality and supply of natural mineral water in the Buxton Sub-area. In order 
to achieve this the Council applies a precautionary approach to the drilling of boreholes within the 
Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area (Figure 3.2). Borehole drilling in these areas can 
adversely impact the Buxton thermal springs.  

5.1.5 If the proposed drilling location has the potential to be contaminated there is a risk that the 
borehole could lead to pollution of groundwater and migration of contaminants to Buxton Thermal 
Springs, a borehole also has the potential to alter the dynamics of the aquifer and groundwater 
systems.   

5.1.6 The Council requests that prior to undertaking any works, developers and applicants follow the 
guidance set out in Code of Practice: Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 
(see Appendix A).  In summary and in accordance with the Code of Practice, the Council requests 
that the following is undertaken by a person qualified in hydrogeology or geoenvironmental 
engineering and having experience of completing hydrogeological desk studies and groundwater 
risk assessments prior to any works:  

i. Desk study to collate and understand background information. This should identify sensitivity 
of proposed drilling location and the local geology/hydrogeology/hydrology conditions  

ii. Risk assessment to understand the risks to the Buxton Thermal Springs from the proposed 
activities. It should include consideration of; 

 The likelihood of encountering thermal water; 

 The likelihood of introducing near surface contamination into the Carboniferous Limestone 
aquifer; 

Page 82



 21  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 The likelihood of contaminating the Carboniferous Limestone by the drilling process, either 
by causing turbidity or by accidental contamination from the drilling equipment; and 

 The likelihood that the groundwater system will be disturbed and affect the balance 
between the thermal and cold groundwater systems. 

iii. Method Statement which demonstrates that the activities can be conducted safely without 
detriment to the Buxton thermal springs, including appropriate actions if thermal groundwater is 
encountered. If the drilling could result in contamination or disturbance of the groundwater 
regime and affect water quality in the Buxton thermal springs, the drilling method, borehole 
design and, if required, monitoring should provide adequate mitigation.  The approach to be 
taken should be prepared and discussed with the Council, as abstraction licensee holder and 
appropriate regulators. The Method Statement should include coverage of technical 
requirements relating to: 

 Supervision 

 Materials  

 Inspection Pits 

 Drilling Methodology, focusing on: 

o Drilling Method to ensure risks are minimised; 

o Groundwater Temperature/ Artesian Conditions recording; 

o Drilling equipment; 

o Drilling fluid; 

o Borehole Casing and backfill material; 

o Cleaning Equipment; 

o Waste Collection and Disposal; and 

o Fuel Storage and plant refuelling. 

5.1.7 The recommended approach to be taken in order to prepare the Desk Study, Risk Assessment 
and Method Statement, including the technical requirements, is described in the Code of Practice: 
Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs (see Appendix A).  

Shallow excavations 

5.1.8 All excavations greater than 600mm could potentially affect the quality of the thermal spring within 
the Core Protection Area. The laying of cables and excavation for shallow foundations can therefore 
be considered as risks to groundwater quality.  

5.1.9 When undertaking shallow excavations a precautionary approach is required. Ideally, such activities 
would be avoided within the Core Protection Area (see Figure 3.2). 

5.1.10 However, if such activities are to be completed the Council requests that Applicants follow 
guidance set out in the Code of Practice: Shallow Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal 
Springs (see Appendix B). A similar approach is taken to boreholes (set out above) where a Desk 
Study, Risk Assessment, which must consider Buxton thermal springs as a receptor, and Method 
Statement are prepared before any works undertaken. The Method Statement should include 
coverage of the following technical requirements relating to: 

Page 83



 22  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 Supervision; 

 Materials; 

 Probe holes to determine ground conditions before excavation commences; 

 Excavation Methodology: 

o Method; 

o On-site Plant; 

o Waste Collection and Disposal; 

o Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling. 

5.1.11 The approach that is recommended is to be taken in order to prepare the Desk Study, Risk 
Assessment and Method Statement, including the required technical requirements, is described in 
the Code of Practice: Shallow Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs (see Appendix 
B).  

Excavation of basement extensions or developments including subterranean basements 

5.1.12 Basement developments have the potential to make land become more efficient, especially in areas 
where developable land is limited. However, there is also a perception that such developments can 
impact on the structural integrity of a building(s) and nearby infrastructure and unduly intensify 
development.  

5.1.13 Within the Buxton sub-area, the Council is also concerned about the potential for basements and 
subterranean development to cause harm to groundwater water quality and impact on the thermal 
spring. 

5.1.14 As set out within this SPD, the groundwaters of Buxton are particularly sensitive to ground 
excavations. Therefore, the Council expects applicants to follow the same approach as set out in 
Section 5.2 with regards to excavations to demonstrate that basement development proposals 
comply with the requirements of Local Plan Policy S7. This involves appropriate preparation of Desk 
Study, Risk Assessment and Method Statement to inform development proposals. 

Planning Permission 

5.1.15 Refurbishment or conversion of an existing basement may not require planning permission unless 
there are engineering works or other development involved, which would then require planning 
approval.   

5.1.16 It is the Council’s view that while the General Permitted Development Order (2015)15 may allow 
some basement developments without planning permission it is unlikely to apply to basement 
developments in the Buxton sub area where technical engineering solutions are likely to be 
required; as they would for any basement to be constructed with the SPZ, Buxton Mineral Water 
Catchment Area, Core or Extended Protection Areas. This is because the permitted development 
rights do not apply to engineering works. 

5.1.17 However, as the General Permitted Development Order is updated regularly, it is advised that 
specialist planning advice is taken.  Applicants are also advised that before undertaking any form of 

 
15 Available via: http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made  

Page 84

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/596/contents/made


 23  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

basement development or works to existing basements that they consult with the Council utilising 
the pre-application service.16  

5.2 When additional conditions to prevent pollution of water sources 
may be required over and above permitting requirements  

5.2.1 In some circumstances the Council may apply certain conditions when granting planning 
permission to ensure that water quality and resources are not compromised. Such conditions exist 
to mitigate the adverse impacts of a development that may otherwise have been refused planning 
permission.  

5.2.2 It is important to note that NPPF (2021: para 56) states that planning conditions should only be 
imposed where they are ‘necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted, 
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects.’ Applicants should be aware that the 
Council considers the water resources of the Buxton Sub-area to be of significance for both the 
environment and economy of Buxton, as demonstrated by Local Plan policies EQ1 and S7 and the 
further guidance set out in this SPD, and will seek to implement appropriate conditions as 
necessary.  

5.2.3 Template examples of planning conditions that may be applied to development in the Buxton sub-
area can be found in Appendix C. The list provided is not exhaustive and will depend on the 
development proposed.  

5.2.4 Applicants are advised to make use of the Council’s pre-application service as it may be possible to 
discuss potential conditions that may be attached if the development is granted approval. 

5.3 Other regulatory consents that may be required when planning 
consent may not be needed 

5.3.1 Planning consent may not be required in all circumstances (dependent on permitted development 
rights). A range of consents and permits may be required to undertake works outside of the 
planning framework. If pollution is caused by actions or development outside the scope of the 
planning system or building regulations, the Environment Agency has a range of enforcement 
powers for incidents of water pollution17.  

5.3.2 Under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016), a permit is required for most discharges of 
potentially polluting liquids into or onto the ground (i.e. to groundwater) or into surface waters 
(such as rivers or streams). The Environment Agency can provide some free planning advice if the 
proposed development is in a flood zone, close to a main river, on contaminated land or handles 
waste or hazardous substances but also offer an enhanced paid for service.18  

 
16 For further detailed advice and information on Permitted Development Rights please refer to:  
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings There is no charge for pre-application advice 
for householders.  
17 Through the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016, Environmental Damage (Prevention and 
Remediation) (England) Regulations 2015 and Water Resources Act (as amended) 1991. 
18 Environment Agency (2018) The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

Page 85

https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Planning_conditions
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Planning
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Development
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/hp/council-services/planning-and-buildings
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


 24  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5.3.3 Applicants are also advised to consult the good practice guides produced by the Environment 
Agency if the development is intending to use Ground Source Heating and Cooling19 whilst any 
vertical borehole drilling for ground source heat pumps should follow guidance in Section 5.1. 
There is potential for adverse effects on groundwater quality that need to be considered. 

5.3.4 Other regulatory consent or permits that may need to be obtained include: 

 European Protected Species 

o European Protected Species receive full protection under law20. Applicants should apply to 
Natural England and seek advice from an experienced professional ecologist to determine if 
surveys within the development site may be required. Applicants must also address other 
ecological impacts/considerations, such as impacts on other protected species, priority 
habitats or species, where relevant. 

 Flood Defence Consents 

o Such consents exist to ensure that any development does not increase flood risk. Applicants 
should consult with the Environment Agency if the proposed development is within a flood 
risk area. 

 Hazardous Substances Consents 

o Any site which needs to use or store hazardous substances such as chlorine, hydrogen, or 
natural gas, at or above certain thresholds, requires a hazardous substance consent (HSC) 
before it can operate.21  

 Party Walls 

o A wall is a "party wall" if it stands astride the boundary of land belonging to two (or more) 
different owners. Some kinds of work carried out to a property may not be controlled by the 
Building Regulations, but may be work which is covered by the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. This 
is a separate piece of legislation with different requirements to the Building Regulations22.  

 Building Regulation consent 

o Building regulation consent or notification is required for many forms of development under 
the Building Act 1984. To check whether consent or notification is required developers are 
asked to check the Council’s website where further information may be found. 

5.3.5 This list is not exhaustive or necessarily applicable to every development. Developers will need to 
ensure that all applicable consents are in place prior to undertaking any work.   

5.3.6 As well as any regulatory permits or consents that may be required developers or contactors may 
also incur civil liability for any harm to established water ownership rights that may exist and are 
advised to seek insurance cover for any works carried within the extended protection area and/or 
SPZ where a risk of harm to the water source is possible. 

 
19 Environment Agency - Environmental good practice guide for ground source heating and cooling. Available via: 
https://www.gshp.org.uk/pdf/EA_GSHC_Good_Practice_Guide.pdf  
20 The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 2017. 
21 The list of current hazardous substances can be found via: 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/627/schedule/1/made     
22 If applicants are unsure regarding party walls they should consult https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-
1996-guidance.  

Page 86

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/40/contents
https://www.gshp.org.uk/pdf/EA_GSHC_Good_Practice_Guide.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2010/490/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/627/schedule/1/made
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/party-wall-etc-act-1996-guidance


 25  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5.4 Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)   

5.4.1 Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDs) can support the effective drainage of surface waters but it is 
important that they do not affect groundwater quality or water quality on the River Wye SSSI.  
Technical standards for SuDs can be found within Defra’s Sustainable Drainage Systems: Non-
statutory technical standards for sustainable drainage systems (March 2015)23. These standards 
should be used in conjunction with the NPPF and PPG. The standards reflect the need to reduce 
flood risk from surface water, improve water quality, improve the environment and also ensure that 
the SuDS systems are robust, safe, and affordable. The National Standards set out the requirements 
for the design, construction, operation and maintenance of SuDS in England. 

5.4.2 SuDS need to be designed to remain safe and accessible for the life-time of the developments they 
serve, as well taking into account future amenity and maintenance requirements. Details should be 
provided which demonstrate the future management, funding and maintenance of the entire 
scheme. Where necessary the Council will apply conditions to ensure SuDs are maintained and 
remain safe over the lifetime of the development. 

5.4.3 The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection24 requires a hydrogeological risk 
assessment to be completed for SuDS within SPZ1 to show that pollution of groundwater will not 
occur and that the SuDS will not pose an unacceptable risk to the potable groundwater source.  
Discharges via boreholes or deep infiltration systems which result in a direct discharge to 
groundwater are to be avoided. Shallow systems should provide attenuation of any pollutants 
before they reach the groundwater. The Council will require evidence of the risk assessment has 
been undertaken when applying for permission for SuDs within SPZ1.  

5.5 Septic tanks 

5.5.1 As required by Local Plan policies and the NPPF, new development proposals must demonstrate 
that there is no adverse impact on water quality. The Council is concerned septic tanks could affect 
the groundwater quality in the Buxton sub-area and may impact upon the condition of the Peak 
District Dales SAC. 

5.5.2 Foul drainage from new developments should be connected to the public sewer. Only where all 
other options have been exhausted and connection to the public sewer is not possible should 
alternative non-mains drainage solutions be considered.  

5.5.3 Septic tanks should only be considered by developers if it can be clearly demonstrated by the 
applicant that discharging into a public sewer to be treated at a public sewage treatment works or 
a package sewage treatment plant is not feasible (taking into account cost and/or practicability).25 
The associated shallow infiltration systems should be designed to provide appropriate attenuation 
of any pollutants before they reach groundwater. 

 
23 Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-
drainage-technical-standards.pdf  
24 Environment Agency (2018) The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf 
25 Planning Practice Guidance Paragraph: 020 Reference ID: 34-020-20140306. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality  

Page 87

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415773/sustainable-drainage-technical-standards.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-supply-wastewater-and-water-quality


 26  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

5.5.4 The Environment Agency’s General Binding Rules for Small Sewage Discharges26 prevent the use of 
septic tanks within 50 m of a SAC, within 30 m of a public foul sewer or within Groundwater SPZ1.  
The practical effect of these restrictions is that septic tanks within the Buxton sub-area will require 
permitting under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016).   

5.5.5 The Council advises that applicants should begin pre-permitting discussions or submit an 
application for a permit at the earliest opportunity with the Environment Agency as part of their 
pre-application enquiries. 

5.6 Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels 

5.6.1 Section D of the Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection (2018)27 sets out a 
position statement relevant to potentially polluting activities related to fuel and hazardous 
substances storage to prevent such substances being released into groundwaters. Applicants 
proposing developments in the Buxton area incorporating above ground storage of chemicals, 
fuels or bulk liquids, or will require such storage through construction or demolition, should ensure 
that the Environment Agency’s position statement is taken into account, the risks assessed and a 
scheme is in place for construction. 

5.6.2 In addition, any domestic, commercial and industrial development that may involve above ground 
fuel storage must ensure compliance with The Control of Pollution (Oil Storage) England 
Regulations (2001).  

 

 

 
26 Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (Defra) (2015) Reform of the regulatory system to control small 
sewage discharges from septic tanks and small sewage treatment plants in England. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397173/ssd-general-
binding-rules.pdf 
27 Environment Agency (2018) Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-
Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

Page 88

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397173/ssd-general-binding-rules.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/397173/ssd-general-binding-rules.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


 27  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

6. Water efficiency in Buxton 

6.1 Introduction 

6.1.1 Local Plan Policy EQ 1 supports high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and 
minimise water consumption in all new development across High Peak. Policies EQ1 and S7 
specifically support the implementation of water efficiency measures in new residential 
development within the Buxton Sub-area. The policies state that new residential development 
should achieve water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day. This is the more stringent ‘optional’ 
technical Building Regulations standard for water efficiency in recognition of the sensitivities of the 
water environment in Buxton.  

6.1.2 Policy EQ 1 also seeks the achievement of good BREEAM standards in non-residential development 
over 1,000m2 unless it can be demonstrated that it is not technical feasibility or financially viable 
(BREEAM incorporates measures of water efficiency in non-residential development as one of a 
range of sustainable design factors).  

6.2 Water efficiency in residential development  

6.2.1 The policy requirement for higher standards of water efficiency aims to reduce the phosphate load 
on the River Wye to meet targets established through the WFD and Habitats Directive to meet the 
protected areas objectives in the Humber River Basin Management Plan (2015);28 and support the 
achievement of greater sustainability of water resources (in line with climate change elements of 
the rest of the policy). The Council therefore expects that new residential development complies 
with the policy requirement. 

6.2.2 The achievement of 110 litres per person per day in residential development would achieve around 
a 20% reduction in the amount of water discharged to wastewater treatment works compared to 
the average water efficiency of around 143 litres per person per day29. The reduced flow of 
wastewater also reduces the flow of water through sewerage piping and connections which can 
support the efficiency of the system and reduce the number of leaks. 

6.2.3 A reduction in water usage does not lead to a directly equivalent reduction in phosphate load in 
rivers. The achievement of improved water efficiency would reduce the stress on the sewerage 
system, indirectly contributing to phosphate reduction in the River Wye and thereby reducing 
negative impacts on the ecological status of the Peak District Dales SAC. 

6.3 How new homes in Buxton can achieve a water efficiency of 
110 litres per person per day  

6.3.1 The incorporation of water efficient appliances supports positive behaviours for occupiers. There 
are a range of water efficient appliances that should be considered when designing new residential 
development. These include:  

 
28 Environment Agency (2015) Humber River Basin Management Plan. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan  
29 Discover Water (2019) Data for England and Wales Apr 2018–March 2019. Available via: 
https://discoverwater.co.uk/amount-we-use  

Page 89

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/humber-river-basin-district-river-basin-management-plan
https://discoverwater.co.uk/amount-we-use


 28  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

 Water efficient shower heads which use technology that can produce water flows that feel far 
higher than they are; 

 Reduced-capacity baths can support behaviour that reduces the amount of water used for 
baths; 

 Lower flow taps; 

 Low flush and dual flush toilets; 

 Water efficient dishwashers and washing machines. The installation of water efficient 
appliances supports the use of less water and less produced as wastewater. The Waterwise 
Marque provide recommendations on appliances that are water efficient. 

6.3.2 Developers should investigate the integration of these appliances. Further guidance on can be 
found from including Waterwise (www.waterwise.org.uk) and the Energy Saving Trust 
(www.energysavingtrust.org.uk). Additionally, developers should explore the Good Practice 
guidance provided by the Association for Environment Conscious Building (AECB) (www.aecb.net).   

6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption 

Water-sensitive design in new homes 

6.4.1 Strategies that should be considered to ensure new homes are able to meet the required water 
efficiency targets include: 

 Water-sensitive kitchens and bathrooms go beyond efficiency to consider the material contents 
of these rooms and how they are used.  In a water-sensitive bathroom, the shower might be 
replaced by a splash wash or a tilting bathtub, and the toilet fitted with a sink-to-
cistern connection or an air-flushing unit. 

 Water-sensitive gardens are outlined within the RHS’s Gardening for a Changing Climate 
(2017)30. Garden design can help ensure that water usage is kept to a minimum and lessens the 
need for the use of hosepipes by ensuring the gardens are suitably designed to ensure 
maximum water retention. 

6.4.2 It is expected that developers will signpost guidance for occupiers to encourage more efficient use 
of water.  

Rainwater Harvesting 

6.4.3 Rainwater harvesting is the re-use of water collected from roofs via traditional guttering, through 
down pipes to an underground tank(s) which would be possible in many areas in Buxton. There are 
a variety of systems that can be employed to harvest rainwater but typically the harvested water is 
delivered on demand by an in-tank submersible pump directly to toilets, washing machines and 
outside taps.  

6.4.4 Developers need to consider the possibilities of re-using and recycling surface water in as many 
ways as feasible. The safe implementation of water recycling can help to reduce the amount of 
phosphate and nutrients to surface waters, as well as conserving potable, drinking water, thereby 
providing economic and social benefits to communities (through reduced water bills) and 
supporting sustainable ways of living.  

 
30 Available from: https://www.rhs.org.uk/science/gardening-in-a-changing-world/climate-change  

Page 90

http://www.waterwise.org.uk/
http://www.energysavingtrust.org.uk/
http://www.aecb.net/
https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Practice-Theory-and-Human-Centered-Design%3A-A-Kuijer-Jong/92673cee349cc71d280c62713dc466afe567770a/figure/7
https://www.yankodesign.com/2013/03/22/water-saving-body-wash/
https://www.victorianplumbing.co.uk/iconic-combined-two-in-one-wash-basin-toilet?campaign=googlebase&gclid=CjwKCAjwusrtBRBmEiwAGBPgE1U5pLkcFVKpbuq-sYQhu_FnhdBkFtf3UJeNfW17DTA72tPTtJsWDBoCZrsQAvD_BwE&gclsrc=aw.ds
https://www.victorianplumbing.co.uk/iconic-combined-two-in-one-wash-basin-toilet?campaign=googlebase&gclid=CjwKCAjwusrtBRBmEiwAGBPgE1U5pLkcFVKpbuq-sYQhu_FnhdBkFtf3UJeNfW17DTA72tPTtJsWDBoCZrsQAvD_BwE&gclsrc=aw.ds
https://propelair.com/
https://www.rhs.org.uk/shows-events/rhs-chatsworth-flower-show/News/2017/Climate-change-garden
https://www.rhs.org.uk/science/gardening-in-a-changing-world/climate-change


 29  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

6.4.5 The Environment Agency has provided guidance on the regulatory position regarding rainwater 
harvesting which should be consulted before any systems are employed.31 Typically, residential 
systems will not require a licence from Environment Agency. Applicants seeking to install non-
residential systems should consult the Environment Agency.  

Water Recycling 

6.4.6 Greywater is typically defined as being wastewater from baths, showers, washing machines and 
sinks. It is estimated that this accounts for between 50% and 80% of a household’s wastewater (as 
opposed to ‘potable water’ which enters the house and is safe to drink).  

6.4.7 Greywater can be used for flushing toilets, watering plants and washing clothes. The re-use of 
greywater can support a reduction in the amount of waste water leaving the house, and therefore 
the amount of water required and the amount of water requiring treatment at wastewater 
treatment works (WwTW), supporting a reduction in phosphate load.  

6.4.8 Methods for greywater recycling include direct use, biological systems and mechanical filters. 
Typically, greywater reuse is more expensive than rainwater harvesting and requires that safeguards 
are in place to avoid pollutants entering surface waters. 

6.4.9 Developers should  explore opportunities to integrate water recycling into the design of new 
residential and non-residential development. 

6.4.10 Rainwater harvesting and water recycling may fall under the Private Water Supply Regulations 2016 
and 2018 (Amendment) Regulations and appropriately qualified persons should be consulted 
regarding the implications. 

6.5 How the water efficiency standard for residential development 
will be applied by the Council in Buxton 

6.5.1 Local Plan Policy EQ 1 states that new residential development in Buxton sub-area should meet the 
water efficiency standard of 110 litres per person per day.  

Viability  

6.5.2 The implementation of water efficiency measures should not in most cases have an undue effect on 
the cost of development. Defra’s Water Conservation Report (2018)32 states that “In many cases 
efficiency can be achieved at little cost to developers. Requiring all developers to build to the lower 
standard of 110 litres per person per day would only cost a maximum of £9 additional per dwelling” 
(pg.3). 

6.5.3 To demonstrate compliance with Policy EQ1, developers will be expected to clearly explain what 
measures they are going to implement and justify that the development is not viable if water 
efficiency measures are not proposed to be implemented. Given the ability of developers to 
integrate such measures at the earliest stages of design and specification, the Council considers 
that most residential development will be able to implement the water efficiency measures required 
to meet or exceed the target of 110 litres per person per day.  

 
31  Environment Agency (2019) Rainwater harvesting: regulatory position statement. Available via: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement/rainwater-harvesting-
regulatory-position-statement  
32 Defra (2018) Water conservation report: action taken and planned by government to encourage the conservation of 
water. Available via:https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-conservation-report-2018  

Page 91

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement/rainwater-harvesting-regulatory-position-statement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/water-conservation-report-2018


 30  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

Application of the water efficiency standards  

6.5.4 The Council will apply a planning condition(s) to all consented applications for new residential 
development in Buxton to ensure that the development implements the water efficiency measures 
required in the Local Plan. Each planning permission will include a condition that will reference the 
requirement to meet regulation 36(2)(b) of Part G2 of the Building Regulations 2015 (as amended). 
In line with Policies EQ 1 and S7 this applies to new residential development in the Buxton Sub-area 
where higher standards of efficiency are sought through the Local Plan. See template conditions 
provided in Appendix C. 

6.5.5 Approved Document G (2015 edition) sets out the regulatory requirements and guidance on 
achieving this option within the Regulations.  Appendix A of Approved Document G provides a 
Water Efficiency Calculator which aids achievement of these standards33. This water efficiency 
calculator should be used to inform design of new residential development. 

6.5.6 The Council encourages all developers to seek the highest levels of water efficiency in new 
residential development and is willing to work with applicants who seek to voluntarily deliver 
greater efficiency than required by Policies EQ1 and S7. 

6.6 How high standards of water efficiency and measures to recycle 
and minimise water consumption in non-residential development 
will be sought by the Council 

6.6.1 Policy EQ 1 supports the integration of high water efficiency standards and measures to recycle and 
minimise water consumption in all development. Policy S7 reaffirms that this applies within the 
Buxton sub-area. The Council encourages applicants for all non-residential development to explore 
water efficiency measures that could be incorporated at the earliest stages of design. The use of 
water efficient fittings and fixtures and appliances; water monitoring; water leak detection; 
rainwater harvesting and greywater recycling should be thoroughly explored.  

BREEAM standards and water efficiency for non-residential developments 

6.6.2 Under EQ 1 the Council requires BREEAM ‘good’ standard as a minimum for non-residential 
buildings over 1,000m2 subject to technical feasibility and financial viability. BREEAM incorporates 
water efficiency as one of the measurements for achieving the overall standard. At the application 
stage applicants should provide the design stage BREEAM assessment as part of the Design and 
Access Statement and demonstrate why the approach to water efficiency has been chosen. 
Alternatively, applicants are encouraged to set out clear justification for not achieving at least a 
‘good’ standard. 

6.6.3 The Council will apply a condition to new non-residential development over 1,000m2 to meet the 
BREEAM ‘good’ standard as a minimum for water usage (unless it has been demonstrated that the 
requirement is not technically feasible or financially viable). See template conditions provided in 
Appendix C. 

6.6.4 The Council encourages all applicants to explore BREEAM (and its water efficiency standards) for 
new non-residential developments under 1,000m2. 

 
33 The Water Efficiency Calculator is available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_
G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf    

Page 92

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/504207/BR_PDF_AD_G_2015_with_2016_amendments.pdf


 31  

   
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document 
 

Please note that the weblinks to other guidance and resources provided in the SPD are correct at the time of 
publication. However, the Council recognises that weblinks may change over time. Please contact the Council 
should you struggle to find a resource that has been identified. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 93



 A  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix A Code of Practice - Drilling of 
Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal 
Springs 

Page 94



 B  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix B Code of Practice – Excavations in 
the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 95



   C1  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix C  
Template planning conditions related to water 
issues 

Water efficiency and supply 

The dwelling(s) hereby permitted shall incorporate water efficiency measures to achieve usage of no more 
than 110 litres of water per person per day under regulation 36 2(b) set out in part G2 of the 2015 Building 
Regulations. No occupation of [any of] the dwelling[s] shall take place until a Building Regulations 
assessment confirms that the development has been constructed in accordance with regulation 36 2(b) of 
part G2 of the Building Regulations for water efficiency and has been submitted to and agreed in writing by 
the local planning authority. 

No development shall commence on site until details of the works for the provision of water for domestic use 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. No dwelling shall be first 
occupied until the approved water supply details have been fully implemented in accordance with the 
approved plans. Should water for domestic use be provided by a private water supply (i.e. not provided by a 
statutory water undertaker) no dwelling shall be first occupied until a risk assessment of the supply has been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA, to determine its suitability and sufficiency. 

No development unless a method statement has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Planning 
Authority, detailing all mitigation measures to be delivered to secure the quality, quantity and continuity of 
water supplies to properties which are served by private water supplies at the date of this consent and which 
may be affected by the Development. The method statement shall include water quality sampling methods 
and shall specify abstraction points. The approved method statement shall thereafter be implemented in full.  
 
No occupation of [any of] the development shall take place until an accredited Post Construction stage 
BREEAM assessment which confirms that the development has been constructed in accordance with the 
BREEAM score for water usage required in the planning permission has been submitted to and agreed in 
writing by the local planning authority. 
 
SuDS 

No works on site shall commence until a detailed drainage scheme (to include the disposal of surface water 
by means of sustainable methods of urban drainage systems) has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall only be implemented in accordance with such 
approved details. 

No dwelling hereby permitted shall be occupied until a sustainable drainage scheme for foul and surface 
water drainage from the site has been completed in accordance with the approved details. The sustainable 
drainage scheme shall be retained, managed and maintained for the lifetime of the development in 
accordance with a management and maintenance plan submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. 

The development shall not begin until details of a scheme for separate foul and surface water drainage, 
including any balancing works or off-site works, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Surface water must first be investigated for potential disposal through use of sustainable 
drainage techniques and the developer must submit to the Local Planning Authority a report detailing the 

Page 96



   C2  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

results of such an investigation together with the design for disposal of surface water using such techniques 
or proof that they would be impractical. The scheme would also be required to demonstrate that there is no 
resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The scheme so approved shall thereafter be implemented in 
full before the first occupation of the development. 

Prior to the commencement of development details of surface water drainage works shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Before these details are submitted an assessment 
shall be carried out of the potential for disposing of surface water by means of a sustainable drainage system 
and the results of the assessment provided to the Local Planning Authority. Where a sustainable drainage 
scheme is to be provided the submitted details shall: 

i) provide information about the design storm period and intensity, the method employed to delay 
and control the surface water discharged from the site and the measures taken to prevent 
pollution of the receiving groundwater and/or surface waters; 

ii) include a timetable for its implementation; and 

iii) provide a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which shall 
include the arrangements for adoption by any public authority or statutory undertaker and any 
other arrangements to secure the operation of the scheme throughout its lifetime. 

Prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby approved the surface water drainage works shall be carried 
out and the sustainable urban drainage system shall thereafter be managed and maintained in accordance 
with the agreed management and maintenance plan 
 

No infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground is permitted other than with the express written 
consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 
demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to controlled waters. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approval details. 

Basements and excavations 

Excavation must take place in accordance with the approved desk study, risk assessment and method 
statement for excavation (doc refs) prepared in line with the Council’s Code of Practice: Excavations in the 
Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs. The excavation works shall be undertaken in accordance with the 
approved method statement.  

If piling is necessary, a written method statement shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority. This 
method statement should be in line with the following:  

• Environment Agency guidance (Environment Agency (2001), Piling and Penetrative Ground 
Improvements on Land Affected by Land Contamination NC/99/73.  

• HPBC Code of Practice: Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

• HPBC Code of Practice Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

The effects of noise generation (hours of operation) should also be considered and should include noise 
mitigation measures consistent with best practical means. No piling shall take place until the method 
statement has been approved. 

No development shall take place before detailed drawings of all existing and proposed underground works, 
including foundations, drainage and those of statutory undertakers, have been submitted to, and approved 
in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Such details shall include the location, extent and depth of all 
excavations and these works shall be carried out and completed in accordance with the details as approved. 

Page 97



   C3  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 
1995 (or any Order revising, revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without modification), there shall be 
no enlargement or extension of the dwelling(s) hereby permitted, including basement development, without 
the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority. 

Fuel/Chemical Storage 

No development shall take place before a scheme for the construction of storage facilities for oils, fuels or 
chemicals has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme and be thereafter maintained. 

 

Sewage 

None of the [dwellings/buildings] hereby approved shall be occupied until works for the disposal of 
sewerage have been provided on the site to serve the development hereby permitted, in accordance with 
details to be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
 

Page 98



 D  

 
 
 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Appendix D  
Location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation 
This plan shows the location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and other 
designated nature conservation sites in the Buxton and wider area. The plan is correct at the time of 
adoption of the SPD but is subject to change. Applicants should use the latest mapping data from Natural 
England where necessary.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



 

   

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

 

 

Page 100



 1 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

 

Code of Practice   
Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal 
Springs 

 

 

1. General 

1.1 Scope 

This Code of Practice provides a source of advice on how to protect Buxton Thermal Springs from the effects 

of drilling activities that might affect the quality or flow of groundwater emerging from the springs.  It should 

be used whenever drilling activities are contemplated in either the Core Protection Area or the Extended 

Protection Area shown on Figure 1.  This restriction applies to any borehole drilled to a depth greater than 

600 mm at any diameter, using any technique and drilled for any purpose whatsoever including but not 

limited to site investigation, investigating structures or for water supply. 

A separate Code of Practice is available from High Peak Borough Council that describes the recommended 

approach for shallow excavations within the Core Protection Area.  Shallow excavations have the potential to 

influence Buxton Thermal Springs most significantly when in close proximity.  Therefore, the Code of 

Practice for shallow excavations applies only to the Core Protection Area. 

1.2 Background 

Thermal springs are rare in Britain. The Buxton Thermal Springs have been used since Roman times and 

have a long history of use as a mineral water and spa.  They consist of a series of springs that discharge at 

temperatures up to 27.5 degrees Celsius through Carboniferous Limestone in the vicinity of The Crescent in 

Buxton.  The location of the springs suggests that the thermal water is capped beneath Namurian strata 

(shales and sandstones, “Millstone Grit”) that exist to the north of The Crescent, with the thermal water 

emerging at the ground surface at the feather edge of the Namurian strata.  The thermal water is unpolluted 

and has unique chemical properties that distinguish it from the non-thermal groundwater.  The thermal 

springs are understood to originate from the percolation of rainfall into a network of micro-fractures in the 

Carboniferous Limestone to reach a depth greater than 900 m.  The heated water then returns to the 

surface, probably following faults in the limestone strata.   

The thermal water is bottled as Buxton Water, which is one of the best known Natural Mineral Water brands 

in UK.  The Crescent buildings have been regenerated as a Spa Hotel, which also uses the thermal water, in 

this case for bathing and spa treatments.   

Although the thermal water has a greater hydraulic head than the cold groundwater system, there is a 

delicate balance between the cold and thermal groundwater systems and the precise route of the waters 

though the limestone is not entirely known. There is therefore a need to avoid disturbing established flow 

pathways within the limestone in and around the Crescent.  Excavations, borehole drilling and piling have the 

potential to disturb groundwater flow pathways.  The construction works associated with creating an 

excavation or borehole also have the potential to cause contamination of the groundwater, reducing 

groundwater quality and affecting their unique chemical characteristics.   

  

Page 101



 2 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

1.3 Who the code is aimed at? 

This Code of Practice is aimed at landowners and occupiers, drillers, and supervising personnel who are 

considering conducting drilling activities within The Core Protection Area or the Extended Protection Area 

shown on Figure 1.  There is a risk that such activities within the areas identified may affect Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

1.4 How were the protection areas defined?  

The protections area were defined by considering the pathways for thermal groundwater emerging at Buxton 

Thermal Springs and the hydrogeological factors that affect the vulnerability of those pathways.   

The Extended Protection Area is defined by being within 500 m of known thermal groundwater associated 

with Buxton Thermal Springs and where the Namurian strata are estimated to be less than 100 m thick.  The 

northern and eastern limit of the Extended Protection Area follows the boundary of the Environment 

Agency’s Confined Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1c) for Buxton Thermal Springs.   

The Core Protection Area corresponds to the area where the Namurian strata are expected to be less than 

50 m thick, the ground level is below 300 m AOD and the location is within 250 m of known thermal 

groundwater associated with Buxton Thermal Springs.  The northern limit of the Core Protection Area follows 

the boundary of the Environment Agency’s Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

1.5 Further Information 

This document should be read in conjunction with other codes of practice, health and safety guides and 

British Standards in relation to excavations, drilling, installation and decommissioning of these schemes.  

These include the BS 5930:2015 (Code of practice for ground investigations). 

High Peak Borough Council’s Code of Practice Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

provides information, guidance and a list of requirements for managing potential effects from shallow 

excavations on Buxton Thermal Springs.   

The Core and Extended Protection Areas are wholly within the Inner Groundwater Source Protection Zone 

(SPZ1) for Buxton Thermal Springs.  The Environment Agency uses Source Protection Zones as an initial 

screening tool to identify areas in which some activities or developments have the potential to adversely 

affect groundwater intended for human consumption.  Environment Agency position statements relevant to 

potentially polluting activities and development within SPZ1 can be found in The Environment Agency’s 

approach to groundwater protection1.  Source Protection Zones are not statutory designations and the 

Environment Agency may not be required to permit the excavation works being proposed.  However, the 

Environment Agency’s position statements provide an indication of activities that pose a risk to groundwater 

and means of mitigating those risks.   

2. Fundamental Requirements 

2.1 General 

When drilling boreholes in sensitive areas, such as near to Buxton Thermal Springs, a precautionary 

approach is required.  Ideally, borehole drilling activities would be avoided altogether within the Core 

Protection Area and minimised within The Extended Protection Area.  However, if borehole drilling activities 

are to be completed in either Area, a risk assessment and method statement describing the approach to 

be taken should be prepared and discussed with High Peak Borough Council, as the owners and abstraction 

licensees of the Buxton Thermal Springs, and also appropriate regulators.  The recommended approach to 

preparing the risk assessment and method statement is described below. 

 
1 February 2018 Version 1.2 

Page 102



 3 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

No intrusive works should be completed until High Peak Borough Council has received a copy of the 

programme or works, including proposed starting date, and has approved the risk assessment and 

method statement provided.   

In case of emergency: telephone the Council on 01298 28400 

2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater 

Under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended) it is a criminal 

offence to “cause or knowingly permit” groundwater to become polluted.  Penalties include fines, 

imprisonment or both.  

If drilling for water abstraction purposes, a water abstraction licence is required from the Environment 

Agency where abstraction rates exceed 20 m3/day.  Registration with the local authority is required for any 

water abstraction used for private water supply under The Private Water Supplies (England) Regulations 

2016 and The Private Water Supplies (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018, whether licensed or not.   

As well as legal requirements not to pollute groundwaters, civil liability may also follow where mineral waters 

are adversely affected by the activities of a third party which could be substantial, particularly if guidance set 

out in this Code of Practice is not followed.  Developers should seek their own advice in this regard and take 

out appropriate insurance for works they may wish to carry out in advance. 

2.3 Desk Study and Risk Assessment 

The following steps should be carried out as a minimum: 

1. Desk study to collate and understand background information. 

2. Risk assessment to understand the risks to the Buxton Thermal Springs from the proposed activities. 

3. Method statement that demonstrates that the activities can be conducted safely without detriment to 

the Buxton Thermal Springs, including appropriate actions if thermal groundwater is encountered. 

4. Identify any requirements for regulatory consents, permits or notifications and requirements for 

notifications to/discussion with local stakeholders. 

The desk study, risk assessment and method statement must be completed or directly supervised by 

someone qualified in hydrogeology or geoenvironmental engineering and having experience of completing 

hydrogeological desk studies and groundwater risk assessments.   

A desk study review is intended to identify the sensitivity of the proposed drilling location.  It should consider 

the local geology/hydrogeology/hydrology conditions, particularly the depth to Carboniferous Limestone, 

proximity to known or expected thermal water, potential land contamination issues, proximity to water 

features such as River Wye, septic tanks, services etc.  The desk study review should also be used as the 

basis of preliminary discussions with stakeholders and other interested parties including regulators, 

conservation bodies, drillers and landowners.   

The risk assessment should include consideration of: 

 The likelihood of encountering thermal water 

 The likelihood of introducing near surface contamination into the Carboniferous Limestone 

aquifer 

 The likelihood of contaminating the Carboniferous Limestone by the drilling process, either by 

causing turbidity or by accidental contamination from the drilling equipment 

 The likelihood that the groundwater system will be disturbed and affect the balance between the 

thermal and cold groundwater systems 

For all risks identified, the method statement should identify appropriate good practice for the activity and 

appropriate mitigation measures reduce residual risks to Buxton Thermal Springs during and following the 

Page 103



 4 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

works to acceptable levels.  The method statement must show that the drilling method selected provides 

adequate mitigation for those risks and that there is sufficient monitoring to confirm the efficacy of the 

measures identified.   

If the drilling could result in contamination or disturbance of the groundwater regime and affect water quality 

in the Buxton thermal springs, the drilling method, borehole design and, if required, monitoring should 

provide adequate mitigation.   

There is a particular danger that any drilling fluid used could easily enter the limestone and cause particles 

that have been deposited within the fracture system to be lifted into suspension thereby causing the thermal 

water to be contaminated.  Such contamination could be carried into the bottling equipment or the treatment 

systems used in the Spa hotel. 

If the proposed drilling location has the potential to be contaminated there is a risk that the borehole could 

lead to pollution of groundwater and migration of contaminants to Buxton Thermal Springs.  Where possible, 

drilling through potentially contaminated materials within the Core or Extended Protection Areas should be 

avoided.  Where this is not possible, it is expected that work on potentially contaminated sites will follow the 

Environment Agency’s guide on managing risk from land contamination2.  The process set out in this guide 

includes a risk assessment, which must consider Buxton Thermal Springs as one of the receptors.  

Construction works are also likely to be preceded by investigatory work conducted according to BS 

10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites – Code of practice.  At potentially 

contaminated sites, separate method statements should be prepared for investigatory works (excavations 

and drilling) as well as for subsequent construction.  

3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement 

3.1 Supervision 

The drilling works should be supervised at all times by an experienced drilling supervisor/foreman who 

should hold a Blue Lead Driller Audit Card issued by the British Drilling Association.  In addition, all intrusive 

work should be under the overall supervision of a qualified hydrogeologist. 

3.2 Materials 

Prior to any drilling, a supply of bentonite pellets and bentonite powder sufficient to seal any incursions of 

thermal groundwater (15 degrees Celsius or greater) into the borehole should be provided on site.  The 

supply must be sufficient to seal the borehole and should be calculated in advance and presented in the 

method statement.   

3.3 Inspection Pits 

Inspection pits are commonly dug at a proposed borehole location after scanning with a Cable Avoidance 

Tool and signal generator to confirm the absence of buried services before starting mechanical drilling.  Such 

pits are usually hand dug or dug using vacuum extraction to a depth of around 1.2 m below ground surface.   

Guidance and requirements provided in the parallel Code of Practice Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton 

Thermal Springs should be consulted when preparing the part of the method statement concerned with 

digging inspection pits.  Specific actions may be required during the digging of inspection pits in the Core 

Protection Area.  Additional requirements for all inspection pits are as follows: 

 Excavated material shall be stored on thick polythene sheeting at the surface and replaced in 

the reverse order to that excavated.   

 No inspection pits are to be left open overnight.   

 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm  

Page 104

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


 5 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

 Should visual or olfactory evidence of contamination be identified in the inspection pit, the 

borehole should be relocated unless the method statement specifically includes measures for 

protecting groundwater from surface contamination during drilling.   

 Groundwater encountered during the excavation of inspection pits should not be allowed to 

enter natural water bodies or drains or to flow onto unprotected ground and cause seepage to 

the water table.  Groundwater shall not be allowed to spill outside the working area.  Where 

contaminated groundwater is encountered, disposal of waste water off-site will be required 

(Section 3.6).   

 In the unlikely event that groundwater encountered in the inspection pit has a temperature 

exceeding 15 degrees Celsius or rises to ground surface and overflows continually (flowing 

artesian conditions), the inspection pit must be sealed immediately using bentonite cement 

grout.  No borehole drilling should occur at this location.  High Peak Borough Council should be 

informed.   

3.4 Drilling Methodology 

Drilling Method 

The drilling method selected by the developer should be suitable for the intended purpose of the boreholes, 

whilst minimising the risk to Buxton Thermal Springs.  The risk assessment and method statement should 

describe how the risks associated with the selected method will be mitigated and explain how the selected 

method minimises risks in comparison to other suitable methods that could be employed safely at the site.   

If ground contamination is identified as a hazard to Buxton Thermal Springs, the method statement for the 

drilling works should ensure that the risk is minimised.  For example, it may be possible to mitigate the risk 

that contaminants migrate into the limestone aquifer from the surface using telescoping drilling methods. 

Groundwater and arisings should not be allowed to enter natural water bodies or drains or to seep onto 

unprotected ground and cause seepage to the water table.  Groundwater should not be allowed to spill 

outside the working area.   

A sealed lockable cover should be used to prevent the ingress of surface water and to protect the top of the 

borehole tubing.  The driller should not leave any boreholes open overnight – a temporary cap must be 

installed to prevent ingress of surface water, escape of groundwater (if groundwater naturally rises to ground 

surface in the borehole and overflows) and to secure the site.   

Groundwater Temperature and Flowing Artesian Conditions 

If groundwater is encountered in the borehole, the temperature of the water must be measured and recorded 

at regular intervals during drilling.  High Peak Borough Council should be notified immediately of any 

occurrence of groundwater at or exceeding 15 degrees Celsius. Drilling should be stopped and the borehole 

temporarily capped.  

If groundwater is encountered during drilling and that water subsequently rises to ground surface, resulting in 

an overflowing of water from the borehole (flowing artesian conditions) High Peak Borough Council should 

be notified immediately.  Drilling should be stopped and the overflow of water should be contained as soon 

as practicable by temporarily capping the borehole or otherwise preventing overflow (using bentonite for 

example).   

Monitoring records should be made available to High Peak Borough Council for inspection at the time of 

notification. 

In either case, the borehole could present an immediate risk to the Buxton Thermal Springs and urgent 

action is likely to be required.  The organisation responsible for drilling must present a course of action to 

High Peak Borough Council based upon information provided in the risk assessment and method statement 

for the works.  If High Peak Borough Council is not assured that the work can continue without posing risk to 

Buxton Thermal Springs, the borehole is to be sealed and backfilled.   

Page 105



 6 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

If the works includes boreholes to monitor the occurrence of thermal water, the design for these boreholes 

and the drilling procedure to be used must be set out clearly in the method statement.   

Drilling Equipment  

The equipment used in the construction of boreholes shall not introduce contamination and must be cleaned 

before arrival at the work site (see Cleaning Equipment below).  The rig and all supporting equipment such 

as generators and compressors shall be checked and confirmed free of oil or fuel leakage before the work at 

the site starts.  The method statement should detail the measures to be taken to avoid contamination of the 

aquifer by the drilling process.  Recommended minimum measures include: 

 The drilling rig, compressor and other equipment shall be supplied with drip trays and adsorbent 

matting to prevent loss of fuel or lubricant to the ground; 

 Air compressors (if used) shall be oil-free / have oil scrubbers installed  

 Oil lubricant provided to the drill shall be of a biodegradable vegetable composition designed for 

the purpose of drill lubrication; 

 Downhole equipment shall be lubricated using the minimum amount of biodegradable oil 

required.  

Drilling Fluid 

Drilling methods that do not introduce drilling fluid are preferred over those requiring pressurised or pumped 

fluids that could introduce contamination.  However, it is recognised that fluids will be necessary and 

justifiable for some types of drilling.  In those cases, the only drilling fluids acceptable for use are potable 

water or air.  No drilling fluid additives or muds (including bentonite) should be used during drilling.  Minimum 

bit pressure should be applied to achieve circulation.  No oils, greases or similar type lubricants should be 

used on boring or drilling tools unless of a biodegradable vegetable composition.   

Borehole Casing and Backfill material  

If casing is used, casing sections should be joined without the use of adhesive.  No oil, grease or other 

lubricant should be used when joining sections of casing.  

Aggregate used for backfilling the annular space around the casing or for filter pack must be washed with 

potable water, clean and free from contamination of any kind.  Materials used to backfill boreholes or to fill 

the annular space must be installed in a sequence that prevents upward or downward flow between different 

groundwater systems.  The uppermost part of all backfilled boreholes must be filled with bentonite cement 

grout to prevent ingress of runoff or contamination from the surface.  Similarly, the uppermost part of the 

annular space in boreholes with casing should be backfilled with bentonite cement grout and the headworks 

profiled to prevent ingress of liquids into the ground around the casing.   

Measures to ensure that bentonite cement grout does not contaminate the groundwater system during 

backfilling must be identified in the method statements.   

Water used to prepare grout should be of potable quality.   

Cleaning Equipment 

All equipment used in the drilling and construction of boreholes in the Extended Protection Area should be 

cleaned using potable quality water on arrival at site, before leaving site and prior to repositioning the 

equipment to begin the next hole.  Within the Core Protection Area, equipment should be disinfected after 

being cleaned.  Disinfectants used must be safe to use in potable water applications3, for example chlorine, 

hypochlorite or peracetic acid solution.  It should be noted that domestic forms of disinfectant such as 

perfumed sodium hypochlorite or Jeyes Fluid are specifically banned. 

 
3 Water UK, 2017.  Principles of Water Supply Hygiene, final version 1 October 2015 (updated 1 March 2017) 

Page 106



 7 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

Steam cleaning or jet washing is the most suitable technique for removing debris and contaminants and 

should be used at locations where the discharge water will not pose an environmental risk.  The wash-down 

area and method of cleaning should be identified in the method statement.   

Waste Collection and Disposal 

All drilling locations should be protected by plastic sheeting.  The method statement should describe the 

practical methods of containment of arisings and water at borehole and trial pit locations to protect 

groundwater, surface water courses and ground conditions in the event contamination is encountered. 

The method statement should describe how materials from the excavation will be collected, assessed for 

potentially contaminated material (if relevant) and disposed of in an appropriate manner. 

Where there is risk of encountering contaminated materials, arisings are to be collected in suitable 

containers and transferred to an appropriately licensed waste disposal facility.  Containers used for 

containment of waste arisings must be covered and in sound condition. 

Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling 

All refuelling of plant shall incorporate methods to prevent spillage to ground or groundwater.  Off-site re-

fuelling and storage of petroleum products and other hazardous materials is recommended.  If on-site 

refuelling is required it shall be undertaken on areas of hardstanding or over an impermeable surface, using 

a hand pump or similar method that minimises the risk of spillages.  All fuel containers shall be of suitable 

material and labelled.  All fuels stored on site must be in a lockable facility or container that is bunded to at 

least 110% of stored fuel capacity. 

 

Page 107



405000 405500 406000 406500

37
25

00
37

30
00

37
35

00
37

40
00

0 100 200 300 m1:6,000

December 2020

Code of Practice: Excavations in the Vicinity of
Buxton Thermal Springs

Figure 1.1

December 2020

Key
\\b

sl-
fs1

.gl
ob

al.
am

ec
.co

m\
sh

are
d\

Pro
jec

ts\
41

89
6 B

ux
ton

 H
yd

rog
eo

log
ica

l A
dv

ice
\D

 D
esi

gn
 Te

ch
nic

al\
Dr

aw
ing

s\4
18

96
-b

ri0
2_i

4.m
xd

   O
rig

ina
tor

: st
efa

n.b
ram

er

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776.
Scale at A3:

 41896-bri02_i4

Surface Water/ River Network

Core Protection Area (applies
to shallow excavations and
borehole drilling)
Extended Protection Area
(applies to borehole drilling
only)

P
age 108



 1 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

 

Code of Practice   
Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

 

 

1. General 

1.1 Scope 

This Code of Practice provides a source of advice on how to protect Buxton Thermal Springs from the effects 

of excavations (defined as any excavation greater than 600 mm below ground level) that might (or might 

conceivably) damage, contaminate, pollute, disrupt, interrupt or otherwise interfere with the thermal spring.  It 

should be used whenever excavations are planned within the Core Protection Area shown on Figure 1.   

The Code of Practice is provided for intrusive works that may be termed shallow excavations: for example 

trenching for laying cables or excavations for shallow foundations.  More substantial excavations in the 

vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs are likely to have greater impact on ground conditions and will therefore 

require additional measures beyond this Code of Practice to ensure the springs are protected.  Such 

excavations will require planning permission hence the potential risks to Buxton Thermal Springs and 

additional measures required will be assessed as part of that process. 

A separate Code of Practice is available from High Peak Borough Council that describes the recommended 

approach for borehole drilling within the Core Protection Area.  Deep borehole drilling has the potential to 

influence Buxton Thermal Springs from a greater distance than shallow excavations.  Therefore, the Code of 

Practice for borehole drilling applies in both the Core Protection Area and the Extended Protection Area, 

both of which are shown on Figure 1.   

1.2 Background 

Thermal springs are rare in Britain.  The Buxton Thermal Springs have been used since Roman times and 

have a long history of use as a mineral water and spa.  They consist of a series of springs that discharge at 

temperatures up to 27.5 degrees Celsius through Carboniferous Limestone in the vicinity of The Crescent in 

Buxton.  The location of the springs suggests that the thermal water is capped beneath Namurian strata 

(shales and sandstones, “Millstone Grit”) that exist to the north of The Crescent, with the thermal water 

emerging at the ground surface at the feather edge of the Namurian strata.  The thermal water is unpolluted 

and has unique chemical properties that distinguish it from the non-thermal groundwater.  The thermal 

springs are understood to originate from the percolation of rainfall into a network of micro-fractures in the 

Carboniferous Limestone to reach a depth greater than 900 m.  The heated water then returns to the 

surface, probably following faults in the limestone strata.   

The thermal water is bottled as Buxton Water, which is one of the best known Natural Mineral Water brands 

in UK.  The Crescent buildings have been regenerated as a Spa Hotel, which also uses the thermal water, in 

this case for bathing and spa treatments.   

Although the thermal water has a greater hydraulic head than the cold groundwater system, there is a 

delicate balance between the cold and thermal groundwater systems and the precise route of the waters 

though the limestone is not entirely known. There is therefore a need to avoid disturbing established flow 

pathways within the limestone in and around the Crescent.  Excavations, borehole drilling and piling have the 

potential to disturb groundwater flow pathways.  The construction works associated with creating an 

excavation or borehole also have the potential to cause contamination of the groundwater, reducing 

groundwater quality and affecting their unique chemical characteristics.   

  

Page 109



 2 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

1.3 Who the code is aimed at? 

This Code of Practice is aimed at utility companies, landowners and occupiers, contractors, and supervising 

personnel who are planning to create shallow excavations within the Core Protection Area as shown on 

Figure 1.  There is a risk that such activities within the Core Protection Area may affect the Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

1.4 How were the protection areas defined?  

The protections area were defined by considering the pathways for thermal groundwater emerging at Buxton 

Thermal Springs and the hydrogeological factors that affect the vulnerability of those pathways.   

The Core Protection Area corresponds to the area where the Namurian strata are expected to be less than 

50 m thick, the ground level is below 300 m AOD and the location is within 250 m of known thermal 

groundwater associated with Buxton Thermal Springs.  The northern limit of the Core Protection Area follows 

the boundary of the Environment Agency’s Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton Thermal 

Springs.   

The Extended Protection Area is defined by being within 500 m of known thermal groundwater associated 

with Buxton Thermal Springs and where the Namurian strata are estimated to be less than 100 m thick.  The 

northern and eastern limit of the Extended Protection Area follows the boundary of the Environment 

Agency’s Confined Inner Source Protection Zone (SPZ1c) for Buxton Thermal Springs.   

1.5 Further Information 

This document should be read in conjunction with other codes of practice, health and safety guides and 

British Standards in relation to excavations, drilling, installation and decommissioning of these schemes.  

These include the BS 5930:2015 (Code of practice for ground investigations). 

High Peak Borough Council’s Code of Practice Borehole Drilling in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

provides information, guidance and a list of requirements for managing potential effects from drilling 

boreholes on Buxton Thermal Springs.   

The Core Protection Area is wholly within the Inner Groundwater Source Protection Zone (SPZ1) for Buxton 

Thermal Springs.  The Environment Agency uses Source Protection Zones as an initial screening tool to 

identify areas in which some activities or developments have the potential to adversely affect groundwater 

intended for human consumption.  Environment Agency position statements relevant to potentially polluting 

activities and development within SPZ1 can be found in The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater 

protection1.  Source Protection Zones are not statutory designations and the Environment Agency may not 

be required to permit the excavation works being proposed.  However, the Environment Agency’s position 

statements provide an indication of activities that pose a risk to groundwater and means of mitigating those 

risks.   

2. Fundamental Requirements 

2.1 General 

When constructing shallow excavations in sensitive areas, such as near to Buxton Thermal Springs, a 

precautionary approach is required.  Ideally, such activities would be avoided within the Core Protection 

Area.  However, if such activities are to be completed in the Core Protection Area, a risk assessment and 

method statement describing the approach to be taken should be prepared and discussed with High Peak 

Borough Council, as the owners and abstraction licensees of the Buxton Thermal Springs, and also 

appropriate regulators.  The recommended approach to preparing the risk assessment and method 

statement is described below.   

 
1 February 2018 Version 1.2 

Page 110



 3 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

No intrusive works should be completed until High Peak Borough Council has received a copy of the 

programme of works, including proposed starting date, and has approved the risk assessment and 

method statement provided.   

In case of emergency: telephone the Council on 01298 28400  

2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater Quality 

Under the Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended) it is a criminal 

offence to “cause or knowingly permit” groundwater to become polluted.  Penalties include fines, 

imprisonment or both.  

As well as legal requirements not to pollute groundwaters, civil liability may also follow where mineral waters 

are adversely affected by the activities of a third party which could be substantial, particularly if guidance set 

out in this Code of Practice is not followed.  Developers should seek their own advice in this regard and take 

out appropriate insurance for works they may wish to carry out in advance. 

2.3 Desk Study, Risk Assessment and Method Statement 

The following steps should be carried out as a minimum: 

1. Desk study to collate and understand background information. 

2. Risk assessment to understand the risks to the Buxton Thermal Springs from the proposed activities. 

3. Method statement that demonstrates that the activities can be conducted safely without detriment to 

the Buxton Thermal Springs, including appropriate actions if thermal groundwater is encountered. 

4. Identify any requirements for regulatory consents, permits or notifications and requirements for 

notifications to/discussion with local stakeholders. 

The desk study, risk assessment and method statement must be completed or directly supervised by 

someone qualified in hydrogeology or geoenvironmental engineering and having experience of completing 

hydrogeological desk studies and groundwater risk assessments.   

A desk study review is intended to identify the sensitivity of the proposed excavation location.  It should 

consider the local geology/hydrogeology/hydrology conditions, particularly the depth to Carboniferous 

Limestone, proximity to known or expected thermal water, potential land contamination issues, proximity to 

water features such as River Wye, septic tanks, services etc.  The desk study review should also be used as 

the basis of preliminary discussions with stakeholders and other interested parties including regulators, 

conservation bodies, and landowners.   

The risk assessment should include consideration of: 

 The likelihood of encountering thermal water 

 The likelihood of contaminating the Carboniferous Limestone by the excavation process, either 

by accidental contamination from the excavation equipment or by introducing near surface 

contamination into the Carboniferous Limestone aquifer 

 The likelihood that the groundwater system will be disturbed and affect the balance between the 

thermal and cold groundwater systems 

For all risks identified, the method statement should identify appropriate good practice for the activity and 

appropriate mitigation measures reduce residual risks to Buxton Thermal Springs during and following the 

works to acceptable levels.  The method statement must show that the excavation method selected provides 

adequate mitigation for that risk and that there is sufficient monitoring to confirm the efficacy of the measures 

identified.   

If the proposed excavation location has the potential to be contaminated there is a risk that the excavation 

could lead to pollution of groundwater and migration of contaminants to Buxton Thermal Springs.  Where 

possible, excavation through potentially contaminated materials within the Core Protection Area should be 

Page 111



 4 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

avoided.  Where this is not possible, it is expected that work on potentially contaminated sites will follow the 

Environment Agency’s guideance on managing risk from land contamination2.  The process set out in this 

guide includes a risk assessment, which must consider Buxton Thermal Springs as one of the receptors.  

Construction works are also likely to be preceded by investigatory work conducted according to BS 

10175:2011+A2:2017 Investigation of potentially contaminated sites – Code of practice.  At potentially 

contaminated sites, separate method statements should be prepared for investigatory works (excavations 

and drilling) as well as for subsequent excavations during construction.  

3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement 

3.1 Supervision 

The excavation works should be supervised at all times by an experienced qualified supervisor/foreman.  In 

addition, the excavation works should be under the overall supervision of a qualified hydrogeologist. 

3.2 Materials 

Prior to any excavation or drilling, a supply of bentonite pellets and bentonite powder sufficient to seal any 

incursions of thermal groundwater (15 degrees Celsius or greater), into the trench should be provided on 

site.  This should consist of a minimum of ten 25 kg bags of each bentonite powder and pellets. 

Suitable equipment (e.g. sandbags) should be provided at each location to control groundwater if 

groundwater should enter any excavation.  Such equipment will be required to reduce outflow of thermal 

groundwater whilst inflows are sealed with bentonite and/or to reduce outflow of non-thermal groundwater 

and maintain groundwater head in the aquifer (refer to the Method sub-heading under Section 3.4 below).   

3.3 Probe Holes 

Probe holes are narrow diameter borings (30 to 80 mm diameter) made using a window sampling technique.  

One or more probe holes should be drilled at the site of the excavation or trench to a depth of 0.5 m below 

the intended base of the excavation to determine ground conditions before excavation commences.  Probe 

holes will also allow monitoring of groundwater during excavation.  A long trench may require a number of 

probe holes at approximately 3 m centres.  Additional probe holes may be required if the risk assessment 

identifies geological uncertainties that may affect the risk to Buxton Thermal Springs: for example uncertainty 

over the thickness of the Namurian cover at the site of the excavation or if geological faulting is likely.   

Guidance and requirements provided in the parallel Code of Practice Borehole Drilling in the Vicinity of 

Buxton Thermal Springs should be consulted when preparing the part of the method statement concerned 

with constructing probe holes.  In addition to those requirements, drilling of a probe hole should be stopped 

if: 

 limestone is encountered beneath Namurian cover; 

 groundwater with a temperature equal to or exceeding 15 degrees Celsius is encountered;  

 groundwater is encountered that rises the ground surface and overflows continually (flowing 

artesian conditions); or 

 evidence of contamination is encountered (unless specifically mitigated by the method 

statement for investigation of a potentially contaminated site). 

These circumstances would suggest that the excavation/trench should be relocated, as there could be a 

significant risk to the Buxton Thermal Springs.  In any of these circumstances High Peak Borough Council 

must be notified and the probe hole backfilled to ground surface with bentonite cement grout prepared with 

water of potable quality.  The risk assessments and method statements for excavation should be reviewed in 

light of the information provided by the probe holes and the excavation designs may need to be revised.   

 
2 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm  

Page 112

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/land-contamination-risk-management-lcrm


 5 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

The temperature of water in probe holes should be monitored during excavation works.  Excavations should 

be suspended if the water temperature exceeds 15 degrees Celsius.  High Peak Borough Council must be 

notified and monitoring records made available for inspection. Probe holes used for monitoring should be 

capped at the surface and the annular space around any temporary stand-pipes adequately sealed to 

prevent runoff entering the holes during the works.   

Following completion of the excavation, probe holes should be backfilled and sealed with bentonite cement 

grout prepared with water of potable quality.  Probe holes completed within the base of the excavation 

should be sealed and the cement allowed to cure before other material is placed within the excavation.  This 

will ensure that the probe holes are adequately sealed.   

3.4 Excavation Methodology 

Method 

For excavated trenches and other excavations, any open trench should be restricted to no more than 5 m in 

length (unless existing site information has demonstrated that the thickness of Namurian strata at the 

location has at least 10 m thickness, in which case a longer trench length up to 12 m may be acceptable).  

There should be a means for sub-dividing the length of any open trench, should invasive thermal water 

inflow need to be held at one end of the trench or the other.  This practice aims to reduce losses of thermal 

water during sealing of the inflow as described below 

Groundwater and arisings shall not be allowed to enter natural water bodies or drains or to seep onto 

unprotected ground and cause seepage to the water table.  Groundwater shall not be allowed to spill outside 

the working area.   

Arrangements should be made to prevent the ingress of surface water into the trench.  

Throughout the excavation of each trench the temperature of any water entering the trench and in probe 

holes should be carefully monitored.  If water with a temperature at or exceeding 15 degrees Celsius is 

encountered, the excavation must stop and the inflow must be immediately sealed.  High Peak Borough 

Council must be notified and monitoring records made available for inspection.  The construction of a trench 

that encounters thermal water presents a significant risk to the Buxton Thermal Springs and the 

excavation/trench will not be continued unless High Peak Borough Council can be assured that the 

mitigation plan prepared in the method statement, or a modification of this, will provide the necessary 

protection to the Buxton Thermal Springs.   

On-site Plant  

Any on-site equipment should be clean and confirmed free of oil or fuel leakage before the work at site 

starts.  The method statement should detail the measures to be taken to avoid contamination of the ground 

or the aquifer by the excavation process.  Recommended minimum measures include: 

 The static plant shall be supplied with drip trays and adsorbent matting to prevent loss of fuel or 

lubricant to the ground. 

 Any equipment used to create the excavation and probe holes should be appropriately cleaned 

prior to use.  In addition, if the excavation/drilling is expected to encounter groundwater, tools 

should be disinfected on arrival and before leaving the site.  Disinfectants used must be safe to 

use in potable water applications3, for example chlorine, hypochlorite or peracetic acid solution.  

It should be noted that domestic forms of disinfectant such as perfumed sodium hypochlorite or 

Jeyes Fluid are specifically banned.  Steam cleaning or jet washing is the most suitable 

technique for removing debris and contaminants and should be used at locations where the 

discharge water will not pose an environmental risk.  The wash-down area and method of 

cleaning should be identified in the method statement.   

 
3 Water UK, 2017.  Principles of Water Supply Hygeine, final version 1 October 2015 (updated 1 March 2017) 

Page 113



 6 © High Peak Borough Council 

 

   

Version 1.1, 16 September 2021 
 

Waste Collection and Disposal 

The method statement should describe how materials from the excavation will be collected, assessed for 

potentially contaminated material (if relevant) and disposed of in an appropriate manner. 

Where there is risk of encountering contaminated materials, arisings are to be collected in suitable 

containers and transferred to an appropriately licensed waste disposal facility.  Containers used for 

containment of waste arisings must be covered and in sound condition. 

Dewatering from the excavation could affect groundwater levels at Buxton Thermal Springs and should be 

avoided through use of alternative designs as far as practicably possible.  However, if there is a need to 

dewater the excavation (for example, to remove non-thermal groundwater to maintain safe working 

conditions), particular care should be taken to monitor the temperature of the water being extracted to be 

sure that it does not exceed 15 degrees Celsius.  The method statement should describe how the water will 

be discharged from the site in a manner that will protect groundwater and surface water courses.  An 

Environmental Permit may be required to discharge water from the workings.   

Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling 

All refuelling of plant shall incorporate methods to prevent spillage to ground or groundwater.  Off-site re-

fuelling and storage of petroleum products and other hazardous materials is recommended.  If on-site 

refuelling is required it shall be undertaken on areas of hardstanding or over an impermeable surface, using 

a hand pump or similar method that minimises the risk of spillages.  All fuel containers shall be of suitable 

material and labelled.  All fuels stored on site must be in a lockable facility or container that is bunded to at 

least 110% of stored fuel capacity. 

  

Page 114



405000 405500 406000 406500

37
25

00
37

30
00

37
35

00
37

40
00

0 100 200 300 m1:6,000

December 2020

Code of Practice: Excavations in the Vicinity of
Buxton Thermal Springs

Figure 1.1

December 2020

Key
\\b

sl-
fs1

.gl
ob

al.
am

ec
.co

m\
sh

are
d\

Pro
jec

ts\
41

89
6 B

ux
ton

 H
yd

rog
eo

log
ica

l A
dv

ice
\D

 D
esi

gn
 Te

ch
nic

al\
Dr

aw
ing

s\4
18

96
-b

ri0
1_i

4.m
xd

   O
rig

ina
tor

: st
efa

n.b
ram

er

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776.
Scale at A3:

 41896-bri01_i4

Surface Water/ River Network

Core Protection Area (applies
to shallow excavations and
borehole drilling)
Extended Protection Area
(applies to borehole drilling
only)

P
age 115



T
his page is intentionally left blank



!P

Water in Buxton SPD

Designated Nature Conservation Sites

September 2021

Key
\\s

al-
fs1

2.g
lob

al.
am

ec
.co

m\
sh

are
d\

Pro
jec

ts\
42

53
1 H

igh
 Pe

ak
 SP

D\
PR

E-T
RA

NS
ITI

ON
\G

rap
hic

s\A
rcG

IS\
MX

D\
SA

L0
01

.m
xd

   O
rig

ina
tor

: w
ilsc

03
Buxton

Peak District National Park

Peak District Moors
(South Pennine Moors Phase 1)

© Crown Copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number AL100001776.
1:150,000Scale at A3:

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 km

!P

Special Areas of Conservation

Sites of Special Scientific Interest

Sourced from DEFRA (9th April 2019)

Sourced from DEFRA (29th July 2019)

Sourced from DEFRA (22nd November 2019)

Client

Sourced from DEFRA (1st July 2019)

Peak District Dales

South Pennine Moors

Special Protection Area

P
age 117



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document  
 

Consultation Statement 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 119



Introduction 

This Statement has been prepared in accordance with Regulation 12 of the Town and Country Planning (Local development) 
(England) regulations 2012 in relation to the Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). Accordingly, it details: 

(i) the persons the local planning authority consulted when preparing the supplementary planning document; 

(ii) a summary of the main issues raised by those persons; and 

(iii) how those issues have been addressed in the supplementary planning document 

 

Consultation process and consultees 

Consultation on the SPD has been undertaken in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Regulations 2012 and the High Peak Statement of Community Involvement. This consisted of two key stages, early stakeholder 
engagement followed by a public consultation. 

Early stakeholder engagement 

Due to the technical nature of the SPD, the Council and its appointed consultant sought early engagement on the issues to be 
addressed in the document as well feedback on the potential guidance to protect the quality and quantity of water sources in the 
Buxton area as well as minimising phosphate levels in the River Wye. As such, a stakeholder meeting with the following 
organisations was held in January 2020: 

• Natural England 
• Environment Agency 
• Severn Trent Water 
• Nestle Waters UK 

These stakeholders were identified as being particularly critical to the SPD given their respective responsibilities for and interest in 
the protection of water quality in the Buxton area. Pro-active engagement with Natural England and the Environment Agency also 
helps the Council to fulfil its obligations to adhere to the Duty to Co-operate. Following the meeting, a draft SPD was developed 

P
age 120



ahead of public consultation as well as a Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) screening statement to determine if a full SEA 
would be necessary. 

Public consultation 

A public consultation was held on the draft SPD and SEA Screening Report between 13th May and 18th June 2021. The 
consultation documents were published on the Council's website for review. 

Notifications of the consultation were sent by email or letter to relevant contacts on the Council's planning policy consultee 
database. This included all relevant statutory consultees, local stakeholder organisations and residents and businesses in the 
Buxton area (see Appendix for details). Further publicity in the form of a press release and news on the Council's website was also 
published to raise awareness of the consultation. 

Regulation 35 also requires that consultation documents should be made available at the Council’s principal office and other 
relevant locations. However, in light of the Covid-19 pandemic, the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
(Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 removed the requirement to make hard copies available for a temporary period up 
until 31 December 2020. This period was then extended until 31 December 2021. The Council's principal office was closed to the 
public during this time and local libraries access was limited. As such, the Council offered consultees the opportunity to view hard 
copies of the documents via alternatives means on request. No such requests were received. 

Following the consultation, all comments were reviewed to identify key issues and the potential need for amendments to the 
documents. These details are considered in the next Chapter of this Consultation Statement. 

 

Issues raised and how they have been addressed 

A total of 13 comments were submitted in relation to the SPD. The main issues raised included: 

• The SPD should have a broader scope to consider water quality more generally as well as measures to support biodiversity 
and address climate change 

• Additional references need to consider the implications of ground source heat pumps 
• Consideration should be given to minerals operations (current and former) in the vicinity  
• Reference should be made to the historic environment, including waterlogged archaeology  

P
age 121



• There should be greater emphasis on the storage of liquids and fuels that could potentially impact groundwater 
• The phosphate load produced by household  activities will not be reduced through water efficiency measures. What water 

efficiency does do is reduce the volume of water reaching the wastewater treatment works, thus relieving stress on the 
sewerage system. 

• Several minor miscellaneous amendments requested for clarification purposes 

A further 2 comments were submitted regarding to SEA Screening report. Natural England concurred with the conclusion in the 
Screening Report that a full SEA is not required. Historic England confirm that they had no further comments to make. 

The tables below provide details of each comment and how they have been addressed. 

  

P
age 122



Water in Buxton SPD – consultation feedback and officer responses 

ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB1   

Marine 
Management 
Organisation 

General 
comment 

Thank you for including the MMO in your recent consultation submission. 
The MMO will review your document and respond to you directly should a 
bespoke response be required. If you do not receive a bespoke response 
from us within your deadline, please consider the following information as 
the MMOs formal response.    
 
The Marine Management Organisation (MMO) is a non-departmental 
public body responsible for the management of Englands marine area on 
behalf of the UK government. The MMOs delivery functions are; marine 
planning, marine licensing, wildlife licensing and enforcement, marine 
protected area management, marine emergencies, fisheries 
management and issuing European grants.   Marine Licensing   Activities 
taking place below the mean high water mark may require a marine 
licence in accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act (MCAA) 
2009 . Such activities include the construction, alteration or improvement 
of any works, dredging, or a deposit or removal of a substance or object 
below the mean high water springs mark or in any tidal river to the extent 
of the tidal influence. Local authorities may wish to refer to our marine 
licensing guide for local planning authorities for more detailed 
information. You can also apply to the MMO for consent under the 
Electricity Act 1989 (as amended) for offshore generating stations 
between 1 and 100 megawatts in England and parts of Wales.  The MMO 
is also the authority responsible for processing and determining harbour 
orders in England, and for some ports in Wales, and for granting consent 
under various local Acts and orders regarding harbours. A wildlife licence 
is also required for activities that that would affect a UK or European 
protected marine species.    
 
Marine Planning   As the marine planning authority for England the MMO 
is responsible for preparing marine plans for English inshore and offshore 
waters. At its landward extent, a marine plan will apply up to the mean 
high water springs mark, which includes the tidal extent of any rivers. As 
marine plan boundaries extend up to the level of the mean high water 
spring tides mark, there will be an overlap with terrestrial plans which 
generally extend to the mean low water springs mark. Marine plans will 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

P
age 123



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

inform and guide decision makers on development in marine and coastal 
areas.   Planning documents for areas with a coastal influence may wish 
to make reference to the MMOs licensing requirements and any relevant 
marine plans to ensure that necessary regulations are adhered to. For 
marine and coastal areas where a marine plan is not currently in place, 
we advise local authorities to refer to the Marine Policy Statement for 
guidance on any planning activity that includes a section of coastline or 
tidal river. All public authorities taking authorisation or enforcement 
decisions that affect or might affect the UK marine area must do so in 
accordance with the Marine and Coastal Access Act and the UK Marine 
Policy Statement unless relevant considerations indicate otherwise. Local 
authorities may also wish to refer to our online guidance and the Planning 
Advisory Service soundness self-assessment checklist.  If you wish to 
contact your local marine planning officer you can find their details on out 
gov.uk page.     The East Inshore and Offshore Marine Plans were 
published on the 2 nd April 2014, becoming a material consideration for 
public authorities with decision making functions.  The East Inshore and 
East Offshore Marine Plans cover the coast and seas from Flamborough 
Head to Felixstowe. For further information on how to apply the East and 
Inshore and Offshore Plans please visit our Marine Information System 
.   The South Marine Plan was published on the 17 th July 2018, 
becoming a material consideration for public authorities with decision 
making functions. The South Marine Plan covers the coast and seas from 
Folkestone to the River Dart in Devon. For further information on how to 
apply the South Marine Plan please visit our Marine Information System 
.    
 
The MMO is currently in the process of developing marine plans for the 
remaining 7 marine plan areas by 2021. These are the North East Marine 
Plans, the North West Marine Plans, the South East Marine Plan and the 
South West Marine Plans.   Minerals and waste plans and local 
aggregate assessments   If you are consulting on a mineral/waste plan or 
local aggregate assessment, the MMO recommend reference to marine 
aggregates is included and reference to be made to the documents 
below:   The Marine Policy Statement (MPS), section 3.5 which highlights 
the importance of marine aggregates and its supply to Englands (and the 
UK) construction industry. The National Planning Policy Framework 

P
age 124



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

(NPPF) which sets out policies for national (England) construction 
minerals supply. The NPPF Minerals Planning Practice guidance which 
includes specific references to the role of marine aggregates in the wider 
portfolio of supply. The National and regional guidelines for aggregates 
provision in England 2005-2020 predict likely aggregate demand over 
this period including marine supply.   The NPPF informed Minerals 
Planning Practice guidance requires local mineral planning authorities to 
prepare Local Aggregate Assessments, these assessments have to 
consider the opportunities and constraints of all mineral supplies into their 
planning regions “ including marine. This means that even land-locked 
counties, may have to consider the role that marine sourced supplies 
(delivered by rail or river) play “ particularly where land based resources 
are becoming increasingly constrained. 

WIB2 Tilly Tailor   
General 
comment 

Please keep it safe for the people of Buxton Not to be sold off like a lot of 
land in the borough. 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB3 Steve Freek 
Highways 
England 

General 
comment 

Thank you for inviting Highways England to comment on the draft Water 
in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD).    We (HE) 
recognise the need to protect Buxtons water resources and water quality 
which is embedded within the adopted High Peak Local Plan. However 
the nearest Strategic Road Network (SRN) link is located over 15 miles 
from the area of interest in Buxton, and will not be affected by the 
proposals included in the SPD.  As such Highways England have no 
further comments to make on this particular consultation 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB4 
Mrs Rachel 
Purchase   Object 

2.4.2 Puts water primarily in the context of the economy of the area, 
employment, efficiency and to some extent climate change, with quite an 
emphasis on thermal and mineral waters. It seems to be treating water 
more as a commodity than as a public good, when government policy is 
turning towards favouring the latter. A wider view of what water is and is 
used for, and how it might be more widely protected and enhanced for 
biodiversity would be welcome, especially given that the Council has 
declared a Climate Change and Biodiversity Emergency and biodiversity 
is given little consideration, protection or means of enhancement in this 
guidance. In the light both of increasing statutory requirements on local 
authorities to protect and enhance biodiversity, and the Council's own 
plans to produce a Biodiversity Strategy, this guidance should place 
greater emphasis on water quality and associated biodiversity 
enhancement as an aim and requirement in its own right. With an 

Guidance to minimise 
phosphates in the River 
Wye is proposed to 
help protect the 
biodiversity value of the 
River Wye SSSI which 
is a component of the 
Peak District Dales 
Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). 
The Habitat Regulation 
Assessment of the 
Local Plan identified 
this as part a particular 

P
age 125



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

emphasis on protecting mineral water (and presumably its abstraction) 
what are the requirements about limiting abstraction if biodiversity will 
suffer?  
 
2.4.3 is a paragraph on Climate Change. Given the Council's declared 
emergency, Biodiversity should also have a stand-alone paragraph. 
While concern is expressed about sewage, septic tanks and surface run-
off and there are 2 WFD groundwater bodies rated as 'poor' I struggled to 
see how this guidance will comprehensively address these concerns. I 
would welcome this guidance giving explicit recognition to the Wildlife 
Trusts' "Homes for People and Wildlife". This prioritises: water 
management, pollution control, the use of green spaces and water 
courses, sustainable urban drainage, swales and rain gardens, green 
roofs, trees, woodlands and wetlands, and other natural features to 
manage water and reduce flood risks. All of this is pertinent for this 
guidance which would be more comprehensive if including these 
approaches.  
 
While it is clearly a good idea to improve water efficiency, this doesn't 
take account of the wider picture, which should also focus on water 
quality and not only on reducing phosphate levels. Could this guidance 
not set out what is best practice and then require developers to comply 
with this? And a quality and outcomes standard, which included 
biodiversity targets, might be more effective than purely a quantity 
standard for water-efficiency. I found that the language used in the 
guidance was insufficently clear and instructive. Some of the text seemed 
more descriptive than prescriptive (eg at 6.4). Much of the wording also 
seems equivocal, almost inviting developers not to comply with what the 
Council would like to see eg 6.4.9 "it is expected that developers will 
explore opportunities to integrate water recycling..." Why could the 
wording not "require" developers to do this? Similarly 6.5.3, 6.5.6 and 6.6 
seem to do the same thing   

issue which required 
attention.  
 
An SPD can only 
provide additional 
guidance for adopted 
policies to supplement 
the Local Plan. It 
cannot introduce new 
policy requirements.  
 
The intent of this SPD 
is provide specific 
technical guidance to 
aid the implementation 
of Policies S7 (Buxton 
Sub-Area Strategy) and 
EQ1 (Climate Change) 
insofar as protecting 
water quality in the 
River Wye and water 
sources in the Buxton 
area. 
 
A broader focus on 
biodiversity would go 
beyond the original 
remit of the SPD and is 
better suited to the 
Local Plan review. This 
would also apply to the 
whole Borough rather 
than solely the Buxton 
area.  
However, with regards 
to the implementation of 
water efficiency 

P
age 126



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

measures, some 
amendments have 
been made to Section 6 
of the SPD in light of 
the comments received.   
 
 
  

WIB5   

Derbyshire 
County 
Council 

General 
comment 

Local Member Comments Councillors Linda Grooby and Tony Kemp, the 
Local County Council Members for Buxton North and East, and Buxton 
West Electoral Divisions respectively, have been consulted. Councillor 
Kemp has responded as follows: ˜There is little if anything ˜new to me in 
much of the document and I understand why the SPD is needed. If I have 
any comment it could be that I could see little, if any mention of the risks 
posed by vertical drilling for heat pumps “ something likely to be an 
increasing issue in the very near future. I do know, for example, that such 
occurred when a bungalow was replaced by a small block of apartments 
immediately adjacent to my own property (just before I joined the 
Borough Council) “ and the owner of the Buckingham Hotel on Burlington 
Road has also proposed such (turned down, and I think this was one 
ground for refusal). Both properties are within the core protection zone. I 
may have missed it as I havent read every word! I would also suggest 
there might be some thought given to the effects of slurry pools and 
wheel-washing facilities at the aggregate and cement plants in the 
immediate vicinity and maybe some consideration of the potential for 
contamination in the lake at Waterswallows (which is “ or was “ a basalt 
plug or intrusion through the Carboniferous Limestone to the North of the 
town). These matters are probably relevant to the County Council as the 
mineral extraction authority.  
 
Officer Comments General The SPD provides an appropriate background 
to issues that planning officers will need to include in their reports when 
considering proposals. As such, DCC welcomes and supports the Water 
in Buxton SPD. Specific The Water in Buxton SPD provides detailed 
guidance intended to support Policies SP7: Buxton sub-area strategy and 
EQ1: Climate Change of the adopted High Peak Local Plan, and this is 
welcomed. The Codes of Practice included at Appendices A (Boreholes) 

Vertical drilling for 
ground source heat 
pumps would be 
covered within Section 
5.1 of the SPD. A 
reference to ground 
source heat pump 
vertical drilling has 
been added to 
paragraph 5.3.3 to 
make it clear that 
boreholes for ground 
source heat are subject 
to this guidance. 
 
The aggregate and 
cement plants and lake 
at Waterswallows fall 
outside of the Core and 
Extended Protection 
Areas.  Additional 
measures to protect the 
quality of the mineral 
water are not 
considered to be 
necessary outside of 
those zones.  Existing 
legislative controls 
(planning permissions, 

P
age 127



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

and B (Excavations) to the document are also noted and it is considered 
that these provide good advice for developers. However, it is also noted 
that no mention is made in respect of the potential impacts of mineral 
development, specifically dewatering operations, on either the EA Source 
Protection Zone or the Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area. Appendix 
B refers to excavations, but mineral operators are not included in the list 
set out at 1.3 and the excavations referred to appear only to relate to 
shallow excavations. Whilst it is acknowledged that the nearest quarries 
are located some way outside of the Mineral Water Catchment Area as 
set out in Figure 3.2, at least one quarry does abut the southern extent of 
the EA SPZ illustrated in Figure 3.1. DCC is also aware that the 
geological and karstic hydrogeological systems underlying the quarries 
are complex and, in some instances, interlinked. This point is alluded to 
in paragraph 1.2.9 where it is stated that the precise route of cold and 
thermal groundwater systems through the limestone is not entirely 
known.  
 
It would be useful to know whether mineral development has been 
excluded from the SPD due to the relative distance of the existing sites 
from the SPZ and Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area, or if it has 
been considered at all. If there has been a specific decision to exclude 
mineral development, then DCC would suggest that it would be useful to 
amend the document to clearly state this and also to give the reasons 
why it has been excluded.  
 
Climate Change and Sustainability DCC is pleased to see reference to 
ground source heat pumps, SuDs and septic tanks, all of which could 
affect Buxtons mineral water. The guidance provides advice on 
minimising water consumption, rainwater harvesting, and water recycling, 
and refers to the BREEAM standards, which all support DCCs efforts to 
combat climate change. Habitats Directive (Wye Valley Site of Special 
Scientific Interest) If it has not done so already, DCC would request that 
High Peak Borough Council consults the Derbyshire Wildlife Trust, the 
Environment Agency and Natural England on these issues. 

environmental 
permitting etc) acting to 
prevent groundwater 
pollution are sufficient 
to protect the natural 
mineral water from 
these activities (or 
expansion of these 
activities in the future).  
 
 
The purpose of the 
SPD with regards to 
protection of natural 
mineral water is to 
identify the area where 
there is a known 
specific risk to the 
mineral water supply 
and to provide guidance 
for excavation and 
drilling within this area.  
The area is restricted to 
part of sub-urban 
Buxton and the list of 
activities given in 
Section 1.3 of Appendix 
A and Appendix B lists 
those 
organisations/individual
s that are likely to be 
undertaking works 
within the Core or 
Extended Protection 
Areas.  Mineral 
development is not 
excluded from these 

P
age 128



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

codes of practice but 
the location of the Core 
and Extended 
Protection Areas means 
that it is highly unlikely 
that mineral extraction 
will take place within 
those zones.   
 
Impacts of dewatering 
associated with mineral 
extraction are managed 
through the 
Environment Agency’s 
abstraction licensing 
process.  HPBC 
considers that the 
abstraction licensing 
process offers sufficient 
protection to Buxton 
thermal springs from 
dewatering that 
additional measures are 
not necessary. 
 
Uncertainty over the 
precise flow paths that 
groundwater takes to 
the thermal springs in 
Buxton is the reason for 
identifying additional 
measures that should 
be taken when working 
within the Core and 
Extended Protection 
Areas in the SPD.  The 
key point in the 

P
age 129



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

additional measures 
identified is that they 
should apply to all 
scales of activities in 
these areas that meet 
the criteria, whether 
planning permission, 
licensing or other 
regulatory approval is 
required or not.  
Outside the Core and 
Extended Protection 
Areas the existing 
protections afforded by 
planning permissions, 
abstraction licensing, 
environmental 
permitting etc are 
considered sufficient to 
protect Buxton thermal 
springs.   
 
Derbyshire County 
Council as the minerals 
planning authority may 
wish to consider the 
provision of policy or 
guidance to address the 
matters raised in the 
SPD. The SPD is 
intended to provide 
guidance in relation to 
the Borough Council’s 
own planning policies.  
  

P
age 130



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB6   
Historic 
England 

General 
comment 

We welcome the reference in paragraph 1.2.1 setting out the historic 
context of Buxton and citing the valuable contribution the historic 
environment makes within Buxton.  
Within Section 2 we would welcome a reference to the historic 
environment and relevant heritage legislation. Whilst we accept that this 
is an SPD predominantly concerned with water infrastructure issues and 
preserving the unique quality of the water in Buxton; we consider the 
historic townscape, significance of heritage assets and the presence of 
waterlogged archaeology for example, are relevant issues for the SPD to 
consider.  
 
We would be supportive of a reference to the historic environment 
chapter (Section 16) within the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and a link to our website, which contains relevant advice and 
information concerning these issues. For example, the ˜Strategy for 
Water and Wetland Heritage document will be relevant when considering 
buried archaeology, waterlogged archaeology and paleolithic evidence, 
as an example. A link to Historic Englands Good Practice Advice Notes 
which cover a range of information such as considering significance and 
setting, how to deal with heritage in the Local Plan and considering 
heritage through the development management process would also be 
useful 
 
We welcome the reference to Local Plan Policy S7 and the link to 
heritage. We consider that relevant issues for the SPD to expand upon 
within Section 3, are as below:The historic environment of the heritage 
spa town in Buxton and associated designated and non designated 
heritage assets, as well as the historic landscape and townscape through 
which Buxton is widely recognised and regarded.The design of any water 
scheme; SUDS, or those related to the industry of Buxton water for 
example, and any associated groundworks for development affecting 
water infrastructure will need to have consideration to and conserve the 
significance of known heritage assets, both designated and non 
designated and the potential for any as yet unknown heritage assets 
such as buried archaeology.As above, this will be particularly sensitive 
for archaeological assets, especially those that are preserved in a 
waterlogged environment where any change in their groundwater 

The SPD is intended to 
provide guidance on 
water quality in the 
Buxton area as per 
Local Plan policy. A 
wider remit to cover 
heritage is not 
appropriate. This matter 
could be explored as 
part of the Local Plan 
review. 
 
Add text into section 1.4  
“How to use this 
Supplementary 
Planning Document” to 
clarify that the SPD 
should be read in 
conjunction with the 
Local Plan as a whole.  

P
age 131



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

environment may have effects/ implications. Buried archaeological 
deposits can be damaged by changes to the water management 
procedures and changes to the moisture level and soil content, for 
example. Any development/ management strategies would need to 
consider how this may affect the significance of heritage assets, including 
their setting and ensure any impacts are avoided or minimised.The 
design of SUDS should take the presence of, or potential presence of, 
any buried archaeology into consideration and developers should 
undertake early discussions with Historic England, where necessary.  
 
Paragraph 4.1.6. it may also be necessary to consult with Historic 
England, if there are heritage assets which could be affected, including 
unknown archaeology. The issues raised in the bullet points above will 
also need to be considered in relation to Section 5 and how development 
will also affect the significance of heritage assets including their setting, 
found within and near to the water environment discussed within the 
protection zone/ SPD. We recommend that you consult your local historic 
environment staff for specific comments that relate to the historic 
environment of High Peak authority, who will have access to more 
detailed information from the Historic Environment Record.  

WIB7   

High Peak 
Borough 
Council 
(Environmenta
l Health) 

General 
comment 

Section 5: 5.12, Appendix A: 2.2 and Appendix B 2.2 reference to 
Environmental Protection Regulations (2016), it is believed that this is 
meant to refer to ˜The Environmental Permitting (England and Wales) 
Regulations 2016 (as amended).  
 
Paragraph 3.2.3, 3.2.4, 3.3.2, Section 5: Protection of mineral water 
sources in Buxton, Appendix C  
 
There should be greater emphasis on the storage of liquids and fuels that 
could potentially impact groundwater. within the context of the above 
paragraphs. Appendix C does recommend a template condition for 
˜Fuel/Chemical Storage; however, this appears to be the first reference to 
this type of risk.  
 
Not all commercial and industrial developments will be subject to 
proactive regulatory controls under ˜The Environmental Permitting 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended); examples include: 

The SPD has 
specifically covered 
issues of intrusive 
ground works and their 
potential impact on the 
thermal springs that 
developers need to 
know about.   
 
It is not considered that 
there is a problem with 
existing regulations and 
provisions for chemical 
storage with respect to 
the springs. Detailed 
guidance has not been 

P
age 132



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

Bulk storage of non-specified chemicals where only blending activities 
are undertaken. Bulk storage of specified chemicals below regulatory 
thresholds. Decanting of small containers of chemicals into a larger 
reaction chamber, but remaining below regulatory thresholds (likely to 
occur in small industrial units).  
 
Developments for general industrial units where the end use may not be 
known, could ultimately involve the above listed activities, such as at 
tenanted premises where a risk assessment may not have taken place at 
the planning stage and premises change occupiers.  
 
It is considered that this section of the SPD should refer to Section D of 
˜the Environment Agencys approach to groundwater protection, 
(February 2018, Version 1.2), as well as, ensuring consideration is given 
to developments involving the above ground storage of fuels or 
chemicals, to ensure this is taken into account prior to submission of a 
planning application. Any template conditions for ˜fuel/ chemical storage 
should also take account of this.  
 
In addition, domestic, commercial and industrial development may 
involve above ground fuel storage. It is important that this is identified in 
any development proposal to ensure installations comply with ˜The 
Control of Pollution (Oil Storage) England Regulations 2001.  
 
Furthermore, demolition and construction activities will from time to time 
involve the storage of bulk liquids, which may present a risk to 
groundwaters. Developers should ensure that this is further 
encompassed within any risk assessment for developments within the 
SPZ. This might be achieved by use of a template condition on planning 
permission for approval by the LPA prior to development commencing.  
 
By emphasising the above in the SPD, will only add to support 
developers when preparing an application to ensure that developments 
undertake an appropriate risk assessment and that control measures are 
implemented and maintained to preserve the quality of water resources 
within the Buxton Sub-area. 

included on these 
matters.   
 
However, a new section 
has been added to the 
SPD signposting the 
Environment Agency’s 
position statement and 
the need for developers 
to consider above 
ground storage (5.6). 
 
The reference to the 
regulations in the SPD 
and appendices has 
been revised to read 
˜The Environmental 
Permitting (England 
and Wales) Regulations 
2016 (as amended).” 
 
 
  

P
age 133



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB8 
Rebecca 
Wyllie 

Canal & River 
Trust 

General 
comment 

Thank you for your consultation in respect of the above mentioned draft 
Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The 
document provides guidance to ensure that development preserves the 
quality of water resources within the Buxton Sub-area and supports water 
efficiency. The Canal & River Trust is a charity entrusted with the care of 
over 2000 miles of canals, rivers, docks and reservoirs in England and 
Wales. These historic, natural and cultural assets form part of strategic 
and local green infrastructure networks, linking urban and rural 
communities as well as habitats. Our waterways contribute to the health 
and well-being of local communities and economies, creating attractive 
and connected places to live, work, volunteer and spend leisure time. To 
meet the Trusts objectives it is important that all levels of planning policy 
and associated documents provide a robust policy framework that 
recognises and supports canals, rivers and docks as a cross-cutting 
policy theme; and acknowledges the diverse roles which they perform. 
The Trust does not own or manage any assets within Buxton, or within 
the protection zones outlined. Our nearby assets include Combs 
Reservoir and Peak Forest Canal and both of these are located some 
distance from Buxton. Therefore the Trust has no specific comments to 
make on the content and procedures set out within the draft ˜Water in 
Buxton SPD, which is an insightful and comprehensive document. The 
Trust would wish to continue to be consulted on policy documents 
prepared by High Peak Council, and thank you again for your 
consultation and opportunity to comment. We are keen to be engaged 
and comment on such documents where they may impact upon our 
waterways and assets. We would welcome being retained in the 
database of consultees going forward and being notified in future to be 
able to comment on any forthcoming policy documents. 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB9 
Environmen
t Agency 

Environment 
Agency 

General 
comment 

Thank you for providing the Environment Agency with the opportunity to 
comment on the draft Water in Buxton supplementary planning document 
(SPD). We note that the document is intended to support the existing 
policies Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy and EQ1: Climate Change 
found within the High Peak Local Plan, and in particular gives further 
guidance to developers on how these policies can be achieved. The 
Environment Agency has the following comments:  
 

In relation to the 
apparent 
misunderstanding 
relating to phosphate 
load, it is agreed that 
total phosphate is the 
same but reduced 

P
age 134



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

Section 1.2 “ The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and 
impact of new homes in Buxton The Environment Agency welcome this 
section and the outlining of the associated issues. 1.2.11 “ this is a 
slightly simplified version of the process. Can I suggest the following 
amendment to the first and second sentences:  
 
Replace - Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for 
plant and animal growth but it can have harmful effects on the ecology of 
rivers through a process called ˜eutrophication where there is a reduction 
in dissolved oxygen caused by an increase in mineral and organic 
nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead to a 
deterioration in conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for 
certain species.  
 
With - Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for plant 
and animal growth but it can have harmful effects on the ecology of rivers 
through a process called ˜eutrophication where there is an increase in 
mineral and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that 
can lead to a reduction in dissolved oxygen and deterioration in 
conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for certain species.  
 
It appears there is a misunderstanding around the sources of phosphate 
associated with housing throughout the document. Phosphate load is 
associated with the inhabitants and their actions (Washing clothes, 
sewage etc.) rather than the volume of water. The phosphate load 
produced by these activities will not be reduced through water efficiency 
measures. What water efficiency does do is reduce the volume of water 
reaching the wastewater treatment works, thus relieving stress on the 
sewerage system.  
 
2 1.2.13 - Could be amended to The water produced by housing is 
acknowledged as having a direct effect on the amount of phosphate in 
the R. Wye once it is discharged from the wastewater treatment works 
(WwTW). The need for water efficiency measures to help reduce water 
produced by housing is therefore important to reduce stress on the 
sewerage system and enable efficient treatment to reduce phosphate 
discharged to the R. Wye  

water use leads to 
greater ability to treat 
water. Para 6.2.3 does 
try to reflect that.  
 
The suggested changes 
to 1.2.11 and 1.2.13 are 
accepted and reflected 
in the SPD.  
 
With regards to the 
suggested changes to 
2.2.6, it is considered 
that the existing 
wording is sufficient to 
signpost the HRA 
requirements and no 
changes are proposed. 
 
The suggested change 
to 5.5 (Septic tanks) is 
accepted and the SPD 
has been updated.  
 
The proposed 
amendments to Section 
6.2 are accepted and 
the SPD has been 
updated. 
 
The proposed 
amendments to Section 
5.4 are accepted and 
the SPD has been 
updated. 
 

P
age 135



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

 
Section 2.2 - The Habitats Directive 2.2.6 “ This should be expanded to 
include Applicants should perform a Habitats Regulations Assessment 
(HRA) to identify the potential risk of nutrients entering the Peak District 
Dales SAC designated site when undertaking a project proposal. Section 
5.5  
 
Septic tanks 5.5.1 “ could be amended to ¦The council is concerned 
septic tanks could affect the groundwater quality in the Buxton Sub-area, 
and may impact the condition of the Peak District Dales SAC.  
 
5.5.3 “ Expanded to include The associated shallow infiltration systems 
should be designed to provide appropriate attenuation of any pollutants 
before they reach groundwater  
 
Section 6.2 Water efficiency in residential development  
6.2.2 “ We welcome this observation. Particularly highlighting the fact that 
reduced flow can relieve the stress on the sewerage system thus 
supporting the efficiency of the system and reducing potential for spills 
from Combined Sewage Overflows (CSOs).  
 
6.2.3 “ The two parts of this sentence appear contradictory and should be 
split. A reduction in water usage does not lead to a directly equivalent 
reduction in phosphate load in the river. The second sentence could then 
be amended to The achievement of greater water efficiency would 
reduce stress on the sewerage system, indirectly contributing to 
phosphate reduction in the R. Wye and reducing negative impacts on the 
ecological status of the Peak District Dales SAC.  
 
General Comments  
We welcome the water efficiency principles outlined in this document and 
would suggest there is scope for expanding their application to include 
retrofitting to the existing building stock within Buxton. This would have 
much broader societal and environmental sustainable benefits.  
 
5.4 - Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) This 
section should emphasise a requirement to avoid discharges via 

With regards to the 
general comments, the 
scope of the SPD is 
defined by existing 
Local Plan policy which 
specifically includes 
‘new development’ only 
with regard to water 
efficiency. However, 
these matters can be 
considered in the 
review of the Local 
Plan. 
 
With regards to SuDS, 
it is considered that the 
SPD provides sufficient 
guidance for applicants. 

P
age 136



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

boreholes or deep infiltration systems which result in a direct discharge to 
groundwater. Shallow systems should be designed to provide attenuation 
of any pollutants before they reach the groundwater. 

WIB1
0   

Natural 
England 

General 
comment 

Natural England welcomes the SPD which is a positive step towards the 
improvement of the water quality of the River Wye and we look forward to 
working with the Council in the future on this issue. We consider that the 
report is very clear and comprehensive and have set out our detailed 
comments under the document headings as follows:  
 
General Comments We suggest that when considering water quality 
within the River Wye your authority may also want to consider assessing 
any erosion problems or siltation for a holistic approach to the river 
environment. In addition, air quality may affect the quality of surface 
water. It should be ensured that future development will not lead to 
atmospheric emission with potential local effects on surface water. 
 
1.1 Overview  
1.1.3 The purposes of the guidance are welcome but perhaps measures 
to reduce the current phosphate levels in the river could also be included, 
noting that the river is already under a diffuse water pollution plan.  
 
1.2 Background  
1.2.12 We note that phosphorous pollution also originates from urban 
sources and septic tanks.  
 
3.2 Source Protection Zones  
3.3.3 We note that figure 3.2 shows the SPZ4, but this is not clarified in 
the legend. We suggest that it would be helpful if the four Source 
Protection Zones (SPZ) are shown on a map within the document (we 
note the link to interactive mapping).  
 
5.1 Types of Development  
5.1.8 Within the section on shallow excavations, we note that the 600m 
threshold is used however it would be useful to see an explanation of 
how this threshold was chosen and if there is information to back this up 
for example a reference or other explanation.  
 

 
 
 
The broad support for 
the SPD is welcomed. 
With regards to the 
scope of the SPD, this 
is framed by the policy 
provisions in the 
existing Local Plan. 
Broader matters related 
to river management 
could be explored 
through the Local Plan 
review informed by 
relevant evidence base. 
 
With regards to the 
Overview (1.1.3) it is 
proposed to add a 
reference to reducing 
phosphate load where 
possible. 
 
With regards to the 
Source Protection Zone 
figure (Figure 3.1 not 
3.2) it is considered that 
the plan provides the 
relevant zone for 
Buxton as SPZ1 (as 
identified in para 3.2.3). 
 

P
age 137



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

6.2 Water Efficiency in Housing  
6.2.3 Natural England welcomes this policy to encourage greater water 
efficiency which would reduce phosphate in the River Wye and improve 
its ecological status.  
6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption We suggest 
that education and information dissemination to the major users could be 
an effective measure which could be included under Section 6.4. 

With regards to the 
comments on Section 
6.4, this section already 
sets out expectation for 
developers to signpost 
guidance on water 
efficiency within new 
homes. 
 
The 600 mm depth 
threshold for shallow 
investigations is based 
upon practical 
experience gained by 
HPBC during re-
development of Buxton 
Crescent.  During the 
re-development, 
excavations deeper 
than 600 mm required 
additional risk 
assessment and 
monitoring.  These 
measures were found 
to be effective in 
managing changes to 
groundwater conditions 
around the Buxton 
thermal springs during 
the works.  Excavations 
shallower than 600 mm 
were completed without 
the additional 
hydrogeological 
measures and no 
adverse impacts on the 

P
age 138



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

thermal springs were 
observed.   

WIB1
1 

Mr Ian 
Jackson   Object 

I believe there are a couple of issues not mentioned in the ˜Water in 
Buxton “ supplementary planning document that should be considered in 
this public consultation. The key issue is that in the European and 
National Legislative Content section you have not included the 
Renewable Energy Directive or Climate Change Act, and by not 
considering renewable energy in the development of the SPD you are 
missing some low carbon energy generation opportunities and potentially 
impacting negatively on climate change. The two most obvious omissions 
from the report are; 
 
The SPD should include a requirement for any user of the thermal spring 
to incorporate heat capture for use as a renewable heat source for 
Buxton. The plan as it stands also seems to prevent any future 
development of using the thermal energy within Buxton, which in the near 
future may be more important environmentally and economically than a 
business filling plastic bottles with water.If the spring water would 
naturally flow into the River Wye, if it wasnt abstracted for the bottling 
operations, the water would be available to the many hydroelectric power 
stations on the River Wye and River Derwent, including Cauldwells Mill, 
Masson Mill, Belper, Milford and Derby. If the water abstracted is 
affecting minimum flows of the River Wye and the Derwent it will be 
impacting the Environment Agency abstraction licences, restricting 
renewable energy generation. I hope this information is helpful in the 
consultation exercise. 

The SPD is intended to 
provide guidance on 
water quality in the 
Buxton area as per 
Local Plan policy. A 
wider remit is not 
appropriate. These 
matters could be 
explored as part of the 
Local Plan review. 
  

WIB1
2 

The Coal 
Authority 

The Coal 
Authority 

General 
comment 

Thank you for your notification received on the 13 May 2021 in respect of 
the above consultation. I can confirm that the Coal Authority has no 
specific comments to make in respect of the Water in Buxton 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB1
3  

Peak District 
National Park 
Authority 

General 
Comment 

Summary 
 
The SPD focus on the protection of the thermal and non-thermal ground 
water supply that is ‘Buxton Water’ and maintain the integrity / purity of 
the supply.  Given the importance of the supply from a visitor and 
economic perspective to a gateway town. We are supportive of this 
approach. 

The general support for 
the SPD is welcomed.  
 
A link to the map of 
Buxton Sub-Area as 
identified on the Local 
Plan Policies Map has 

P
age 139



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

 
The SPD focuses on the activities that could impact mineral springs and 
water quality impacts of a development, particularly on the River Wye 
SSSI, which is a component of the Peak District Dales Special Area of 
Conservation (SAC). Given the cross-boundary importance of both 
designations, we support the approach taken. 
 
General Comments  
 
There are several maps included within the document but there doesn’t 
seem to be an overall map showing the administrative area that this 
policy covers. Could one be included please so it is clear? 
 
The SPD cites development types likely to have an impact on mineral 
water sources, should a similar section be produced for those likely to 
have an impact on water quality? 
 
The SPD references various policies and legislation/ extracts with an 
emphasis on wildlife to encourage the applicant to consider ecological 
issues and goes on to specifically consider the need to address impacts 
on the Wye Valley SSSI/ Peak District Dales SAC.  It also (in the 
consents section) advises applicants to consider European protected 
species and seek advice from an experienced professional ecologist to 
determine if surveys within the development site may be required.  
However, these are selective ecological considerations and do not 
require the applicant to think more widely to address other ecological 
impacts/consideration that the development may have, such as other 
protected species or impacts on priority habitats or species. The 
document could make the rationale/purpose for this clearer because as it 
currently reads, the document could be interpreted as suggesting that 
designated habitats and European protected species are the only 
ecological considerations of a development. 
 
Below are a few more specific comments: 
 
Page.6: Other species are affected by eutrophication other than the three 
listed. These are SAC species – it is presumed that these have been 

been included in the 
SPD.  
 
The intent of this SPD 
is provide specific 
technical guidance to 
aid the implementation 
of Policies S7 (Buxton 
Sub-Area Strategy) and 
EQ1 (Climate Change) 
insofar as protecting 
water quality in the 
River Wye and water 
sources in the Buxton 
area. 
 
Additional text has been 
included at 1.4  “How to 
use this Supplementary 
Planning Document” to 
clarify that the SPD 
should be read in 
conjunction with the 
Local Plan as a whole. 
 
The SPD is not 
intended to provide full 
guidance on all 
ecological matters but 
does highlight assets 
with specific reference 
to qualifying features of 
the SAC and relevant 
legal requirements. 
Para 5.3.5 is clear that 
the list of potential 
requirements is not 

P
age 140



ID Full Name 
Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

particularly picked out because they are specific qualifying features of the 
SAC, but they are not the only species in the Wye to be affected by 
eutrophication.  
 
Page 11: Is it possible to fully reference this plan (in a reference section) 
or a web link in the footnotes (as there are for other documents): 
  
SAC map 
  
The legend title would seem to suggest that everything that is listed is a 
Special Area of Conservation. It is just the Peak District Dales and South 
Pennine Moors that fall under this designation category (all SAC and 
SPA’s are also SSSI’s) 
 
I hope the above comments are helpful to you. 

exhaustive. However, 
5.3.4 has been 
amended to draw the 
reader to other potential 
ecological 
considerations that may 
need to be addressed. 
 
A reference and link to 
the Local Plan is 
already provided in the 
Introduction (page 5). 
As the SPD provides 
guidance for the Local 
Plan, and most readers 
will be aware of the 
Local Plan, it is 
considered that one 
reference is sufficient.  
 
A revised legend for the 
map of the SAC (and 
other designated 
assets) has been 
included in the SPD. 
 
 

 

Water in Buxton SPD SEA Screening Report – consultation feedback and officer responses 

ID Full Name Company / 
Organisation 

Nature of 
response 

Comments - Please provide your comments. Officer response 

WIB6   Historic 
England 

General 
comment 

With regards to the accompanying SEA report, we have no additional 
comments to raise. 

 Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

WIB10   Natural 
England 

Support Natural England welcomes the Screening Report which assesses the 
requirement for Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) for Water in 

 Comments noted. No 
changes required. 

P
age 141



Buxton SPD. We agree with the reports conclusions that it is unlikely that 
any significant environmental effects will result from the SPD and 
therefore a SEA would not be required. 

 

  

P
age 142



APPENDIX – List of consultees 

Private individuals and residents registered on the Borough Council’s planning policy consultee database plus the following 
organisations and stakeholder groups. 

108 Ventures 
A.E Planning Consultants 
Accessible Derbyshire 
All Things Neighbourhood Planning 
Amos Group Ltd 
Ancient Monuments Society 
Arcus Renewable Energy Consulting Limited 
Ashbourne Community Transport 
Auto Cycle Union 
Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council 
Barratt Developments Plc 
Barton Willmore 
Bellway 
Beresford Contracting Limited 
BNP Paribas Real Estate UK 
British Horse Society (East Midlands) 
British Telecom 
Building Research Establishment 
Buxton Civic Association 
Buxton Community School 
Buxton Festival 
Buxton Neighbourhood Forum 
Buxton Opera House 
Buxton Town Team 
Campaign to Protect Rural England 
Canal & River Trust 

P
age 143



Cass Associates Llp 
Castleton Parish Council 
Caulmert Ltd 
Chapel-en-le-Frith High School 
Chapel-en-le-Frith Parish Council 
Charlesworth Parish Council 
Chelmorton Parish Council 
Cheshire East Council 
Chinley Buxworth & Brownside Parish Council 
Chisworth Parish Council 
Churches in the Peak 
Civil Aviation Authority 
CJK Packaging Ltd 
Connex Community Support 
Council for British Archaeology 
County Land & Business Association 
Crossroads Derbyshire 
Crowley Associates 
D2N2 Local Enterprise Partnership 
Department for Culture, Media and Sport DCMS 
Department for Transport 
Derby & Derbyshire CCG 
Derby University 
Derbyshire Advocacy Service 
Derbyshire Association of Local Councils 
Derbyshire Coalition for Independent Living 
Derbyshire Community Health Services 
Derbyshire Constabulary 
Derbyshire County Council 
Derbyshire Dales District Council 

P
age 144



Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service 
Derbyshire Gypsy Liaison Group 
Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 
Derbyshire Youth Offenders Team 
Derwent & Hope Woodlands Parish Council 
Disley Parish Council 
DLP Planning Ltd (East Midlands) 
DPDS Consulting Group 
DPP 
East Midlands Chambers of Commerce 
East Staffordshire Borough Council 
Edale Parish Council 
EE 
Electricity North West 
Emery Planning Partnership 
Entec UK Ltd 
Environment Agency 
Equality and Human Rights Commission 
Fairfield Residents Association 
Fairhurst 
Farming and Wildlife Advisory Group 
Fidler Taylor 
Frank Marshall 
Friends of Peak District 
Friends of the Earth 
Friends of the Peak District 
Gamesley Residents Association 
GL Hearn Property Consultants 
Gladman 
Glossop Indoor Market Traders 

P
age 145



Glossop Mountain Rescue Team 
Good Reit Ltd 
Great Places Housing Group 
Greater Manchester Combined Authority 
Harpur Hill Residents Association 
Harris Lamb Chartered Surveyors 
Hartington and Upper Quarter Parish Council 
Hartington Middle Quarter Parish Council 
Hayfield Parish Council 
Health & Safety Executive 
Heathcote Design and Development 
High Peak Access Group 
High Peak CVS 
High Peak Health Forum 
High Peak Partnership 
High Peak Rail Users Group 
Highways England 
Himor Group 
Historic England 
Home Builders Federation 
Homes England 
Hope with Aston Parish Council 
Hornbuckle Mitchell Trustees Ltd 
Hourigan Connolly 
HOW Planning 
Indigo Planning 
Jones Homes 
Ken Wainman Associates 
Kettleshulme Parish Council 
King Sterndale Parish Meeting 

P
age 146



Kirklees Metropolitan Council 
Kirkwells Town Planning & Sustainable Development 
Consultants 
Knights LLP 
Lambert Smith Hampton 
Levvel Ltd 
M C Beattie Property Limited 
M C Northern Limited 
Manchester Airports Group 
Manchester City Council 
Marine Management Organisation 
Middlemarch Environmental Ltd 
Miller Homes 
Mono Consultants 
MS & HM Eckert Limited 
National Farmers Union 
National Federation of Gypsy Liaison Groups 
National Grid Gas - Distribution Network 
National Trust 
Natural England 
Nestle Waters 
Network Rail 
New Mills School Business & Enterprise College 
New Mills Town Council 
NHS Derby and Derbyshire Clinical Commissioning Group 
NHS England 
NHS Property Services Ltd 
NJL Consulting 
North West Ambulance Service NHS Trust 
Nottingham Community Housing Association 

P
age 147



OFCOM 
Office of Rail and Road 
Old Glossop Residents Association 
Oldham Metropolitan Borough Council 
Omya UK Limited 
Otter Controls Ltd 
Paper Escape 
Paul Butler Associates 
Peacock + Smith 
Peacock and Smith 
Peak District Local Nature Partnership 
Peak District National Park Authority 
Peak Forest Parish Council 
Persimmon Homes Yorkshire 
Plan:8 Town Planning Ltd 
Planning and Design Group 
Planning Design Practice Ltd 
Planware Ltd 
Ramblers Association 
Rapleys LLP 
Redrow Homes 
Renewable UK 
Roger Yarwood Planning Consultant Ltd 
Royal Society for the Protection of Birds 
S L R Consulting Ltd 
save roughfields 
Savills 
Severn Trent Water 
Sheffield City Council 
South Area Tenants Consumer Panel 

P
age 148



South Derbyshire District Council 
Sport England 
St Thomas More Catholic School 
Staffordshire Moorlands District Council 
Stewart Ross Associates 
Stockport M.B.C. 
Stockport Metropolitan Borough Council 
Tameside & Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group 
Tameside MBC 
Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council 
Taylor Wimpey UK Ltd 
Tetlow King Planning 
The Church of England 
The Coal Authority 
The Gardens Trust 
The Planning Inspectorate 
The Theatres Trust 
The Woodland Trust 
Three 
Tintwistle Parish Council 
Transition Buxton 
Transport for Greater Manchester 
Turley Associates 
United Utilities 
United Utilities Water PLC 
Vision Buxton 
Visit New Mills 
Vodafone and O2 
W A Fairhurst & Partners 
W Y G Engineering Ltd 

P
age 149



Waltons 
Whaley Bridge Matters 
Whaley Bridge Residents Association 
Whaley Bridge Town Council 
Wildgoose Construction 
Wood land Trust 
Wood Plc 
Wormhill Parish Council 

 

 

P
age 150



Water in Buxton SPD: Schedule of Modifications 

The following table identifies all of the modifications made to the draft SPD as published for public consultation. 

 

Reference Paragraph / figure 
number 

Modification (deleted text has strikethrough; new text is underlined) 

1 Front Cover Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document Adopted December 2021.  
2 Page Footers Consultation Draft 
3 Para. 1.1.3  Supports effective management of water to improve overall water quality and prevent 

additional phosphates reaching the River Wye, supporting a reduction in phosphate load where 
possible. 

 
4 Para. 1.1.4 This document was adopted by the Council on 9 December 2021. It is  will be a material consideration 

when considering planning applications or planning appeals. This SPD does not introduce new 
policy but adds further detail to the policies within the Local Plan, specifically policies EQ1 and S7. 

 
5 Footnote 1 The High Peak Local Plan was adopted in April 2016. Available via: 

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016. Policy S7 applies to the Buxton-
Sub Area as defined on the Policies Map  - https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/2223/Interactive-local-plan-
map 

6 1.2.11 Phosphate is a naturally occurring nutrient and essential for plant and animal growth but it can have harmful 
effects on the ecology of rivers through a process called ‘eutrophication’ where there is an increase 
in mineral and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead to a reduction 
in dissolved oxygen and deterioration in conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for 
certain species where there is a reduction in dissolved oxygen caused by an increase in mineral 
and organic nutrients. This process changes algae formation that can lead to a deterioration in 
conditions that affect the suitability of the habitat for certain species . For the River Wye the 
species affected are White-clawed crayfish, Brook lamprey and Bullhead. 

7 1.2.13 The water produced by housing is acknowledged as a having a direct effect on the amount of phosphate in 
the River Wye once it is discharged from wastewater treatment works (WwTW). The need for water 
efficiency measures to help reduce water produced by housing is therefore important to reduce phosphate 
loading. The need for water efficiency measures to help reduce water produced by housing is therefore 
important to reduce stress on the sewerage system and enable efficient treatment to reduce phosphate 
discharged to the River Wye. 

P
age 151

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/646/The-Adopted-Local-Plan-2016


8 1.4.2 The SPD should be read in conjunction with the Local Plan as a whole. 
 

9 2.2.6  The relevant caselaw must be considered where applicants are required to undertake a project-based 
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) and impacts are identified. Of particular relevance are the 
‘Dutch cases’.  

 
10 2.3.1 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)1 sets out the Government’s aim for the planning system 

to enhance the natural and local environment by (NPPF, 2019 2021: para. 174(d)) 170:  
 

11 Footnote 8 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (201921) National Planning Policy Framework. 
Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/
NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdfhttps://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-planning-policy-
framework--2 

12 5.2.2 It is important to note that NPPF (201921: para 556) states that planning conditions should only be… 
13 5.3.2 Under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016), a permit… 
14 5.3.3 Applicants are also advised to consult the good practice guides produced by the Environment Agency if the 

development is intending to use Ground Source Heating and Cooling whilst any vertical borehole 
drilling for ground source heat pumps should follow guidance in Section 5.1. There is potential for 
adverse effects on groundwater quality that need to be considered. 

 
15 5.3.4 o European Protected Species receive full protection under law. Applicants should apply to 

Natural England and seek advice from an experienced professional ecologist to determine if 
surveys within the development site may be required. Applicants must also address other 
ecological impacts/considerations, such as impacts on other protected species, priority 
habitats or species, where relevant. 

 
16 5.4.3 The Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection requires a hydrogeological risk assessment 

to be completed for SuDS within SPZ1 to show that pollution of groundwater will not occur and that 
the SuDS will not pose an unacceptable risk to the potable groundwater source.  Discharges via 
boreholes or deep infiltration systems which result in a direct discharge to groundwater are to be 
avoided. Shallow systems should provide attenuation of any pollutants before they reach the 

 
1 Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (2021) National Planning Policy Framework. Available via: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-
planning-policy-framework--2 

P
age 152

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/810197/NPPF_Feb_2019_revised.pdf
https://www.designingbuildings.co.uk/wiki/Planning_conditions


groundwater. The Council will require evidence of the risk assessment has been undertaken when 
applying for permission for SuDs within SPZ1.  

 
17 5.5.1 As required by Local Plan policies and the NPPF, new development proposals must demonstrate that there 

is no adverse impact on water quality. The Council is concerned septic tanks could affect the 
groundwater quality in the Buxton sub-area and may impact upon the condition of the Peak District 
Dales SAC. 

 
18 5.5.3 Septic tanks should only be considered by developers if it can be clearly demonstrated by the applicant that 

discharging into a public sewer to be treated at a public sewage treatment works or a package 
sewage treatment plant is not feasible (taking into account cost and/or practicability). The 
associated shallow infiltration systems should be designed to provide appropriate attenuation of 
any pollutants before they reach groundwater. 

 
19 5.5.4 The Environment Agency’s General Binding Rules for Small Sewage Discharges prevent the use of septic 

tanks within 50 m of a SAC, within 30 m of a public foul sewer or within Groundwater SPZ1.  The 
practical effect of these restrictions is that septic tanks within the Buxton sub-area will require 
permitting under the Environmental Permitting Regulations (2016).   

 
20 5.6 

5.6       Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels 

5.6.1Section D of the Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection (2018)2 sets out a position 
statement relevant to potentially polluting activities related to fuel and hazardous substances 
storage to prevent such substances being released into groundwaters. Applicants proposing 
developments in the Buxton area incorporating above ground storage of chemicals, fuels or bulk 
liquids, or will require such storage through construction or demolition, should ensure that the 
Environment Agency’s position statement is taken into account, the risks assessed and a scheme 
is in place for construction. 

 

 
2 Environment Agency (2018) Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection. Available via: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf  

P
age 153

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/692989/Envirnment-Agency-approach-to-groundwater-protection.pdf


5.6.2In addition, any domestic, commercial and industrial development that may involve above ground fuel 
storage must ensure compliance with The Control of Pollution (Oil Storage) England Regulations 
(2001).  

 
21 6.2.1 The policy requirement for higher standards of water efficiency aims to reduce the phosphate load on the 

River Wye to meet targets established through the WFD and Habitats Directive to meet the 
protected areas objectives in the Humber River Basin Management Plan (2015);  and support the 
achievement of greater sustainability of water resources (in line with climate change elements of 
the rest of the policy). The Council therefore expects that new residential development complies 
with the policy requirement. and provide guidance to sign post developers to the factors that 
should be considered. 

 
 

22 6.2.3 A reduction in water usage does not lead to a directly equivalent reduction in phosphate load in rivers. The 
achievement of improved water efficiency would reduce the stress on the sewerage system, 
indirectly contributing to phosphate reduction in the River Wye and thereby reducing negative 
impacts on the ecological status of the Peak District Dales SAC.however the achievement of 
greater water efficiency would reduce phosphate in the River Wye and reduce negative impacts on 
its ecological status.  

 
23 6.4.9 It is expected that dDevelopers should  will explore opportunities to integrate water recycling into the design 

of new residential and non-residential development. 
 

24 6.5.3 To demonstrate compliance with Policy EQ1, Ddevelopers will be expected to clearly explain 
25 Appendix B  Appendix A Code of Practice – Excavations in the in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs 

 
 

 

P
age 154



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Economy and Growth Committee 
 

Thursday 2nd December 2021 
 

 

TITLE: 
 

Proposed programme of works to Toddbrook 
Reservoir spillway 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy 
Leader & Executive Councillor for 

Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 

Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and 
Recreation) 

 

WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 

Whaley Bridge; 

 

 
Appendices Attached  
Appendix A: Memorial Park Landscape Design 

Appendix B: Tempoary Play Area Location Plan 
Appendix C: Cross Section Of Bypass Water Channel 

Appendix D: Draft Heads Of Terms 
Appendix E: Lease Area Plan 

 
1. Reason for the Report 
 

1.1 To update members as to the progress of the proposed programme of works 
to Toddbrook Reservoir spillway and highlight the key implications affecting 
the Council for consideration.  

 
2. Recommendation 

 

2.1 That Economy and Growth Committee are requested to scrutinise the 
proposals detailed in the report and recommend to The Executive that they are 

approved, subject to: 

 

 Formal approval of the proposed scheme by the Development Control 
Committee. 

 Receiving approval from the Charity Commission and HLF for the 
proposed scheme. 

 That the appropriate Council land asset is disposed of in order to facilitate 

the dam rebuild and reduce the Council’s ongoing maintenance liability. 

 That the Canal & Rivers Trust (CRT) pick up all costs incurred by the 

Council associated with supporting delivery of the proposed scheme.  

Page 155

Agenda Item 9



  

 
 
2.2 That authority is given to the Executive Director (Place), in consultation with 

the Leader of the Council, to authorise the disposal of the required land to 
CRT and to enter into any necessary legal documents in respect of the 

disposal. 
 
3. Executive Summary 

 
3.1 Memorial Park is situated within the centre of Whaley Bridge and runs almost 

 the complete length of the town. It is a formal urban park but is surrounded by 
 open countryside, adjacent to the Peak District National Park Authority 
 boundary and the Goyt Valley. The site is exclusively owned by High Peak 

 Borough Council and is designated as a Protected Major Park. Although not 
 within the Conservation Area of Whaley Bridge, the park sits closely to this 

 designated area. 
 

3.2 In 2009 the Council was successful in securing a development grant from the 

 Heritage Lottery Parks for People fund (HLF) for the park and subsequently 
 submitted a Stage 2 application in April 2010 to secure funding for a wide 

 range of improvements to the park. The funding secured from the HLF totalled 
£615,200 and this enabled major improvements in the park which included the 
restoration of the cenotaph and memorial area, enhancement of the main 

entrances to the park, resurfacing of pathways and the installation of a new 
play area.  

 

3.3 On 1st August 2019, after a significant period of rainfall, a large section of the 
 concrete spillway supporting the Toddbrook Reservoir collapsed. The reservoir 

 and concrete splillway sits directly above the bottom of the park and the 
collapse of the spillway resulted in a major emergency planning situation with 
the majority of residents from the town of Whaley Bridge being evacuated 

whilst the emergency services worked to reduce the level of the water in the 
reservoir to avert a significant flooding disaster. 

 
3.4 After immediate essential repairs had been undertaken, discussions with the 

 CRT began around their requirements for a permanent solution to the spillway 

 in order to mitigate any further flooding and the effect that this was likely to 
have on the park. Initial investigation work undertaken by the CRT highlighted 

13 potential options but it was confirmed that only two were feasible to deliver, 
both with significant implications for the park, namely Option A and Option B. 
Both options were put out to public consultation in September 2020 by the 

CRT, with the favoured public response being Option A, which is detailed in 
this report as Appendix A.   

 
3.5 The CRT have a statutory responsibility under the Reserviors Act 1975 to 

make  provision against escapes of water from large reservoirs artificially 

created and so officers and representatives from the CRT have been working 
through the detail of Option A to understand the technical requirements of a 

new spillway, what a new engineered structure would look like, how it would 
deal with future event flooding, the impact of this new structure on the 
Memorial Park and implications for the local community’s use of the park. 

Page 156



  

 
3.6 Officer engagement with the CRT has been extensive throughout 2021 and 

has involved officers from various of the Council’s service areas including 

Service Commissioning, Assets, Legal Services and Development Control. 
This was to ensure that, as the landowner, HPBC was comfortable with the 

CRT design proposals which would have a major impact on the look and feel 
of Memorial park following construction but also during it. 
 

3.7 On 22/10/2021 the CRT submitted a planning application (HPK/2021/0607) to 
the Council which details the proposed scheme for formal consideration and, 

as part of this, there is the opportunity for residents and stakeholders to 
provide formal comments.  
 

3.8 Should planning permission be granted, officers from the Council would 
support the CRT to deliver the project successfully, whilst ensuring that any 

conditions of the planning decision are met fully, that the Council’s interests 
are protected and the implications highlighted in this report are resolved 
satisfactorily.   

 
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  

 

4.1 Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan 2019-2023 priortises protecting and improving the 
natural environment, including responding to the climate emergency and, 

within this, the objective of effective provision of quality parks and open 
spaces. 

 
5. Alternative Options 

 

5.1 Various alternative options have been explored with the CRT and 
subsequently discounted for a range of reasons. This option is now the 
preferred one, subject to satisfactory resolution to the points highlighted within 

section 2 of this report.   
 
6. Implications 

 
6.1

  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 

 
None 

 
6.2 Workforce 

 

None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed as part of the 

preparation of the report. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
Any costs associated with the Council supporting the effective 

Page 157



  

delivery of the preferred option will be reimbursed in full by the 
CRT. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 

6.5.1 In order to facilitate the rebuild of the dam, CRT require a             
controlling land interest which currently resides with the Council. 
Details of the proposed land transfer can be found in section 12 of 

this report. 
 

6.5.2  The power to dispose of this land is contained under section 
123 of the Local Government Act 1972. The power is subject to the 
Council obtaining consideration not less than the best that can 

reasonably be obtained. Once the detail of the draft Heads of terms 
are finalised, the District Valuer will be instructed to provide a 

valuation for the disposal of a 999 year leasehold interest 
 
6.5.3 The Council holds the freehold to the land which is subject 

to:- 
 

a. A charitable trust. This trust is registered with the Charity 
Commissioners and as the land intended to be disposed of will not 
be replaced, an Order giving permission to the disposal will need to 

be sought from the Charity Commission.  
 
b. A restrictive covenant. This covenant states that permission 

must be obtained from the holder of the covenant, before any 
building is erected other than a building to be used in connection 

with the use of the land as a public park or recreation ground. As 
the works are not intended to create a building but a channel which 
will be publicly accessible and be created sympathetically to the 

surroundings and continue to form part of the park, it is considered 
consent is not required. 

 
6.5.4  Prior to disposal, an Open Spaces Notice under S123 (2A) of 
the Local Government Act 1972 will need to be advertised in a 

local newspaper circulating in the area. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
The CRT proposal does request that some mature trees will 

require removal. The impact and associated mitigation is detailed 
in the planning application.  

 
6.7 
 

Consultation 
 

As detailed in section 9.6 of the report. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
As considered throughout the report. 

Page 158



  

 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 
 

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

CRT Website – Restoring Toddbrook Reservoir Robert Wilks 

Principal Officer (Leisure and Recreation) 
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Detail 
 

7.0 Whaley Bridge Memorial Park  
 

7.1 Memorial Park is situated within the centre of Whaley Bridge and runs almost 
 the complete length of the town. It is a formal urban park but is surrounded by 
 open countryside, adjacent to the Peak District National Park Authority 

 boundary and the Goyt Valley. The site is exclusively owned by High Peak 
 Borough Council and is designated as a Protected Major Park. Although not 

 within the Conservation Area of Whaley Bridge, the park sits closely to this 
 designated area. 
 

7.2 There are four public rights of way across the site: Footpaths 28, 29, 32 and 
105, with the river Goyt running along the eastern edge of the park which 

means that part of the park is also a flood plain.  There is a designated wildlife 
site along the river edge and flood plain area of the park and Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust have produced a report on the nature conservation value of the 

site. 
 

7.3  Along with the park’s nature conservation interest, it also has a number of 
facilities to attract visitors and regular users. These include: the Memorial and 
its setting; woodland and watercourses including the River Goyt; extensive 

path network; horticulture features; toddler and junior play area and basketball 
court; junior and senior football pitch with sports pavilion and changing 

facilities; concrete skatepark and adjacent pump track; and bespoke street 
furniture including notice boards, signage and litter bins. 

 

7.4 Toddbrook Reservoir sits above the park on its eastern edge and although 
 owned and manged by the Canal and River Trust, it is very much seen as part 

 of the park landscape with established linking walks from the park to the 
 reservoir and beyond. 
 

7.5 As well as a very active Friends of Memorial Park Group, Whaley Bridge 
benefits from a wealth of community organisations, many of whom see the  

park as integral to projects which enhance the town. The park is already well 
used for events by the Friends, Taxal and Fernilee Primary School, the Royal 
British Legion, Junior Park Run and Christmas Lantern Parade. Overall, 

Page 159

https://canalrivertrust.org.uk/about-us/where-we-work/north-west/restoring-toddbrook-reservoir


  

Memorial Park provides an invaluable cultural and recreational resource for 
the local community in Whaley Bridge and it is the only park in the town.  

 

7.6 Although there had been developments over the years to cater for changing 
needs it was clear that the park required significant investment to meet 

community desires and aspirations and provide good quality  recreational 
opportunities for the residents of Whaley Bridge and surrounding rural areas 
that used the park.  

 
8.0 The Heritage Lottery Parks for People Fund Restoration Project 

 

8.1 In 2009 the Council were successful in securing a development grant from the 
 Heritage Lottery Parks for People fund (HLF) for the park and subsequently 

 submitted a Stage 2 application in April 2010 to secure funding for a wide 
 range of improvements to the park.   

 
8.2 The funding secured from the HLF totalled £615,200 and enabled major 
 improvements in the park which included the restoration of the cenotaph and 

 memorial area, enhancement of the main entrances to the park, resurfacing of 
 pathways and the installation of a new play area. 

 
8.3 In November 2011 the council was awarded a grant of £84,290 from the 
 Aiming High Programme and an additional grant of £49,999 gained through  

 Whaley Bridge Association which allowed the installation of a new skatepark 
 and pump track in the park. These facilities were additional to the planned 
 HLF programme for the park. 

 
8.4 Arising from the funding provided by the HLF and the programme of works 

 undertaken in the park, a contract was entered into with the Council and the 
 HLF, the result of which makes the latter organisation a key stakeholder in 
 terms of any future changes or developments in the park. 

 
9.0 Toddbrook Dam Incident  

 
9.1 On 1st August 2019, after a significant period of rainfall, a large section of the 

concrete spillway supporting Toddbrook Reservoir collapsed. The reservoir 

and concrete splillway sits directly above the bottom of the park, specifically 
the children’s play area, as well as adjacent to the football pitches.  

 
9.2 The collapse of the spillway resulted in a major emergency planning situation 
 with the majority of residents from the town of Whaley Bridge being evacuated 

 whilst the emergency services worked to reduce the level of  the water in the 
 reservoir to avert a significant flooding disaster. 

 
9.3 Water was pumped from the reservoir into the River Goyt to reduce the levels 
 and this was eventually achieved within a few days of the collapse. Access to 

 the reservoir by the emergency services and the CRT was required through 
 the top of the park and this resulted in emergency plant and machinery being 

 situated on the junior football pitch.  
 

Page 160



  

9.4 Once the initial emergency was averted, the occupation of the junior football 
 pitch by the CRT was formalised and this has become their current works 
 compound whilst temporary repairs to the spillway have been undertaken and 

 investigation work done to determine a new permanent solution to the 
 spillway. Whilst the adult football pitch has remained in use by Whaley Bridge 

 Football Club the junior teams have had to move out of Whaley and have been 
 temporarily rehomed at nearby facilities at Furness Vale and Chinley. 
 

9.5 After immediate essential repairs had been undertaken, discussions with the 
CRT in order to mitigate any further flooding began around their requirements 

for a permanent solution to the spillway and the affect that this was likely to 
have on the park. Initial investigation work undertaken by the CRT highlighted 
13 potential options but it was then confirmed that only two were feasible to 

deliver, both with significant implications for the park – namely Option A and 
Option B. 

 
9.6  Option A proposed the creation of a new spillway channel near the sailing 

club, entering the park at the northern end of the play area and exiting into the 

River Goyt, and Option B proposed the creation of a new spillway channel 
near the existing skatepark, cutting through the woodland and centre of the 

park and exiting into the River Goyt at the bottom. Both options were put out to 
public consultation in September 2020 by the CRT with the favoured public 
response being Option A.   

 
9.7 The CRT have a statutory responsibility under the Reserviors Act 1975 to 

make provision against escapes of water from large reservoirs artificially 

created. It was clearly in the best interests of the local community of Whaley 
Bridge for the Council to work with the CRT to find the most suitable solution 

to ensure the future safety of Toddbrook Reservoir, particularly if that impacted 
significantly on Council owned land. 

 

9.8 A Strategic Group was established in early 2021 with Council officers from 
various service areas and representatives from the CRT to work through the 

detail of Option A. This was to understand the technical requirements of a new 
spillway, what a new engineered structure would look like, how it would deal 
with future event flooding, the impact of this new structure on the Memorial 

Park and implications for the local community’s use of the park.  
 

10.0 Canal & River Trust Proposals 

 
10.1 Following several Strategic Group meetings and site visits to the Memorial 

Park a preferred design and layout for the new spillway channel has now been 
informally agreed. This design, which is currently under consideration by the 

Council’s development control team (HPK/2021/0607) incorporates both the 
CRT’s engineering and safety requirements and those of the Council in terms 
of providing a safe, high quality play area for the local community whilst 

protecting the landscape and heritage value of the park. 
 

10.2 The proposed design which shows the new spillway channel and its impact on 
the Memorial Park can be seen in Appendix A. The design proposes that a 
new concrete spillway will start from the north east corner of the reservoir 

Page 161



  

passing through the current sailing club car park. Before it enters the park, a 
large stilling basin with two concrete turrets will be installed and it is here 
where the new, narrower, open water channel enters the park, running along 

the southern edge of the play area until it discharges into a short section of 
existing bywash channel and then into the River Goyt. 

 
10.3 The new water channel will be an open, shallow water feature which will be 

publicly accessible with a limited amount of constant water flow. The proposed 

terraced landforms which can be seen in Appendix C will also be accessible 
for use as informal seating areas and the CRT are proposing an area of 

‘stepping stones’ across the channel as an added feature as well as a 
footbridge over it. 

 

10.4 The existing large concrete auxillary spillway will be decommissioned and the 
 area grassed over, as can be seen at other nearby reservoirs, including 

 Fernilee. Although remaining in the ownership and management of the CRT, 
 this grassy bank will be publically accessible and will provide links into the 
 park over the new proposed footbridge and vice versa.  

 
10.5 In terms of the existing play area, this will need to be reconfigured to make 

allowance for the new water channel. During the construction phase, all items 
from the existing play area will be removed and, due to playground safety 
standards, cannot be re-installed once work is complete. All items will be 

replaced in the new design and Appendix A provides the layout for the new 
play area once work has been completed, with the older children’s equipment 
being located to the north of the site and toddler equipment to the south. The 

replacement play equipment will be exactly the same as the original items 
except for the zip wire which cannot be accommodated in terms of safety 

space within the new configuration. Two additional new items of equipment 
have been proposed and will be integrated into the banked area. Alternative 
options for the basketball post are being considered. 

 
10.6  During the construction phase it has been agreed to install a new temporary 

play area at the top of the park. This will be located in a corner of the existing 
junior football pitch which is no longer occupied by the CRT, and will be 
adjacent to the 3G multi use games area benefitting from the existing access 

paths – see Appendix B for proposed new location of temporary play area. 
 

10.8  This new play area will be in situ for as long as the CRT works are taking 
place. Once these works are completed, and the existing play area is open for 
use again, this equipment will be decommissioned and the junior football pitch 

can be re-instated. The play area is being funded by the CRT and is being 
supplied and installed by Wicksteed play company so it will conform to all 

playground safety standards. Once the installation is complete, the site will be 
inspected and maintained by AES.  

 
11.0 Implications for the Park  

 

 Length of Construction  
 

Page 162



  

11.1 It is anticipated that the works to install the new the proposed spillway with 
 associated stilling basin and water channel will take three years. During this 
 time, a large section of the park, including the existing play area, will not be 

 available for public use. It will also mean that access to and from the park at 
 Reservior Road will be prohibited. This will affect access for those residents 

 living at north end of Whaley Bridge as well as safe school routes to Taxal and 
 Fernilee Primary School. The nearest access into the park for these residents 
 will be Wheatsheaf Road. 

 
  

 Play Area Reconstruction 
 
11.2 As stated at section 10.5 and 10.6, the existing play equipment will need to be 

 removed in its entirety. A new temporary play area will be installed at the top 
 of the park next to the existing multi-use games court for the duration of the 

 works, but will be decommsioned when the existing play area is re-instated 
 and to allow works to commence to re-instate the junior football pitch. 
 

11.3 Appendix A includes the proposed layout for the reconstruction of the play 
area which has been developed with the careful thought and oversight of 

officers, supporting the CRT design process. Although the layout is slightly 
altered to accommodate the new spillway, new identical items of play 
equipment will be installed as well as a couple of additional items. At present, 

the cableway cannot be accommodated alongside the basketball area but 
discussions with the CRT will continue to see where these items could be 
accommodated. 

 
11.4 In addition to the play equipment will be the creation of a new water feature 

 which will be integral to the play space and can be accessed directly by the 
 public as well as over it on the new proposed footbridge.  Public perception will 
 need to be managed in terms of concerns about open water in a public open 

 space where children are encouraged to play. The new channel will be very 
 shallow. See Appendix C with cross sestions showing the channel depth. 

 
 Trees 
 

11.5  There will be loss of some trees in the direct works area, of particular note are 
 the two large sycamore trees in the play area, in the line of the proposed 

 splillway. The CRT is working closely with the Council’s Tree Officer to look at 
 replanting and other ecological enhancements with the intention of providing a 
 10% net gain in biodiversity. Whilst we are committed to providing this gain, 

 the intention in the play area itself is to keep this as open as possible with 
 good sight lines and visibility as was set out in the original HLF design and 

 layout. Therefore, the wider park area is being considered for additional 
 planting and ecological enhancement. 
 

 HLF Implications 
 

11.6 Once design Option A was agreed as the preferred option for the spillway and 
it was clear this was going to impact on the park, discussions began with the 
HLF to inform them about the location and siting of the new spillway. Initial 

Page 163



  

concerns were raised by the HLF with regard to whether there would be a 
requirement for the Council to pay back some of the grant monies received for 
the park refurbishment project.  

 
11.7 In between meetings with the CRT to agree the design and layout for the 

spillway in the park, the HLF were kept fully informed of the proposals by 
officers and this involved ensuring that comments and concerns provided by 
the HLF were fed back to the CRT and were incorporated into the proposed 

design. The main requirement of the HLF is to ensure that this area of the park 
remains as to close to the original design and layout as agreed as part of the 

restoration project, once the work is completed, and this is reflected in the final 
design. 

 

11.8 On the 27th August, the Council wrote formally to the HLF to update on the 
current position and provide the final agreed design and layout for the park. A 

response was received on 9th September to state that the revised final design 
was an improvement and that they would be in touch if they had any further 
queries. To date there have been no further queries and therefore on this 

basis, whilst not confirmed in writing, it is considered unlikely that any grant 
monies will have to be paid back.  Officers will continue to provide updates on 

the works to the HLF when the project progresses. 
 
 Re-instatement of junior football pitch 

 
11.9 The junior football pitch has been used as a works compound for the CRT 

since the collapse of the dam making the pitch completely unusable for junior 

football. A reduction in the size of the compound over the last few months has 
now enabled some of the open space to be utilised by the public for informal 

recreation and as part of the Junior Parkrun weekly event. The plan is also to 
use a section of this space to site the new temporary play area as previously 
stated. 

 
11.10 From the outset, the CRT have made a commitment to re-instate the junior 

pitch ensuring it is fit for purpose as a grass playing pitch. There will have 
been a significant impact on the ground and so an enhanced re-build of the 
pitch is therefore required and this work will be completed once the spillway 

works have been completed and when the CRT formally exit the park. 
 

11.11 When work to re-instate the junior pitch is starting to be considered, the 
 intention of the Council will be to engage with the CRT, Whaley Bridge AFC 
 and other partners to consider where there may opportunities to enhance or 

 add value to these existing playing facilities with the support of the Football 
 Foundation, Derbyshire Football Association and Sport England.  

 
12.0 Asset Management Implications 

 

12.1 The Council owns Memorial Park under two Titles; the north area under 
DY290861 and the remainder of the Park under DY392003. Title DY290861 is 

held by the Council on a long lease (999 years from 29 September 1923) as a 
charity trustee.  Both Titles form part of Asset 82 on the Asset Register. 

 

Page 164



  

12.2 The Council currently holds the maintenance liability for the existing channel.    
The construction of the new channel will require the CRT to acquire an interest  
in Council owned land that is registered under Title DY290861. The acquisition 

will allow the CRT to hold the maintenance liability for the new channel. 
 

12.3 Heads of Terms (HoTs) for the transfer of the land are being negotiated and 
the latest version of the draft Heads of Terms are attached as Appendix D. Still 
to be confirmed is the capital value for the land interest. This will be evidenced 

by a valuation undertaken by the District Valuer, which will be commissioned 
once all the detail is agreed.   

 
12.4 The construction of the new channel will require a temporary construction 

compound for the duration of the works which will be recognised by a separate 

licence arrangement.  Separate licence agreements will also be required for 
access to the land for the construction of the spillway, and to also include the 

agreed reinstatement of these sites. An acceptable fee for the temporary use 
of the Council’s land will be agreed with CRT. 

 

12.5 Once the HoTs have been agreed they will form the basis of the lease 
agreement along with the various licences to form an Agreement for Lease to 

include the preconditions of the works. The detail of these conditions will be 
confirmed.  

 

12.6 Officers propose that the remaining term of the 999 year lease that is held by 
the Council on the strip of land that the CRT want to build the new channel on 
is transferred to the CRT. A plan of the proposed area for lease can be found 

in Appendix E 
 

12.7 Access rights over the land that is to be transferred will be kept by the Council  
 and the permitted use of the land is to be “Spillway” only. 
 

12.8 As the transfer of the land via a long lease is effectively a disposal, a valuation 
of the land will be required. The District Valuer (DV) will be requested  to 

evidence that best consideration has been achieved in this case to satisfy the 
provisions of the Local Government Act. It has been agreed that CRT be 
responsible for all costs relating to this.  It is not anticipated that the capital 

sums agreed will be significant in their value.  
 

 
  
 

 
 

Page 165



This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 167



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 169



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P\R

STONE WALL

P\
R

ST
O

N
E 

W
AL

L

I\R

STONE W
ALL

STONE W
ALL

Cw I\R

P\R

P\R

P\
R

TAR
M

AC

RIVER GOYT

I\R

STONE W
ALL

Bw

G3.8

G0.8

G0.8

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

G1.1

G0.9

MG

STUMP

MG

G1.6

MG

G1.6

G2.8
G1.0

G1.0

G1.6

G1.2

G1.2
G1.5

G1.6

G1.3

MG

G2.4

G0.6

MG

G1.0

G0.8

G0.8

G0.8 G0.8

MG

G1.0
G1.6

G1.0

G1.7
G0.8

MG

MG

MG
MG

MG

G0.8

MG

MG

MG

G0.7

G1.0

G0.6
G1.6

STUMPSTUMP

MG

MG

MG

MG

(8.10.20)

MGMG

MG

G0.8

(8.10.20)

CB

MH

MG

0.350Ø

0.350Ø

(27.11.20)

(27.11.20)

MA11

2.5 Metres21.51

Scale 1:50

0 0.5

A1 A

9

B C D E F G H I J K L M N O P

Job No

Drawing Status

Discipline

Scale at A1

Drawing No Issue

Drawing Title

Issue Date By Chkd Appd

Job TitleClient

10

8

7

6

5

4

2

1

3

Do not scale © Arup

P1277087-00

1:50 S3 - Suitable For Review & Comment

Landscape Architecture

Landscape Concept Design
Whaley Bridge Memorial Park 
Illustrative Sections (1 of 2)

Toddbrook ReservoirCanal & River Trust

13 Fitzroy Street
London W1T 4BQ
Tel +44 (0)20 7636 1531 Fax +44 (0)20 7580 3924
www.arup.comP01 01/04/2021 SS AM MJ

First Issue

P11742-ARP-YL-001
-001-DR-AL-2103

K

K

21
03

L

L

21
03

M

M

21
03

Illustrative Section  K - K
Scale 1:50 @ A1

Illustrative Section  L-L
Scale 1:50 @ A1

Illustrative Section  M-M
Scale 1:50 @ A1

TURRETS AT EXIT TO STILLING BASIN 
TO ENGINEERS DESIGN

GRASS TERRACES FOR INFORMAL SEATING AND 
ACCESS TO WATER CHANNEL

GRASS TERRACES WITH GABION WALLS FOR 
INFORMAL SEATING

LINEAR STEPPING STONES FOR ACCESS ACROSS 
WATER CHANNEL AND PLAY

SCATTERED STEPPING STONES AS A PLAYFUL 
FEATURE WITHIN THE CHANNEL

Notes
This drawing is to be read in conjunction with all relevant
drawings and specifications, including but not limited to:
- Landscape General Arrangement Plan (P11742-ARP-YL-001-001-DR-AL-0112)
- Typical Soft Landscape Details (P11742-ARP-YL-001-001-DR-AL-2101)
- Typical Hard Landscape Details (P11742-ARP-YL-001-001-DR-AL-2102)

Further hard surfacing may be required. TBC upon completion of hydraulic analysis and modelling

P
age 171



T
his page is intentionally left blank



           1 of 3 

Heads of Terms 
 

SUBJECT TO CONTRACT 

WITHOUT PREJUDICE 

 
DATE:  4 November 2021 

 

1. Preamble: 

 

The Canal & River Trust acting as Trustee of the Waterways Infrastructure 

Trust own Toddbrook Reservoir and marginal lands. As part of the ongoing 

Reservoir works project, the Canal & River Trust (the Trust) wish to de-

commission the auxiliary spillway and replace the existing channel with a 

new 1/100 year outer channel following a new profile line to connect the 

stilling basin to the River Goyt. As the channel now stands High Peak 

Borough Council (HPBC) hold the maintenance liability for the channel 

downstream of the stilling basin. The construction of the new outer channel 

will require the Trust to acquire an interest in the land shown shaded dark 

green (held [under an unregistered  long lease by HPBC as a charity trustee]   

(the freehold being registered at Land Registry under Title number 

DY290861 and also held by HPBC). The existing and new channel are within 

Whaley Bridge Public Park. The acquisition will allow the Trust to hold the 

maintenance liability for the new outer channel. The construction of the 

Channel will require a temporary Construction Compound for the duration of 

the Works. The Construction Compound will require the Play Area to be 

temporarily relocated within the vicinity of the existing Area. The temporary 

Construction Compound to be recognised by separate licence arrangement. 

 

 

2. Property: 

 

Part of Land within Whaley Bridge Public Park lying to the South East of 

Reservoir Road, Whaley Bridge. Shown shaded dark green on the Plan. 

3. Term: Term remaining under the 1923 Indenture less 3 days. 

4.  Rent: A peppercorn (if demanded) 

5. Landlord: High Peak Borough Council [(in its capacity as Charity Trustee)] 

Buxton Town Hall  

Buxton Town Hall 

Market Place 

Buxton 

SK17 6EL 

 

For the attention of Nichola Mycock 

Land and Commercial Officer 

 

Email – Nichola.Mycock@highpeak.gov.uk 

Tel – 07583 072494 

 

Page 173



           2 of 3 

6. Tenant: Canal & River Trust 

National Waterways Museum Ellesmere Port 

South Pier Road 

Ellesmere Port 

Cheshire 

CH65 4FW 

 

For the attention of Matthew Hart 

Estate Surveyor 

 

Email – matthew.hart@canalrivertrust.org.uk 

Tel – 07920 782881 

7. Rights granted: 

 

All necessary rights to construct the new channel and associated rights of 

access and egress with or without vehicles, equipment, and machinery over 

the Transferor’s Retained Property. 

The right for the Transferee to access and egress with or without vehicles, 

equipment, and machinery over the Transferors Retained Property (such 

rights to extent to permission to use the Access Route over which rights are 

granted for the benefit of the Trustees in the 1923 Indenture) to the 

Transferred Property for the purpose of inspecting, maintaining, repairing or 

renewing the Channel, subject to the Transferee making good any damage 

caused to the Transferors Property. 

The Transferor to mow the grass and upkeep the land to the north of the 

Channel in line with their regular park maintenance regime. 

The Right to use a temporary Construction Compound to facilitate the 

construction of the channel for the duration of the construction period. The 

Compound to be within the Transferors Retained Land - Title DY290861. 

 

8. Tenant Covenants: The Tenant to be responsible for obtaining any required consents to the 

construction of the channel. 

The Tenant to seek the Landlord’s approval to the design of the channel 

[(such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed)] 

The Tenant to maintain and repair the channel once constructed.  

The Tenant to comply with the terms of the HLF Grant Agreement to the 

extent the same is applicable to the Demise 

All current and future compliance responsibilities and legal obligations e.g., 

Planning, Building Regulations, CDM Regulations, compliance, and H&S 

etc. 

Not to assign, sublet and no alterations, only with the Landlord reasonable 

consent. 

9. Construction 

Period: 

The Transferee will comply with any Health & Safety or regulatory 

requirements.  

Project timescales required. 

 

10. Costs: The Transferee to pay the Transferor reasonable Legal Costs in drafting 

the legal documentation. Landlord reasonable Surveyor costs to include 

reasonable District Valuer costs. 

11. Registration: The Tenant shall register and pay all costs of registering the lease at Land 

Registry. 

12. Demise: Shown shaded dark Green 

Page 174



           3 of 3 

13. Other terms: Lease grant to be subject to:  

• Charity Commission Consent  

• Agreement for Lease 

• Board/Council approvals 

• Superior Landlord’s consent (if applicable (Superior landlord is 

HPBC) 

• HLF approval/any required variations to the Grant Agreement 

currently in place in respect of the Memorial Park] 

• District Valuers Valuation 

• Agreed Consideration 

• Planning Consent 

 

 

14. Transferor 

Solicitor: 

 

  
  
 

To be confirmed 

 

 

15. Transferee 

Solicitor: 

To be confirmed 

 

 

16. Approvals  This matter is Subject to Contract and Council and Trusts Approval. 

 

 

Page 175



This page is intentionally left blank



IDENTIFICATION OF ISSUES DURING SITE INSPECTION BY BRIAN MAGUIRE,DVS & NICHOLA MYCOCK, 
HIGH PEAK COUNCIL 

19th October 2021 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

 

I refer you to the red stars above accompanied by a letter for identification purposes. The list below 

is not exhaustive and is a result of a non- intrusive inspection of the Park. The Council should 

consider appointing a appropriately qualified professional to advise on the issues identified below 

and commission them to critically analyse the Canal and River Trusts proposed works : 

A) There appears to be a connection between existing slipway and Brookfield pond. Plan states: 

 

The council should see and approve a solution to the decommissioning of channel and sluice 

prior to working starting. 

 

B) I refer you to a water course annotated with a blue line and reference B. It appears at least 

one property (Torside) discharging surface water into the water course which appears to 

connect to the reservoir. The council should ensure the Canal and Rivers Trust have 

completed a full services survey in the park and the council should seek a solution and 

approve corrective action to third parties connecting to water courses. 

Page 177



IDENTIFICATION OF ISSUES DURING SITE INSPECTION BY BRIAN MAGUIRE,DVS & NICHOLA MYCOCK, 
HIGH PEAK COUNCIL 

19th October 2021 

 

OFFICIAL 

C) Similarly, the blue and red line annotates a water logged section of the park which may be a 

consequence of a faulty culvert connecting the reservoir and River Goyt. The canal and river  

 

trust should indemnify the council against future defects. The council should consider a 

performance bond held in an Escro account to ensure all work are completed to the councils 

satisfaction regarding drainage and replacing park furniture. 

 

D) There appears to be a sluice or discharge point which is not referenced in the Canal and 

Rivers Trust proposed works. More details, solution, approval required. 

 

E) Adjacent  to the high level public footpath we identified at lease one land drain discharging 

into the existing slipway. The Canal and Rivers Trust should carry out a full site survey of the 

Park to identify third part drains and alike and indemnify the Council regarding solutions, 

accommodating works and redirections. 

Page 178



ECONOMY AND GROWTH  

Chairman: Councillor Siddall 
Vice Chairman: Councillor Grooby 

Lead Officer: Neil Rodgers 

Date Items Contact Officer 
Purpose/Method of 

Consideration 

2-Dec-21 Consultation on the Buxton Water Planning Guidance 
Document 

M James  

Covid Economic Recovery (inc update on shop unit vacancies) S Porru  

Buxton Opera House – Update  Paul Kerryson  

The Crescent – Update  Jonathan Dawson  

Repairs to Toddbrook Reservoir Spillway  R Wilks  

Work Programme   

   

3-Feb-22 Developer Contributions SPD  M James / R Wooddisse  

Work Programme   

   

24-Mar-22 Work Programme   

   

To add in:    

Report from Transport Working Group   

Visit Peak District   

Old Nestle Buxton Site   

Industrial Units – capacity, vacancy rates, brownfield sites   

Buxton Neighbourhood Plan M James / R Wooddisse  

Whaley Bridge Neighbourhood Plan M James / P Home  

Bowden Lane / A6 Land disposal to PCC K Webster /M Hooson  

Granby Road Disposal S Porru  

Review of the Growth Strategy L Wetton  

P
age 179

A
genda Item

 10



ECONOMY AND GROWTH  

Land disposal – Waterswallows  K Webster  

A57 Link Road project Local Impact Report M James  

Miry Meadow Right of Way Disposal   K Webster/N Ravenscroft  

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

P
age 180



Document is Restricted

Page 181

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	4 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	7 Covid Economic Recovery (inc update on shop unit vacancies)
	Appendix 1 Business Economic Profile of High Peak 2022
	Appendix 2 Derbyshire Hospitality Charter
	Appendix 3 - High Peak Tourism Summary - Marketing

	8 Water in Buxton Supplementary Planning Document
	Appendix A 1 for Water in Buxton SPD
	1. Introduction
	1.1 Overview
	1.2 Background
	The need to protect mineral water sources in Buxton
	The type of sources, location of sources and how the water arrives at those locations
	The need to manage phosphate levels in the River Wye and the impact of new homes in Buxton

	1.3 Why this guidance is needed
	1.4 How to use this Supplementary Planning Document
	1.5 How this Supplementary Planning Document is structured

	2. Legislation, planning policy and guidance
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 European and National Legislative Context
	The Water Framework Directive
	Groundwater Protection in Europe
	The Habitats Directive
	Flood and Water Management Act 2010
	Natural mineral water, spring water and bottled drinking water (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2018

	2.3 National Planning Policy Context
	National Planning Policy Framework
	National Planning Practice Guidance

	2.4 Local Planning Policy Context
	Policy S7: Buxton Sub-area Strategy
	Policy EQ1: Climate Change


	3. Water Protection Areas
	3.1 Types of water
	Natural Mineral Water
	Water Framework Directive (WFD) water bodies

	3.2 Source Protection Zones (SPZ)
	Figure 3.1 Buxton’ s Source Protection Zone

	3.3 Areas of Sensitivity
	Figure 3.2 Core Protection Area and Extended Protection Area

	3.4 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area
	Figure 3.3 Buxton Mineral Water Catchment Area

	3.5 Nitrate Vulnerable Zones

	4. Pre-Application Advice
	4.1 Roles and responsibilities
	Additional advice


	5. Protection of mineral water sources in Buxton
	5.1 Types of development:
	Drilling boreholes and digging shallow excavations
	Legal Requirements to protect groundwater quality
	Boreholes
	Shallow excavations

	Excavation of basement extensions or developments including subterranean basements
	Planning Permission


	5.2 When additional conditions to prevent pollution of water sources may be required over and above permitting requirements
	5.3 Other regulatory consents that may be required when planning consent may not be needed
	5.4 Requirements for Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS)
	5.5 Septic tanks
	5.6 Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels

	6. Water efficiency in Buxton
	6.1 Introduction
	6.2 Water efficiency in residential development
	6.3 How new homes in Buxton can achieve a water efficiency of 110 litres per person per day
	6.4 Measures to recycle and minimise water consumption
	Water-sensitive design in new homes
	Rainwater Harvesting
	Water Recycling

	6.5 How the water efficiency standard for residential development will be applied by the Council in Buxton
	Viability
	Application of the water efficiency standards

	6.6 How high standards of water efficiency and measures to recycle and minimise water consumption in non-residential development will be sought by the Council
	BREEAM standards and water efficiency for non-residential developments


	Appendix A Code of Practice - Drilling of Boreholes in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs
	Appendix B Code of Practice – Excavations in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs
	Appendix C  Template planning conditions related to water issues
	Appendix D  Location of the Peak District Dales Special Area of Conservation

	Appendix A 2 for Water in Buxton SPD
	1. General
	1.1 Scope
	1.2 Background
	1.3 Who the code is aimed at?
	1.4 How were the protection areas defined?
	1.5 Further Information

	2. Fundamental Requirements
	2.1 General
	2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater
	2.3 Desk Study and Risk Assessment

	3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement
	3.1 Supervision
	3.2 Materials
	3.3 Inspection Pits
	3.4 Drilling Methodology
	Drilling Method
	Groundwater Temperature and Flowing Artesian Conditions
	Drilling Equipment
	Drilling Fluid
	Borehole Casing and Backfill material
	Cleaning Equipment
	Waste Collection and Disposal
	Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling



	Appendix A 3 for Water in Buxton SPD
	1. General
	1.1 Scope
	1.2 Background
	1.3 Who the code is aimed at?
	1.4 How were the protection areas defined?
	1.5 Further Information

	2. Fundamental Requirements
	2.1 General
	2.2 Legal Requirements to Protect Groundwater Quality
	2.3 Desk Study, Risk Assessment and Method Statement

	3. Technical Requirements for inclusion in the Method Statement
	3.1 Supervision
	3.2 Materials
	3.3 Probe Holes
	3.4 Excavation Methodology
	Method
	On-site Plant
	Waste Collection and Disposal
	Fuel Storage and Plant Refuelling



	Appendix A 4 for Water in Buxton SPD
	Appendix A 5 for Water in Buxton SPD
	Appendix A 6 for Water in Buxton SPD
	5.6       Above ground storage of chemicals and fuels
	Appendix A Code of Practice – Excavations in the in the Vicinity of Buxton Thermal Springs


	9 Repairs to Toddbrook Reservoir Spillway
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Sheets and Views
	Model


	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E

	10 Select Committee Work Programme
	13 Exempt Minutes of the previous meeting



